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Financial Highlights
BBHE

TABLE OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBRER
Change in
2016 2015 percentage
—E—XRF —ET—hF ERalid L)
HKD’000 HKD'000
BETT BT
Sales ] 3,928,217 4,326,486 -9.2%
Gross profit EAH) 2,705,176 3,025,317 -10.6%
Gross profit margin FE = 68.9% 69.9%
Operating profit EiB AR 1,748,103 2,320,145 -24.7%
EBIT margin EBIT= 44.5% 53.6%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HERTEHERY
IEHE L= 6.4% 4.7%
Administration expenses to sales TR (RS & 22.9% 17.7%
Profit before income tax [k 5 Al 2 ) 1,832,915 2,386,247 -23.2%
Profit attributable to the equity holders of RAREZFEA
the Company FE{E AR 1,450,250 1,986,584 -27.3%
Earnings per share (HK cents) FRRAEF BL)
- Basic — B 46.69 64.02 -27.4%
- Diluted — g 46.66 63.93 -27.3%
Net cash generated from operating activities 2@ EBIES IR IF5E 1,472,229 2,141,895 -31.0%
Net cash* FEIH e 3,503,706 2,875,813 +21.7%
Total equity S 10,530,418 9,403,842 +12.0%
Dividends paid per share for the year 2EFRERE (B
(HK cents) - 9.52
Special dividends per share for the year 2 FFRFRRE (BI)
(HK cents) - 22.2
Dividend payout ratio for the year EFERBEDIRE - 50%
Debt ratio* B & 0.2% 8.2%
Current ratio (times) mENLLE () 6.6 4.1
Liquidity ratio (times) BB E (%) 5.7 3.6
Inventory turnover (days) FERAEE (H) 243 232
Trade receivables turnover (days) JEWERAE R (H) 89 79
Trade payables turnover (days) FEBRRAE R (RB) 113 116

*  [FHEz | ER[ZRHRTFEL 05 E
B [ He RE2 S EY B [ B -
[BEHE]|ERBEK (EBZTERI
MEBEF) A [ (T 5 EE
#@)/e

* “Net cash” means “restricted bank balances” plus “Short-term time
deposits” plus “Cash and cash equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non- #
current borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling
interests)”.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEEN - EEXERE2FASRL

Company profile

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Group”), with flavours
segment, fragrances segment, aroma raw materials segment, RTL
segment, new materials segment and investment & finance segment
(in progress), is mainly engaged in the R&D, production and sales
of flavours and fragrances, aroma raw materials, RTL, and tobacco
new materials, and also makes diversified investments around core
business. It is an investment holding group based on the fast-moving
consumer goods market of China.

SN
ZEFERIZERAERAR ([AEE]) TRRABTRR
¥ BRERBRE - BRARE - EEFH RS
M RIRARAZTNRESRIRA  TBEEE
BER BRE - BEBR - EERMEAOHE -
EEMEE  YESRLEFRBETZIT(LRE
E-EERNTFEREEERMSHOREEREE -
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEEN - EEEREFAER

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours and fragrances
industry. The Group has been the leading producer in terms of sales
revenue among competitors, maintaining a significant position within
the flavours and fragrances industry in China. The Group possesses
an integrated core value chain, established upstream aroma
raw material bases in Guangdong, Jiangsu, and Hunan, flavour
production bases in Shanghai, Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi,
Fujian, and Hong Kong, etc., overseas R&D centres in Holzminden
of Germany, State-recognised R&D centre in Shanghai and R&D
departments in Guangdong, Yunnan, Jiangsu and Fujian provinces.
The Group takes on leadership roles in a number of flavours and
fragrances industry associations in China, including Deputy Director
of China Food Additives & Ingredients Association and Chairman of
Shanghai Food Additive and Batching Industry Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s RTL industry,
where its production capacity and sales account for significant
market shares and its production workmanship and product quality
have reached leading domestic and advanced international levels.
Guangdong lJinye, a subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D
bases authorised by the STMA. In November 2012, the second
phase of Guangdong Jinye RTL production line was completed
and commenced production, which became the first one that was
certified by the STMA and achieved landmark-status in paper-making
RTL production. Its production workmanship has been recognised
by the STMA to have reached the highest technology level within
domestic paper-making RTL production, while its major technical
indicators also have reached advanced international levels. In 2015,
the Group’s “Paper-making RTL production technology upgrade
project” was certified by the STMA at international advanced level.
The award marked the significant technological achievements of the
Group in the field of paper-making RTL production technology, and
realized a great leap forward to the international advanced level.

AEEASTHEEREMTENRESE  HEEEE
RTE—ERIINY  ETEEBEHNTSEEE
Eihfy o AEEREBFRL —RBIENEEE  EPE
ER - TE  HEEMEA LBEERMPL  EL
BER I# ZEm@m 1A BREREBESH
REBRLEEEN  GEEEERRASRAMAESD
D YR EBEE-—MBEREEERMPL &
BER - M IRREBERKEMERMA - AEEE
TEEBRERTERERBETZ ERERL - BES
BREMIBETEGBEEIEERM EETRAAM
BAEMTEBEERSE -

AEEORTEEETHTENEEEZ — HAE
ERNIMBEEERAEETAREEEMSMNE - M
BEAETENEREENEINBHANBELMEARE
HERF - AEENTBARERSERRERESR
BRMEEM Y, — —F——F+—f AKET
BRAAERSE_HEESREERRTRE X
BRRERRWK  KABRNEGESRENERE
BEERESMEESR REETE2EREZERFE
RBEEEREEEFH RIMKHKT - TE2RIME
BB ERREBEKT - _E—1F BERSE
AR EREBEEEEEGRIMARIER | A
RESKTRBEERAMNERRK  BEERE
REFEEMREZFHERERLIRME T ERNEKIME
B BT MBREEKTOER -
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

The Group also maintained its leading position in the fields of
new cigarette materials and new workmanships. Three platforms,
namely the cigarette smoke transmission technological platform, the
dry-pressed RTL technological platform and the innovative tobacco
stem technological platform, have been established along with trial
production bases, where innovative products are being progressively
received by customers. In particular, the Group’s dry-pressed RTL
technology passed the project identification of the STMA in June
2015 and was identified as the first dry-pressed RTL pilot scale
production line and whole set equipment locally and abroad
developed with its own intellectual property rights, filling the gap
in the industry. Overall, such R&D achievements have attained the
advanced international level.

Meanwhile, the Group started to develop the business of innovative
tobacco products, and particularly the e-cigarette business. Currently,
the Group has not only established its own e-cigarette brand
"SPV"”, but also acquired 51% issued shares of VMR, an American
independent e-cigarette manufacturer. VMR is a professional
integrated enterprise independently engaged in research, production
and sales of e-cigarettes. It has its own vertically integrated business
model, and its products are sold to more than 30 countries. It is one
of the leading members of the e-cigarette online retailers.

The Group will continue focus on customers, take advantage
of its own technology, driven by innovation, grasp the strategy
opportunities of consumption upgrades in China and fully promote
the upgrade of investment holding group strategy.

SEEHN - EEERE2FAERL

AEBEEBEFVHMHTIEEAETAEREE
¥ BRIEKZBEEREERN EEEFH
iR ERRERMN=(EFE  LEKAEFR
BRUMEERSN  HANEERLEZSRELK
RoH AKEEZHEREFRRMR -_T -0
FRABBTHERMNBERET - WRAERBEAIN
BRAFATNRERNEAEE TR PR EER
RRESRE BERMTITEZER  PRAREELED
BIFRRSTKF -

R AEBEHWEEFENLEERR  FHRE
FTHREEEMTHEMARMBBER - BAT - AEEK
BIZTEEEFEMESPY (PXER : I35) - #
SHNEWRE T XRBLE FELEMVMRA51%
Pt - VMR — KB EEFEME - £EMIH
ENRR BEBCHEEERTA  REMBEAE
EH0ZERR REXEE-—HENETERAKT
ElBz— -

AEBERIGEIVEEER/RZL  BEBFORINE
2 UEIFRER S - BB BH B KT R A B
BiE - 2 HEDREEREENBEER
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
SEREN  EEEREFAER

Corporate Culture
BEXL

N O
Vision fiS Spirit 5

Leader to a better life Innovative, pragmatic, loyal and cooperative
KRS EE BIFT - BE - B HiE
T /

Core Value &/ 0MEEE

Client first, value creation and shared achievements

XEEL - EBEAE  XZHR

p
A

Strategy B

e Establish an innovative organization and incentive mechanisms, and finish the strategy upgrade of the
investment holding group.

e Enhance the flavours technology to expand into the food and beverage flavours and fragrances business by
leveraging thereon and then replicate such success in other businesses such as additives and food ingredients,
forming the future mega flavours and fragrances segment

e Accelerate the layout of aroma raw materials segment, and establish a leading production base of aroma raw
materials in Asia and in the world

e Build up innovative incubation platform, driven by technology, grasp the trend of consumer upgrade and
become the “leader to a better life”

o EVAIFTEMESEESY - SERIREEREE BB

o ANBRERBEM NUAERBERRMTBED  EMRBANEERAEMEITEES - MRARKHA
EiEtRA

o MEFRMRENTE  ITEDMRERBLNETRHEM

o BYRIFLTE  URMARES EEHEARBE KA [EXHFLEENERE ]
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Key Events for the Year
2FERER

* 4

2015
APRIL 4 A

In April 2015, the Group’s subsidiaries, Huabao
Kongque, Guangzhou Huabao, Guangdong
Zhaoqging and Qingda Wuchan, all showed up in
the “The 19th China International Food Additives
and Ingredients” exhibition.

“T-NEMA - FEREETERLE - BME
H EREENMBAVESMSTALETFEERR
mANMENEHEES -

2015
MAY 5H

In May 2015, Yunnan Tianhong was accredited as
“Yunnan Innovative Enterprise”.

—T-RFOA - ERRERAR [ EREAEAIHL
-

<

. ooooooooooooooooooocooooooooooooooooootooooonooooooooooooooooooooooc.oo

SEEN

EENER2FAER

2015
JUNE 6 A

B MRS

In June 2015, the premiere of microfilm “Stand
Point” and the new product press conference
were successfully launched in Shanghai.

In June 2015, the Group entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with a well-known
global software and service supplier and officially
initiated the CRM project.

In June 2015, three science projects, including the
Dry-pressed RTL production line, Comprehensive
utilization improvement of raw materials and
Paper-making method RTL pulping technology,
passed the assessment of experts from the STMA,
with relevant R&D achievements attaining the
advanced international level.

SE-REAA (5 MEYERERFRE
R1E LRI -

—T-RENA  RERMANRLRB RS
SRR A (% - EXURBICRMER -
—T-REAA  RESEEBHLABEELS

ALESR RERHSAMNBEREMAFEEE
B R E3ER IR B BB EE BRI - K
REBBRELNKFE -

B ORROE
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
SEREN  EEEREFAER

. 4 2015
JULY 7R
e In July 2015, Heilongjiang tobacco established full
strategy partnership with Huabao Group.
e “T-RFLA REIEENESSEZVELE
IS ERE -

4 2015
SEPTEMBER 9 A
e In September 2015, Standpoint Technology won
the “2015 Best New Comer Golden Leaf Award

for” at the Global Tobacco & Nicotine Forum
(GTNF) held in Italy.

o “E-AFNA - UBMREBAFNETHERIR
BETMEEXRS KK [2015KEHEMELE
EhEeREL]-

ototoo.oootoooooot‘

é { 2015
AUGUST 8 A

e In August 2015, Xiamen Amber successfully listed
on the New Third Board trading system.

e In August 2015, the Group officially entered into
a purchase agreement to purchase partial stake
of of Yancheng Chunzhu, a leading company of
aroma raw materials in China.

< 2015
OCTOBER 10H
e In October 2015, Guangzhou Huafang and
Owada both received the Certificate of High and

New Technology Enterprise issued by Guangdong
Province.

e “ET-RFETA BEMNEFNAFELYERSE
RABREN [RHRINEEEE] -

b

o “E—RHENA - EFIRBAKNEZEH=RRS
REHg -

o “E-RFNA AKHEEAFTEERERHS BB
hEIESE BRI DB ET A AR AE o

.................................................................................
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2015
NOVEMBER 11 A

In November 2015, Huabao Kongque B2B
Shopping Mall (http://www.kgfine.com) went
online, marking an important step for the
Group’s “internet + traditional industries”.

“E-nFt A FRALEMLE 25
AREEY [ EBE+BHITR] BB o

G R AR S

2015
DECEMBER 12 A

In December 2015, the Group officially signed a
contract to acquire 51% equity interest of VMR,
a U.S.-independent e-cigarette company with a
cash consideration of USD22.95 million.

—ET-RF+-A AEETEREHURSARE
22958 T IEERB LB FELFVMR 51%
AR HE -

SEEN

<

EEXEREFARER

2016
JANUARY 1A

In January 2016, the laboratory established
jointly by Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong
Tobacco was recognized as state key laboratory.

In January 2016, Yunnan Tianhong Technology
Centre was granted an invention patent
certificate of “a method for reducing harmful
substances and improving the quality of paper-
making RTL".

TE-REA BEREERERTEAZER
EERREREHERERT °

ZE-RER EERBERMHLEST [—
BEAEREFR REIRENT A BHEEFE

-
=

A —————
."_\\

o *IP Lo

E W & F A
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Chairwoman's Statement
EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

2016 is a year dually meaningful to Huabao. It's the 20th anniversary
of Huabao’s establishment and the 10th anniversary of the food
flavours business’ listing in Hong Kong; it's also a new starting
point for the Group’s second venture and restructuring and further
development. As early as a few years ago, | started to work on
the research of a diversified strategic development objective by an
important tool of investment holding. In the meantime, I've had
a series of discussions, argumentations and attempts with several
renowned experts and institutions.

During the past three years, China’s economy experienced dramatic
changes and has been going through a structural adjustment in
which the rapid growth pattern has been changed to moderately
high growth pattern. The economic structure also underwent
significant adjustment. The rapid economic development and fast
growing income contributed to the general trend of consumption
upgrades in China. Against such a background, Huabao has to
consider how to grasp the historic opportunities at a level of
investment holding. As the original development pattern would be
an obstacle to the Group’s development, after rounds of in-depth
reviews and argumentations, the management considers that it is
an inevitable course for Huabao’s strategic upgrading and second
venture to focus on the consumption goods industry benefited from
consumption upgrades, and to take high-tech innovation as its
endogenous development momentum, and build capital platform
through financial investment, which will be the only way for
Huabao's strategy upgrade and second venture.

BAIIR

CEAGFHEENSRAREEREN—F M
EEENU-_TREFT RATHEEHRA LM HA
FHEEFD  XEEE KX BLUBFERY
RiEd o RPEHFARMAREFMENREER
AEEFENZ T CEBAREREF - HHES
MAMBER - WRETTT — RIRE - WEMNE
5o

BE-FHELERETERNRE L  CRERER
DMK TRENERAE  KENGBLERLES
REBEE -+ (m ) R 3R DA R B A M A K S BRR 1
£ ERTEHEARIABY  MEBLAWBE
BREZERO AR EFENAIESE B L e
B EHEERERENERENASIARERNE
B EEELBRZABRINWE RAEEREE
HETRBERNEERTE  UaRREmARNE
BRE) NERMBEEZBRATE EK2EH
BRETHAL ~ —IRBIEMDHBZEE -



To promote the second venture and strategic transformation, the
Group, starting from the high-tech innovation and by investing
overseas high-tech venture capital fund and domestic angel fund,
stood fast in the front of the high-tech development through the
flexible fund structure, assessed with big data analysis and reviewed
from a crossover perspective. On the other hand, the Group actively
promoted direct investment in China’s fast moving consumer goods
industry, and captured several valuable and strategic segment
markets as well as new channels and micro customers to adapt to
the “long-tail phenomenon” of the fast moving consumer goods
market. Moreover, through a series of capital operations and the
building of a hierarchal structure, the Group strives to develop itself
into a well-established investment holding group.

In respect of capital operation, the Group conducted a comprehensive
business segment restructuring and streamlining during the reporting
period, and its businesses are currently divided into the following
segments: flavours, fragrances, RTL, aroma raw materials, new
materials and investment & finance segment (in progress). The Group
also actively promotes to build multi-levels investment platforms.
The Group believes that it is very important for the Group to build
multiple capital platforms to develop into an investment holding
Group, and it will continue to carry forward the relevant projects in
the future to meet with its business development.

Restructuring of segments will bring a reallocation of the Company’s
assets, labor force, technology, management and other elements,
and will develop a new production pattern, release enterprise vitality,
and improve the management and work efficiency of the Group. As
a "“creator of economies of scale”, the Group will provide service
support for all segments, in a differential control model, and establish
incentive and constraint mechanisms adapted to the market. The
Board believes that, after the strategic investment and upgrading,
operating efficiency of the Group will be effectively improved, which
would bring the Group with sustainable performance growth and
create benefits for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere
gratitude to all shareholders, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their continuing support, and also to members of the
Board, the management, and employees who have been dedicating
to the development of Huabao, for their invaluable contributions.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2016

2015-2016 Annual Report 4 ## 13

Chairwoman's Statement
FEHRE

R ZIRAIZFMEREL - SENSREAIFA
F o BEBEREBINSHMERKRES MR AR XE
RiEEE  BBREINESEBLRBESH R
B RAN - ARBEBEON R KERNAE
XER: m—HE BRELETEREMEER
B ERERERLT - EREEBENE - BEKE
MO TES  FIREBIMEF : BEZEARMAEE
TEF BBAEEZLNERNIERRAENEEN
BIEEE -

EEREETH  REHAR > NEBEETTE2HM
EBRRBBANIE RN ARAERRLE - B A
BRI - BEBR R - FREREE - A EHR
BMEZTNERESRRE  YEEEEBZTE
A - FE - MEBEZEAEAFENRRERE - K
SERR/BREZEEAFAHYRERKNAREZER
SEFFER KRS TEMHEEMRBER - AR
BEBERE -

RBHBEBHRARNEE - 80 - K- B2
SEZETEFHOR  BEFNEERN - BRe
XEN RefSEEBMNIERE - ER/IHRER
ERIEE] KREKSSRBEHRRBEF - UE
SACEEERN - B E 5 E E R BB M A R
H - EEGHE EETERBRENARZE  BE
MR EENKEERE  RARERETRITEE
& BABIRABERE -

RE AABRRESGHSURR TP  HE
BREBRFORBNIHBRRIRONZE - [
HEGRESERNEBINES  EEERS
THUBBENHE - BHARNEESH -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEENRR DN

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Acquisitions completed during the year
Yancheng Chunzhu

In August and December 2015, the Group successfully acquired 60%
equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu at a total cash consideration
of HKD204,228,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB168 million),
making it one of the non-major subsidiaries of the Group. Yancheng
Chunzhu is a leading company of aroma raw materials in China
and some of its key aroma raw material products hold leading
positions globally. Its major customers are renowned international
flavour and fragrance companies. To build an integrated platform
for aroma raw materials, the Group acquired extra 23.59% shares
of Yancheng Chunzhu by way of share swap through the equity
restructuring of its wholly-owned subsidiary Guangdong Zhaoging,
and thereby the Group’s total interest in Yancheng Chunzhu reached
83.59%. The successful acquisition and reorganization of Yancheng
Chunzhu represents not only an important step towards the Group's
execution of the strategy “Multi-pronged, Focused Growth”, but
also a strategic move towards the whole industry value chain in the
year. Huabao, by virtue of its leading position in the industry and
strong scientific research capability, as well as Yancheng Chunzhu’s
competitive edges in the related industry, region and supportive
resources, will accelerate the strategic development in the aroma raw
materials segment and build a leading production base of aroma raw
materials in both Asia and the world.

Hongta Blue Eagle

Hongta Blue Eagle is a sino-foreign joint venture mainly engaged
in the production of A-Class cigarette paper. Hongta Blue Eagle
is the only cigarette paper manufacturer in Yunnan Province, and
also the principal cigarette paper supplier under Hongta Group. It
has rich experience and advanced technology in related product
manufacturing. To execute the Group's “Multi-pronged, Focused
Growth” strategy, the Group entered into a share transfer agreement
in September 2015 with the second largest shareholder of Hongta
Blue Eagle to purchase all of its 25.1% equity interest in Hongta
Blue Eagle, for approximately HKD121,342,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB102 million). The share transfer agreement will
play an important role in extending the industry value chain and
expanding the product lines of the Group, as well as providing a fully
integrated solution for the tobacco industry. It will also strengthen
the strategic partnership between the Group and the tobacco
companies in China.

EEENWMEDN

REE R TR EE

B E
—E-—RFNANM+T A AEBLEBENURER
{75 %204,228,0007T (AR 1.68B L) BEEH
WETO%BE  SEKALAEBIEETZETFTQAZ
— o B EMRANELNERACE  HETE
EMERMEMREZIRE LN - TERFHY AR
BAEHERLAR - AEE—BLERHTES K
SEBBEEETAGEREERESHBIUART
M IE BB BT 2 BBON23.59% % HE - SANEE L E
WEMTE D B EEZEFI83.59% ° th XN EE R E
HEREY  RAEEER [ROZ Tl ] BEN—
BEZLRE DREEAFEETZELEGRD
X—NE- EEHREAFTEEEFHUMES
R AMRHAE L REESETHEERBES
REES  NREFERHREGR  TEIMDHESR
KELENB R EEEM -

AHAEEE

MEEBER—RPIAELE TELEEARBE
B O EEMER—MNBEREECE  thRLAESE
ETEXTEHEREER AZLENEELR
MELEMTERN - AERAEBETALZ L] B
BREEE AEER T -AFAAEOEERE
CEZABRRERITTREEER S HENEE
121,342,0007C (HWARB1.02E7T) BEHE2HH
25 1% AT BEE I o WIEEZRZOR S
HAEEEEBENLH ERSNEEhAEET
EREZHIA—BLEOBRRAFERIEEER RF
B 1 HE — 25 ot AN 2 [E] AR £ B AP 08 N R RO B S
AYEBHEE -
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VMR

In December 2015, the Group acquired a 51% equity interest
in VMR, a US e-cigarette company, at a total consideration of
HKD177,884,000 (equivalent to approximately USD22.95 million).
Founded in 2009, VMR is a U.S. company independently engaged
in research and development, production and sales of electronic
cigarettes (“e-cigarette(s)”), and is one of the largest online retailers
of e-cigarettes in the U.S.. It owns flagship brands such as V2, V2Pro,
Vapour2, and so on. VMR has strong research and development
capability, and is an industry leader in terms of patents and patent
applications. The successful acquisition of VMR will positively
promote the integration of the Group’s e-cigarette and reflect
the Group’'s strategy of “Multi-pronged, Focused Growth”. The
acquisition is also business conducive to our future development on
e-cigarette sales and active expansion in overseas market.

Quotation of shares on the New Third Board - Xiamen Amber
The Group’s subsidiary, Xiamen Amber, was successfully admitted
by the National Equities Exchange and Quotation (the “NEEQ”) in
August 2015, which marked the entry of the domestic professional
fragrance company into the capital market. The quotation of the
shares of Xiamen Amber on the NEEQ is a good opportunity for
its future development. The Group will integrate all of its quality
resources and make concerted efforts to “develop new products
and expand into new fields” in line with the business philosophy
of “pursuing excellence for continuous operation” in order to build
an enterprise with comprehensive competitive edge in fragrance
production, to further grow and strengthen Xiamen Amber, and
to make “Xiamen Amber” a renowned brand in China, thereby
rewarding investors in the future.
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RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2016, sales revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately 9.2% year-on-year to approximately
HKD3,928 million. Gross profit margin reached approximately
68.9%, representing a slight decrease of 1.0 percentage point
over last financial year. EBIT margin reached approximately 44.5%,
representing a decrease of 9.1 percentage points over last financial
year. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was
approximately HKD1,450 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 27.0% over last financial year. Basic EPS was HK46.69
cents, representing a decrease of approximately 27.1% over last
financial year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Review of flavours business

For the year ended 31 March 2016, sales revenue of the flavours
business of the Group amounted to HKD2,725,621,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 7.2% from the last financial
year. The operating profit of the flavours segment was about
HKD1,463,848,000, representing a decrease of 21.0% as compared
with approximately HKD1,852,235,000 for the last financial year.
The EBIT margin of the flavours segment was approximately 53.7%,
representing a decrease of 9.3 percentage points as compared with
approximately 63.0% for the last financial year. The EBITDA margin
was approximately 57.1%, representing a decrease of approximately
8.5 percentage points as compared with approximately 65.6% for
the last financial year. The decline in sales and profits of the tobacco
flavours business was primarily due to the impacts of the sluggish
macroeconomics, the decrease in production volume of cigarettes
and the destocking of raw materials of tobacco industry.

In 2015, the GDP annual growth rate in China was 6.9%, which
fell to the record low of twenty-five years. With the slowdown of
China’s economy, the stepping up efforts to ban or control smoking
and the rising awareness of public health, the traditional tobacco
industry faced increasing pressure, both production and sales
declined simultaneously. According to statistical data, sales volume
of cigarettes in 2015 was about 49.79 million cases, representing a
decrease of approximately 1.20 million cases or 2.4% as compared
with last year; production volume of cigarettes amounted to 51.24
million cases, representing a decrease of 0.46 million cases or 0.9%
as compared with last year, and it was the first decline since 2000.
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The performance of the tobacco industry in the first quarter of 2016
was not optimistic either. The production volume of cigarettes in the
PRC amounted to approximately 12.36 million cases, representing
a decrease of 0.95 million cases or 7.1% as compared with the
corresponding period last year. The sales volume of cigarettes in
the PRC amounted to 13.23 million cases, representing a decrease
of 0.97 million cases or 6.8% as compared with the corresponding
period last year. In particular, the production and sales volume
of major brands decreased by 4.0 and by 2.2 percentage points
respectively, which almost offset all the benefits from tax hike and
price rise. The total industrial and commercial profits tax also fell
sharply. The realized profit tax was RMB342.3 billion, representing
a decrease of RMB26.0 billion or 7.1% as compared with the
corresponding period last year, and total industry profit tax decreased
by 13.3%. On the other hand, the inventories of cigarettes remained
high. As of the end of March 2016, total industrial and commercial
inventories of the cigarettes were 5.85 million cases, representing
an increase of 1.55 million cases or 36.0% as compared with the
corresponding period last year. (source: China Tobacco)

Due to the severe situation of declining in both production and
sales and high inventory level in the tobacco industry, the traditional
business model became inadequate. The Group has been taking
appropriate measures to provide a package solution by using
the systematic solution approach and the whole cigarette design
approach. In addition, the Group has been working on transforming
itself from a traditional manufacturer into a systematic service
provider, enlarging growth points and enhancing business structure.
At the same time, the Group has strengthened strategic partnership
with tobacco companies, and made efforts to upgrade its technology,
service and business structure and to expand its business scope.

During the reporting period, the tobacco flavours business received a
number of honors and awards. In the 2015 outstanding enterprises
annual assessment activities of Jiading District, Shanghai, Huabao
Food Flavours & Fragrances (Shanghai) Company Limited won the
“2015 Integrated Strength Silver Award (Advanced Manufacturing)
of Jiading District, Shanghai” and the “Integrated Strength Gold
Award (Advanced Manufacturing) of Jiading Industrial Zone”,
Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd. won the 2015
annual honorary title of “Little Giant Enterprise of Jiading District,
Shanghai” and “Technology Innovation Award” in the assessment
activities of Jiading District and Jiading Industrial Zone. The numerous
awards are the recognition from Jiading District Government and
the Management Committee of Jiading Industrial Zone for the
achievements of the Group in business management, company
strength, technological innovation and other aspects, and give great
impetus for the Group to further accelerate its business development
in the future.
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For food and beverage business, as China’s economy generally
entered into the “new normal”, the food industry has been slowing
down for five consecutive years and profit margins continued to
decline. Due to the increasing competition and rising operating
costs, the food industry in China is suffering from being squeezed
by “rising costs” and “falling prices”, which resulted in the declines
in both revenue and profit. Meanwhile, with fundamental changes
in domestic supply and demand condition and continuing upgrades
of domestic food consumption, the proportion of expenditure on
general commodities and basic necessities is going down gradually,
while the proportion of expenditure on quality life and lifestyle is
increasing yearly. In addition, the rise of e-commerce enables more
food brands to achieve the retail transformation from offline to
online and the online platform has accordingly become the fastest
growing distribution channel.

Facing with such complex operating environment, the Group further
optimized its customer base by adhering to the development strategy
of “Big Customers, Big Brands” and achieved satisfactory results.
During the financial year, in addition to keeping the relationship
with existing large customers, Huabao Kongque has also actively
developed new domestic and overseas customers, and has introduced
new products, based on the original flavours, which are catered to
market needs and adapted to the new trend, including characteristic
flavours, special creams and enzyme flavours. These new products
received good feedbacks from new and old customers. In April 2015,
Huabao Kongque was honored as the “Outstanding Contributions
Enterprise” and the “Outstanding Contributions Enterprise in Roasted
Nuts Industry of China 2005-2015" by The Specialized Committee for
Nuts and Roasted Seeds of China National Food Industry Association.
In following April, Huabao Kongque again won the title of “2015
top 20 Quality Service Suppliers for Nuts and Roasted foods industry
(flavours)”.

Multiple honors and awards received by tobacco flavours business '
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“2015 Top 20 Quality Services Suppliers for Nuts and Roasted “Outstanding Contributions Enterprise in Roast Nuts Industry
Food Industry (flavours)” of China 2005-2015"
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The customers of Guangzhou Huabao still mainly consist of local
snack food companies, and the business growth is mainly driven
by the major products of large customers. The big customers
from traditional meat industry are stable, which have high brand
recognition and are in a rising trend. The sales to baking food
industry are mainly in dealer distribution model. In the future, the
company will continue to support the transformation of products
to large customers towards health concept and the optimization
of old products so as to increase the competitive edge. At the
same time, Guangzhou Huabao will actively develop the catering
market with the brand “hanfang” and focus on the development
of fresh condiments. Seasoning bag has become a successful
case for Guangzhou Huabao to enter the fresh food production
enterprises. Going forward, Guangzhou Huabao will continue to
develop its business in the catering market and condiment market.
In particular, by combining plant extract products with seasoning
technology, Guangzhou Huabao seeks to improve product value and
satisfy customers’ needs for delicious, convenient and fast foods.
In October 2015, Guangzhou Huabao was awarded two honorary
titles by Guangdong Province, namely the “High-tech Enterprises of
Guangdong Province” and “Engineering Technology Research Center
of Guangdong Province”.
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“Flavour Preparation and Aroma Quality Analysis Engineering
Technology Research Centre of Guangdong Province”
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In October 2015, the Chinese government has officially implemented
the most stringent food safety law in history, which imposed
stricter requirements on food safety management. The state has
also proposed clearly to establish a food safety trace-back system,
to put in place the most stringent regulatory system, the most
extreme punishment and the tightest accountability. The Group will
take food safety as the starting point and strengthen raw material
supply management, raw materials trace-back management and
manufacturing process management while strengthening the
maintenance of infrastructures and manufacturing facilities of our
plants and proactively identifying food safety risks associated with
raw materials and production process.

Under the traditional sales model, food enterprises are generally
subject to geographical restrictions. However, the rise and
development of the Internet offer broader market space to food
enterprises, and the mobile Internet even creates a “borderless”
market, allowing the food segment to operate at lower cost and
higher efficiency. In November 2015, the Group’s Kongque B2B
Mall (http://www.kgfine.com) was officially launched, marking an
important step for the Group’s “Internet + traditional industries”.
Currently, the online orders in the mall are mainly from computer
terminals, supplemented by mobile phone APPs. By taking full
advantage of Internet technology, the Group has realized one stop
logistics services in a high efficient and fast way, including self-order,
internal audit, production, and delivery. From customer feedbacks
on preliminary visits and user experiences are encouraging. Looking
forward, the mall will develop a platform for food additives and build
a one-stop purchasing platform for food additives. Furthermore,
the mall will drive website traffic, promote platform services and
create new growth points through the set-up of certain online modules
including industry news and new product updates.

AR, FTHPTERERARS
AEEE, iS00 10H

i . . .ﬁ
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Review of RTL business

For the year ended 31 March 2016, sales revenue of the RTL business
of the Group reached HKD698,250,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 26.2% from the last financial year. Operating profit
of the segment was approximately HKD229,729,000, representing
a decrease of 45.0% as compared with HKD417,891,000 for the
last financial year. EBIT margin reached approximately 32.9%,
representing a decrease of 11.3 percentage points as compared
with approximately 44.2% of the last financial year. The decrease in
sales revenue of the RTL segment was mainly due to the following
reasons: firstly, new RTL capacities have been emerging from areas
such as Jiangsu, Yunnan, and Anhui, which had changed the industry
landscape; secondly, as the inventory of tobacco companies remained
"accelerate inventory
turnover and effectively reduce raw material levels” from the State
Tobacco Monopoly Administration, the purchase volume of RTL had
been affected to a certain extent.

at relatively high levels, under the policy of

In response to the adverse factors of high inventories of tobacco
leaves and the intensifying competition in RTL industry, the Group
adopted certain measures to ensure healthy and stable development
of the RTL business while it made efforts to improve the RTL product
qualities. On one hand, the Group tried to improve features of RTL
products and produce RTL products with different features according
to various cigarette brands; on the other hand, the Group tried to
improve the functionality for RTL products, while improving cigarette
taste and reducing the tar and harm.

Review for aroma raw materials business

The aroma raw materials segment is a newly established segment
which mainly includes the business of Guangdong Zhaoging and the
newly purchased Yancheng Chunzhu. For the year ended 31 March
2016, sales revenue of the aroma raw materials segment reached
HKD347,565,000, representing an increase of approximately 28.3%
from the last financial year. Operating profit of the segment reached
HKD57,327,000, representing an increase of 24.8% from the last
financial year. The increase of the sales revenue and operation profit
of this segment are mainly due to the completion of acquisition of
Yancheng Chunzhu in December 2015, whose performance began to
be consolidated in the annual results.
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Established in 1986, Yancheng Chunzhu is one of the leading aroma
raw materials enterprises in China with a history of more than 20
years and specializes in manufacturing of natural and synthetic
aroma. Yancheng Chunzhu is a pacesetter in aroma industry in
China, and a high-tech company of Jiangsu Province. It is also one
of the earliest aroma enterprises in China being granted KOF-K
certification and ISO9000 certification, and most of its customers
are internationally-renowned flavour and fragrance companies.
Yancheng Chunzhu is one of the leading manufacturer of aroma
raw materials in China with operation strength, advanced facilities
and sophisticated production technologies. It maintains a group of
experienced engineers who lead a professional technical team to
consistently develop new products. Products of “Chunzhu” brand
not only are sold throughout the China market, but also are popular
in Europe, North America and Latin America, and through this brand,
the company has built up long-term business relationship with
customers in the U.S., France, Germany, India and Russia and so on.

“Jiangsu Famous Trademark”

[I#EEREHERE]

The successful acquisition of Yancheng Chunzhu marked an
important step to carry out the Group’s “Multi-pronged, Focused
Growth” strategy and represented a major achievement in building
up a complete industry value chain, and had a positive effect on the
establishment and expansion of the aroma raw materials segment.
Leveraging its advantageous position as an industry leader as
well as its superior R&D capacity, Huabao is establishing a leading
production base of aroma raw materials in Asia and even in the
world by capitalizing on Yancheng Chunzhu'’s industrial and regional
advantages.
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Guangdong Zhaoging made efforts in the synthetic aroma
technologies, which not only improved the products qualities but also
effectively controlled the products costs. On one hand, Guangdong
Zhaoging adhered to its collaboration strategy of “Big Customers,
Big Brands” and actively developed its pool of big customers. It
strived to secure full-year orders from the capable groups by utilizing
flexible pricing policy and maintaining good customer relationship;
on the other hand, it seeked opportunities for market breakthroughs,
cooperated with prestigious flavour companies and put more efforts
in brand promotion, and formed a sound channel marketing network
which included capital cities as the core and spread out to tier-2
and 3 cities. During the reporting period, Guangdong Zhaoging’s
sales to its major clients increased by 29.7% as compared with the
last financial year. Export sales increased by 21.4% as compared
with the last financial year, which was benefited from the increase
in the number of end users in the market of Southeast Asia and
Japan where more orders were generated. At the same time, the
e-commerce platform is moving forward satisfactorily. In November
2015, the e-shop in Taobao upgraded to enterprise store, which
enhanced customers’ confidence. Last year the annual turnover
amount was over RMB300,000, which represented an increase of
103% as compared with the last financial year. In September 2015,
the "Research on Clean Production Process for Ethyl Maltol” of
Guangdong Zhaoging was recognized as Technology Plan Project
by the city of Zhaoging, with a technology contract being signed
in the following month; and in October 2015, it was granted the
certification for a high-tech enterprise.

Review of fragrances business

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the sales revenue of the
fragrances business of the Group amounted to HKD82,031,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% from the last financial
year. Operating profit of the segment amounted to approximately
HKD7,237,000, representing a decrease of approximately 32.1% as
compared with HKD 10,654,000 for the last financial year, mainly due
to the quotation of Xiamen Amber’s shares on China’s NEEQ, which
resulted in a significant increase in the professional and intermediary
fees and a drop in operating profits.
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In recent years, with the introduction of a series of policies designed
to stimulate domestic demand by the Chinese government, some
three- or four- tier cities and the vast rural market have become
the main battlefield of fragrance industry. As the increase of the
disposable income of urban and rural residents, the consumption of
daily chemical products in China has also been increasing year after
year. However, sales of traditional black mosquito coils and aerosol
insecticides have been shrinking over the years and the products have
been replaced by clean and convenient liquid electrical mosquito
repellants and flavours-free odorless liquid mosquito repellants.
Considering its large market share in the field of incense and
disinfection, in the unfavorable market environment, Xiamen Amber,
had to make structural adjustments, through its technical advantages
and influences in the market segment, stable product qualities and
excellent services, to continue to play a leading role.

As to the product sales structure, the sales proportion of incense and
disinfection fragrances decreased by around 2.2% in the year while
the sales proportion of detergent fragrances increased by 4.3%,
reflecting that the company’s effort on restructuring the product mix
has gained positive results. As analyzed by product category, the
sales of detergent fragrances recorded a significant growth of 11.5%
as compared with last year, and the sales of incense and disinfection
fragrances basically stabilized after experiencing a sharp decline
in previous years. At the same time, Xiamen Amber stepped up its
efforts on product research & development, technical services and
marketing development for small and medium-sized detergent and
soap enterprises. As a result, sales of detergent and soap fragrances
climbed up to about 29.5% and its proportion in total sales revenue
increased by nearly 5 percentage points. The export business
was still concentrated on incense and disinfection fragrances and
products were mainly sold to Indonesia, Thailand, Vietnam and other
Southeast Asian countries.

In August 2015, Xiamen Amber was successfully admitted by
the NEEQ. Immediately following the quotation of the company’s
shares, the Group continued to hold 51% equity interests in Xiamen
Amber. The quotation will enable the Group to capitalize the value
of its existing investment in Xiamen Amber, to provide independent
fund-raising platforms for Xiamen Amber for its operation and future
expansion, and to provide a mechanism to attract and motivate the
managements of Xiamen Amber to be responsible for the operating
and financial performance of Xiamen Amber independently.

During the reporting period, Xiamen Amber was assessed as a 2014
annual major taxpayer and the fragrance brand name “Amber” were
recognized as “Xiamen Quality Brand” by the Xiamen Municipal
Government. In October of the same year, Xiamen Amber was again
awarded the High-Tech Enterprise Status.
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“Xiamen High-Quality Brand”
[EFBEEME]

Review of new materials business

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group's revenue from sales of
new materials amounted to HKD74,750,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 13.9% as compared with the last financial year. The
operating profit of the segment was approximately HKD13,580,000,
the EBIT ratio was approximately 18.2%, representing an increase of
0.6 percentage point as compared with approximately 17.6% for the
last financial year. The significant drop in revenue from the sales of
new materials was mainly due to the decline in the sales volume in
tobacco industry.

Although the tobacco new materials are still under development,
with the continuous launching of new cigarette products, customers’
demands on cigarette materials increased dramatically. During
the reporting period, the Group has made some progress in the
combination of dry-pressed RTLs and filters, the sales of particle
stems have been stabilizing, and made some breakthroughs in
business. The Group planned to work with tobacco new materials
companies to build a filter production platform. In the future, the
Group will continue to improve its technology of the platform and
technical team, diversify product lines, and build up technology
system and technical edges. At the same time, the group will focus
on key products promotion, build business foundation, and combine
the development of whole cigarette design and packaged solutions
together with corporate transformation.
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Global E-cigarette Market 2015-2019 (USD billion)
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(Source: TechNavio: 2015-2019 Global E-cigarette Market)

The latest development of new tobacco products

The global e-cigarette market experienced rapid growth over the
past five years, and it's expected that the compound annual growth
rate could reach 31% till 2019. The U.S. and Europe remained the
major markets for e-cigarettes, while Japan, South Korea and some
Southeast Asian countries are emerging e-cigarette markets. The
e-cigarette market in China has great potential while the current
size of the market is still limited. As the world’s largest suppliers of
e-cigarette products, 80% of the e-cigarettes in the U.S. are made
in China. The Chinese enterprises, with a complete industrial value
chain and grasp of existing technology of smoking devices, batteries
and foggers, have inherent industrial experience and cost advantages
to develop e-cigarette business.

In December 2015, the Group acquired 51% equity interests in VMR,
America’s leading e-cigarette manufacturer, at a consideration of
HKD177,884,000 (about USD22.95 million). VMR is a U.S. company
independently engaged in e-cigarette design, production and sales
and owns its own flagship brands such as V2, V2Pro, Vapour2 and so
on. It employs a vertically integrated business model which manages
the entire production cycle to ensure high commitment of quality
control and customer services. The partnership with SPV will have
positive impact on VMR's development of new fogging technologies
and penetration into the Asian market, especially China market
(including Hong Kong, Taiwan). VMR’s online and offline network,
innovative and independent research and development capability,
together with Huabao’s capital accumulation and the big platform
concept of SPV, have built a solid foundation for the establishment
of e-cigarette segment.
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After the successful acquisition of VMR, SPV will continue to undergo
its industry integration and brand upgrade, from previous product
brand to a channel brand, and explore its online and offline sales. SPV
established a PV (Professional Vapor) testing centre in 2015, aiming to
urge the manufacturers to improve their products quality and service
quality through evaluation, so as to provide end-users with better
consumer experience and establish an e-cigarette credit system. The PV
testing centre focuses on testing of products’ safety and performance
as well as providing professional training and other related technical
services. Integrated with the international frontier, the PV testing centre
will strive to make the testing results be accepted by distributors, be
recognised by manufacturers and be trusted by consumers.

In June 2015, SPV successfully launched New Product Release
Conference in Shanghai for its SPV Refresher 2.0. Besides the
noctilucent series and high-end series, there were customized
celebrity models. At the same time when SPV worked on the
brand building, it continued the promotion work on both domestic
and overseas markets. SPV, besides continued sponsorship on
the 2015 Storm Music Festival held in Shanghai and Shenzhen,
and sponsored the China E-Sports Premier League (CPEL) and the
CIG League, securing the title sponsorship of the competition;
meanwhile, it gained popularity through recommendations by the
Internet celebrities, such as micro-blog VIPs and live show hosts
and hostesses. In international market, SPV was invited to the third
VapExpo-Paris, and attended the Global Tobacco Networking Forum
(GTNF) in ltaly, where it won the “2015 Golden Leaf Awards for the
Best New Tobacco Company”; in October, SPV, as the first Chinese
enterprise being invited, attended the first meeting with FDA in
Washington, D.C., U.S. to discuss how to set up new international
standards on new tobacco, and joined the VTA E-cigarette
Technology Association.
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Through brand building, SPV started to build online and offline
channels. For online channels, in addition to the Tmall flagship store,
SPV actively connected with jd.com and vip.com and opened online
stores in Wechat, expanding online sales at the mobile end. And
JD included SPV as a strategic customer in the e-cigarette catalog
and provided supports in data flow, JingDong self-operating and
other promotional activities. Through the joint operations with the
e-commerce companies, SPV has turned from the original agent
model to the distributor model. For offline channels, SPV improved its
reputation mainly through offline experience and event sponsorship.
During the reporting period, SPV entered into a strategic partnership
with Sanpower Group, and made appearance in Brookstone on
the opening day of its Nanjing flagship store. Meanwhile, SPV
entered into strategic cooperation with PVGO, China’s first venture
professional capability developing platform for university students,
and rolled out promotional activities in universities.

Financial investment, industry investment &
incubation business (in progress)

2015 was the year of the Group for its gradual implementation of
transformation after thoughtful consideration. During that period,
the economy of China was also in the process of a transformation,
the tobacco industry and consumer goods industry faced challenges.
Based on the principle of prudence, relied on the strong financial
support of the Group, the Group took successful experiences and
lessons learned from the transformation of other non-state owned
companies and took the recommendations from external consultants
and professional advisors. The Group’s financial investment, industrial
investment and innovation and incubation businesses are developing
steadily.

In terms of high-tech investments, the Group invested in the
Singulariteam VC Fund from Tel Aviv, Israel and the BAT Angel
Fund in Beijing, China. The Singulariteam Fund mainly provides
funds, incubation coaching and specialized management services
for new technology companies with revolutionary technologies in
Israel; while BAT Fund is an Angel Fund focusing on the area of
Technology, Media and Telecom (TMT). Both funds rendered brilliant
results during the reporting period, and various projects entered
the second round of financing or further. According to Israel’s latest
research report, Singulariteam Fund, as a medium size fund, had
12 investment projects surpassing the other venture capital funds
in 2015, and was honoured with the “Best New Venture Capital

Award” by Israel’s Venture Capital Research Centre.
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On the other hand, in order to promote the second venture
and strategy upgrade, the Group is actively preparing for the
establishment of the Industrial Investment and Innovation Division.
This division will be responsible for the Company's investment
management, and mergers and acquisitions,
services and incubation management, which are related to the
Company'’s principal businesses. The purpose is to catch the trends of
consumption upgrades and explore towards better life; it will provide
the required infrastructure and a range of supporting services for

innovative business

small start-up businesses, and make early incubation investments,
driving innovation with incubation and driving exploration with
investment.

Review of research and development

The Group pays great attention to constantly enhancing the capacity
of R&D. During the financial year, the Group’s R&D cost amounted
to HKD239,665,000, representing an decrease of HKD16,540,000
as compared with the last financial year. R&D cost represented
approximately 6.1 % of sales revenue, such ratio slightly increased
0.2 percentage points as compared with approximately 5.9% of
the last financial year. After continues investment, the Group has
set up a R&D team which is in a leading position in China and is of
international standards. The R&D strategy of the Group is market-
driven and focuses on technology innovation, so as to closely follow
the latest global industry trends and to accelerate the mastering of
technologies in key raw materials. With such strengths, the Group
is able to develop products and technologies that meet market
demands, to gradually form a R&D team with a global perspective
and deliver a system integration platform of technology, and thereby
comprehensively elevate its overall competitiveness in relation to
research and development.
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During the financial year, the Group and its major customers
continued to develop the key R&D projects and further stepped up
their cooperation. In January 2016, the “RTL Technology Research
Laboratory” which was jointly applied by Guangdong lJinye and
Guangdong Tobacco was accredited by the STMA and became the
only key RTL laboratory in tobacco industry, representing its position
of authority in China in the research of RTL technology. Guangzhou
Huafang, acting as the training centre of cigarette flavourists for the
STMA, completed overseas training for the second batch of senior
flavourists for the tobacco industry, and began to train the third batch
of senior flavourists in November the same year. Guangzhou Huafang
also participated in the joint research of two important projects in
aroma chemicals in the tobacco industry: “Digital Flavouring Technology
Platform Based on the Characteristics of Tobacco Flavours”and
"Research on the Threshold Value of Important Tobacco Flavours”,
and conducted cooperation and research with Yunnan Tobacco and
Guangdong Tobacco in various areas. The project of “Development and
Research on High-efficiency, Flow-aiding, Filtration-aiding, Energy-saving
and Emission Reduction Technology for Paper-making RTL", which was
jointly conducted by Guangdong lJinye and South China University of
Technology, was awarded the “Second Prize of Guangdong Science
and Technology” by Guangdong Province. The project provides a solid
technical support for the “Cost Reduction and Efficiency Increase”
strategy of Guangdong Jinye.

In terms of RTL, “Research on the Key Workmanship Technology of
Improving the Overall Utilization Rate of Raw Materials”, the major
special project commissioned by the STMA and led by Guangdong
Jinye was successfully passed and accepted by the STMA in June
2015. This project has realized efficient utilization of the raw material
ingredients of RTL, and the results has originality and has reached
international advanced level from an overall perspective. Meanwhile,
the major project of “Research and Development of Pulp Grinding
Workmanship Exclusively Used for Paper-making RTL” and the key
project of “Dry-pressed RTL Trial Production Line Technique Research and
Equipment Development” were completed and accepted by the experts
of the STMA and the research results have reached domestically and
internationally advanced level, respectively. Yunnan Tianhong Technology
Centre was granted an invention patent certificate of “a method for
reducing harmful substances and improving the quality of paper-making
RTL". Securing this patent not only motivated the R&D personnel of the
Company, but also laid a solid foundation for the rapid development of
the Company’s R&D in the future.
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In terms of new materials, the Group has developed cigarette filters
containing capsule or wired conductors products with various
flavours and effects. These products brought new experiences and
feelings to consumers and helped to promote the development of
new cigarette products; they were well recognized by the Chinese
cigarette manufacturers and new customers.

Shanghai Hengxin Company also passed the CMA metrological
It has
newly purchased a number of advanced equipment including infrared
spectrometric analyzer, which enables the company to carry out 30
types of test for the certification of tobacco and tobacco related
products, tobacco smoke and tobacco additives. The certification of
subsequent project expansion is under progress.

certification and the CNAS national laboratory certification.

During the reporting period, the R&D team filed for a total of 42
new patent applications in regards to invention, utility innovation
and appearance design, and was granted with 39 patents which
had been previously applied, including 20 invention patents, 7 utility
innovation patents and 12 appearance design patents.

Some of the major patents granted include:

- A method for preparing milk-flavor base material through
butter enzymolysis product

- The additive for enhancing natural unhusked rice flavor of
baked food and application of the additive

- A preparation method for RTL with compound natural
ingredient

- A drying device for dry-pressed paper-making RTL production

- A method of reducing harm and improving quality for
paper-making RTL

- A tobacco stem sorting device for tobacco stem shredding

- A novel microcapsule sieve

- An electronic cigarette mouthpiece cover
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Internationalized R&D team

Tobacco flavours technicians

Food flavours technicians

Fragrances technicians

Biochemical technicians

Aroma materials developing technicians

Innovative tobacco developing technicians

Analysis, inspection and quality control technicians

New cigarette materials, new workmanship and
other R&D technicians

Total

Among all, there are 25 foreign experts, and 46 senior experts with
over 20 years of experience.

Human Resources and Corporate Culture construction

As at 31 March 2016, the Group employed a total of approximately
2,465 employees in the PRC, Hong Kong, Germany, U.S., Botswana
and Korea, and last year was approximately 2,300 employees. The
labor costs for the year (including pension and mandatory provident
fund, etc.) amounted to HKD451,466,000, representing an increase
of HKD18,975,000 from HKD432,491,000 of the last financial year.
The increase in the labor costs was primarily attributable to the
increase in the number of employee.

Based on the new strategically starting point of the Group,
human capital becomes the dominant factor for valuation
creation of the Group. The Group collaborated with a professional
consulting firm in optimizing the Group’s human resource system,
establishing a corporate jobs hierarchy, carrying out job evaluation,
management and control at the group level, compensation package
design and performance management as well as long-term
incentive compensation, to achieve internal equity and external
competitiveness,
Group taps employees’ potential to the greatest extent by effectively
incorporating scientific consulting into the Group’s work practices,
with a view to attaining the Group'’s strategic objectives.

encourage human capital value creation. The
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In relation to the improvement on the leadership of our senior
management, the Group cooperated with the China Europe
International Business School to conduct specialization training
courses with six modules tailored for the senior management team
of Huabao, so as to build a high-performance management team
with strategic change, innovation and entrepreneurship and learning
agility and improve the Group’s organizing ability. In addition, the
Group also invited the internet CEO training experts of China to
strengthen at internet management thinking, improve its operational
efficiency and consolidate its quality services and future development.

The High Potential Talent Project (HPTP) undertaken this year is
another effective way to enhance human capital. HPTP is of great
significance to organizational strategy implementation, business
development and talent pool optimization and construction. The
Group expects to, through comprehensive training, cultivate a group
of high-calibre talents with excellent quality, outstanding ability,
extensive knowledge and high potential, so as to provide a reliable
source of talents for the sake of the Group’s rapid development.

The Group has remained committed to corporate culture
development and established a clear vision, as well as a common
goal for all employees, of combining corporate development and
individual growth to achieve common development of the Company
and its employees. Adhering to its core value of “client first”
for years to maximize client values, the Group also formulated a
code of conduct for each employee on the basis of this concept.
Corporate culture and information is spread through the Company’s
monthly internal magazine, and employees are also encouraged
to submit articles for cultural enrichment. On the other hand, the
Group enriched employees’ leisure time through various recreational
and sports activities including sports contests and outward bound
trainings to reinforce cohesion of Huabao people and their sense of
identity.
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Corporate Information Technology Development

In June 2015, Huabao entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with a world famous software service provider to officially launch
the Customer Relationship Management (CRM) project. Drawing
upon the service provider's extensive experience and expertise in
software outsourcing, consulting services and other areas, the
Group will develop an information construction mode with Huabao's
characteristics and in line with the Company’s long-term healthy
development, so as to provide comprehensive consulting services
and technical support for the current and future development of
Huabao’s various business segments. Entering into this strategic
cooperation agreement represents a significant move to fully
implement the Group’s “IT-oriented management” strategic objective.
The Group will continue to adopt new and effective measures for the
full implementation of such strategic objective, which, in return, will
provide reliable assurance and strong support of new services and
platforms to the Group’s future transformation and development.

In order to meet the Group’s business needs and achieve its strategic
goals, the senior management formulated a positive information
technology strategic plan. Take advantage of the most popular
online communication platforms nowadays, such as Weibo, Weixin
and Dingding, set up public accounts in those internet platforms,
and made it possible for the real-time and effective dissemination
of information of the enterprise including latest news, development
and concepts. In respect of the corporate website, the Group
also upgraded the old version of the website with new designs
and contents in all aspects. In addition, to align with its strategic
transformation and upgrade, the Group has also revamped its
internal magazine, “Huabao View", which has not only significantly
increased employees’ participation and recognition, but also
enhanced the value in use of the internal magazine.
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Future development strategy

During the past three years, China’s economy experienced dramatic
changes and went through a structural adjustment, which
contributed to the general trend of consumption upgrades in
China. After rounds of in-depth reviews and argumentations, the
management considers that it is an inevitable course for Huabao’s
strategic upgrading and second venture to focus on the consumption
sector, a beneficiary of consumption upgrading, by taking high-tech
innovation, and to establish capital platforms through strategic
investments.

To promote the second venture and strategic transformation, the
Group, tackling at high-tech innovation and leveraging the flexibility
of its fund structure, stood at the forefront of high-tech development
in short order via investments in overseas high-tech venture capital
funds and domestic angel venture capital funds, and assessed with
big data analytics and reviewed from a crossover perspective. On
the other hand, the Group actively promoted direct investment in
China’s fast moving consumer goods industry, and captured several
valuable and strategic segment markets as well as new channels
and micro customers to adapt to the “long-tail phenomenon”
of the fast moving consumer goods market. Moreover, through
a series of capital operations, the Group strives to develop itself
into a well-established investment holding group. It would be very
important for the Group to build various capital platforms, and it
will continue to carry the relevant projects forward in the future, to
couple with its business development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31
March 2016

Sales revenue

The Group’s sales revenue amounted to HKD3,928,217,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2016, representing a decrease of approximately
9.2% as compared with HKD4,326,486,000 for the last financial
year. Except for the sales revenue of aroma raw materials increased
mainly due to acquisition of Yancheng Chunzhu during the vyear,
due to sluggishness
of macroeconomics. For the year ended 31 March 2016,
revenue from flavours reached HKD2,725,621,000, contributing
approximately 69.4% of total sales revenue; sales revenue from
RTL reached HKD698,250,000, contributing approximately 17.8%
of total sales revenue; sales revenue from new materials reached
HKD74,750,000, contributing approximately 1.9% of total sales
revenue; sales revenue from fragrances reached HKD82,031,000,
contributing approximately 2.1% of total sales revenue; while
sales revenue from aroma raw materials reached HKD347,565,000,
contributing approximately 8.8% of total sales revenue.

the sales revenue of other segments fell,
sales

Cost of goods sold

The Group's cost of goods sold amounted to HKD1,223,041,000
for the year ended 31 March 2016, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.0% as compared with HKD1,301,169,000 for the
last financial year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group decreased from HKD3,025,317,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2015 to HKD2,705,176,000 for the year ended
31 March 2016,
gross profit margin was 68.9%, representing a decrease of 1.0
percentage point from 69.9% of the last financial year. Gross profit
margin remained stable.

representing a decrease of approximately 10.6%;

Other income and other gains - net

Other income and other gains — net of the Group was
HKD197,427,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016, representing
a decrease of HKD65,778,000 as compared with HKD263,205,000
for the last financial year. The decrease in other income is mainly
attributable to a decrease in government grants and increase in
foreign exchange loss.
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Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised
travelling expenses, transportation costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, salaries and office expenses. The selling and marketing
expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 were
HKD253,346,000, representing an increase of approximately 23.8%
as compared with HKD204,650,000 for the last financial year. Selling
and marketing expenses to total sales revenue for the year ended
31 March 2016 and 2015 amounted to approximately 6.4% and
4.7% respectively. The increase of such ratio was mainly attributable
to a significant increase in marketing promotion expenses for new
tobacco products and to the Group stepping up its selling efforts
which resulted in an increase in related expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to HKD901,154,000
for the year ended 31 March 2016, representing an increase of
approximately 18.0% as compared with HKD763,727,000 for the
last financial year. Administrative expenses to total sales revenue
during the current financial year amounted to approximately 22.9%,
representing an increase of approximately 5.2 percentage points
as compared with 17.7% for the last financial year. The increase
in the ratio of administrative expenses to total sales revenue was
mainly attributable to an increase in administrative expenses for new
tobacco products; an increase in amortization expense of intangible
assets arising from acquisition of VMR and Yancheng Chunzhu;
engagement of international consulting firm for the Group's strategic
planning during the reporting period and the increase in travelling
expenses resulted from overseas mergers and acquisitions projects.

Operating profit

Operating profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 was
HKD1,748,103,000, representing a decrease of approximately 24.7%
as compared with HKD2,320,145,000 for the last financial year,
while the operating profit margin decreased to approximately 44.5%
of the current financial year from approximately 53.6% of the last
financial year. The decrease in operating profit and operating profit
margin were mainly attributable to the decrease of sales revenue and
other income, and the increase of marketing promotion expenses
and travelling expenses.
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016
was HKD365,380,000, representing a decrease of approximately
6.6% as compared with HKD391,054,000 for the last financial year.
Income tax rate of the current year was approximately 19.9%, which
was increased by approximately 3.5 percentage points as compared
with last financial year. It was mainly attributable to the significant
increase in withholding tax resulting from distribution of profits by
PRC subsidiaries due to group reorganization.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
was HKD1,450,250,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016,
representing an decrease of approximately 27.0% as compared with
HKD1,986,584,000 for the last financial year but representing an
improvement as compare with the decrease of 42.5% for the first
half of the financial year.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 March 2016, the net current asset value of the Group
was HKD5,259,154,000 (2015: HKD4,454,334,000).
generates its working capital mainly through its operating activities
to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31 March 2016, the
Group's cash and bank balances amounted to HKD3,521,708,000
(2015: HKD3,626,091,000), over 70% of which was held in RMB.
The Group hold structured investment products of HKD165,617,000
which was classified as available for sales financial assets.

The Group

Bank borrowings and debt ratio

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had bank borrowings of
HKD 18,002,000 (2015: HKD750,278,000),
within one year. Among which, HKD13,201,000 are secured loan

all of which were due

with average annual interest of 6.4%. HKD4,801,000 are unsecured
As at 31 March
include current

loan with average annual interest rate of 1.9%.
2016, the Group’s debt ratio (total borrowings,
and non-current borrowings, divided by total equity (excludes
non-controlling interests)) decreased to 0.2% (2015: 8.2%). The debt
ratio lowered further.
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Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities were for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and the strategically
development strategies for mergers and acquisitions. For the year
ended 31 March 2016, the net cash generated from investing
activities amounted to HKD13,848,000, mainly from the release of
short-term time deposits, and used for mergers and acquisitions of
subsidiaries, investment in associates, procurement of properties,
plant and equipment and acquisition of structured investment
products. For the year ended 31 March 2015, the net cash used in
investing activities amounted to HKD349,535,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the net cash used in financing
activities amounted to HKD806,760,000, mainly used for repayments
of bank loans. For the year ended 31 March 2015, the net cash used
in financing activities amounted to HKD1,497,567,000.

Debtors’ turnover period

Debtors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade receivables net of provisions as at the beginning
and end of a relevant financial year divided by the total sales revenue
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with, the customers. For the year ended
31 March 2016, the Group's average debtors’ turnover period was
89 days, representing an increase of 10 days as compared with 79
days for the last financial year ended 31 March 2015. The increase
of trade receivables turnover days was mainly attributable to better
payment terms granted to our customers due to the sluggishness
of the industry and to the consolidation of Yancheng Chunzhu and
VMR'’s trade receivable balances at balance sheet date.
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Creditors’ turnover period

Creditors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade payables as at the beginning and the end of a
relevant financial year divided by the cost of goods sold for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods
granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the
year ended 31 March 2016, the Group's average creditors’ turnover
period was 113 days, representing a decrease of 3 days as compared
with 116 days for the last financial year ended 31 March 2015.
Creditors’ turnover period remains stable.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s inventory balance amounted to
HKD834,024,000 (2015: HKD818,433,000). For the year ended 31
March 2016, the inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis
of the average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and
end of a relevant financial year divided by the total cost of goods
sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days) was
243 days, representing an increase of 11 days as compared with 232
days for the last financial year but representing a decrease of 41 days
as compared with 284 days for the first half year of the financial
year. The increase in inventory balance and inventory turnover
period was mainly attributable to the consolidation of VMR's closing
inventory resulted from the acquisition of VMR in December 2015.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in RMB, with
the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials
and equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as
USD or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated
in RMB, USD and HKD and the depreciation risk of which is not
significant.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2016, the secured bank loan of the Group amounted
to RMB11,000,000 (2015: RMB12,000,000).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had capital commitments in respect
of the purchase of property, plant, equipment and available-for-sale
financial assets, contracted for but not provided in the financial
statements amounted to approximately HKD166,714,000 (2015:
HKD274,175,000), with investment in high-tech fund amounted to
HKD130,120,000.

Contingent liabilities

Based on the information available to the Board, the Group did not
have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2016.

EEENWR DN

BEEW

RZE—XNEZAZ+—HB AEEHERE
HAEANRE11,000000 (ZE—HF: AR
12,000,0007T) ©

BREE

RZE—RNEZA=+—8 AEEAHRCTHEE
MY BERRERIHEESHEEZIRER
W AR 55 = B B AR A1 166,714,000
T (ZZ—FF : B¥274,175,00000)  TEZS
BHZBIFE S IR E LB 130,120,0007T ©

HREE
REAHEESSHNER  AEER TR F
ZA=EtT - HUBEMERNKAEE -



42

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEERZERER AT

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
BEENSREEERE (&)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #{TE&=

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 46, the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO, Executive Director
and the chairwoman of Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has been
a member of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu
(Executive Director of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “C1” as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Chu is experienced in formulating strategies and making
executive decisions on business operation, investments and market development.
She was a member of the Fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong province). Ms. Chu, through the corporations
controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of shares of the Company as set out in page
86 headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures.
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Mr. XIA Li Qun, aged 49, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman (re-designated on
18 November 2015), CFO and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is
also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “X1” and the legal
representative of those companies marked with “X2" as set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics and
is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist and certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia
has over 20 years of financial and corporate management experience. He previously
worked in domestic accounting firms in China and was a senior management member
of a foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of
the Shanghai Food Additive and Batching Association.
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Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 53, an Executive Director, Vice President and the
Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the Board
since March 2004. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the
University of London, United Kingdom. He holds a Bachelor's degree in laws and a
Bachelor’s degree in business studies and a Master’s degree in international accounting.
He is a fellow member and an associate instructor of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute, a fellow member of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and a
member of its Technical Consultation Panel and Professional Development Committee.

Mr. Poon has over 25 years of experience in regulatory affairs, investment banking and

listed companies management.
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 23, an Executive Director (re-designated on 4 March 2016) of
the Company. Mr. Lam has been a member of the Board since November 2013. Mr.
Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO and Executive
Director of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “L1” and the legal representative of those companies
marked with “L2” as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Lam educated in the United Kingdom and the United States of America. For
corporate management experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and
legal representative of a private company, which is engaged in e-commerce business in
China. He previously served as a director and the general manager of a company which
is engaged in advertising media business in China and he was a director of a non-profit

foundation in China.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BY ¥ #H1TESE

Dr. DING Ningning, aged 68, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr.
Ding has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Dr. Ding graduated from
Tsinghua University with a Bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering, and graduated
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China
in its first doctorate course in economics. Dr. Ding is currently a researcher of the
Social Development Research Department of the Development Research Center
("DRC") of the State Council of the PRC, a director of the China Development
Research Foundation, an executive director of the China Energy Research Society
and an executive director of the China International Association for Urban and
Rural Development. He has been conducting research at the DRC for over 30 years
since 1982, and he was a director of the Enterprise Economic Research Department
of the DRC from 1993 to 1998 and a director of the Social Development Research
Department of the DRC from 1998 to 2008. Dr. Ding was a member of the Listed
Company Supervisory Committee of China Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 58, an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the Board
since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate finance
and regulatory aspects in the Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice president of
the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, and his duties included regulating and
monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their compliance with
the Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also served as a senior
consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.
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Ms. MA Yun Yan, aged 55, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms.
Ma has been a member of the Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from
the Law School of Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer in
China in 1986. She is now the senior Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. Ms. Ma is currently
a member of the Eighth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and she was
a member of its Fourth Committee. From August 2009 to August 2011, Ms. Ma was
a member of the Growth Enterprises Board Public Offering Review Committee of
China Securities Regulatory Committee. Ms. Ma has been dedicated to teaching and
doing research in the Law School in relation to international commerce and investment
aspects for 10 years. She has years of experience in the legal field in relation to the
capital markets, including investment, merger and acquisition, issuance of securities,
etc., and has lead-managed the issuance of shares and convertible bonds and major
restructuring of numerous companies listed in PRC and Hong Kong.
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Mr. WU Chi Keung, aged 59, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wu has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Mr. Wu is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has
over 30 years of experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger
and acquisitions. He was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu until he retired in
December 2008.
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Mr. XIONG Qing, aged 39, a Vice President of the Company, joined the Group
since May 2007. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “XQ1"” and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“XQ2" as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xiong
majored in international accounting from Tsinghua University School of Economics and
Management, and graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in economics and he is also an
EMBA degree holder of INSEAD in France. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xiong worked
in several international investment banks for years. He has extensive experiences with
Chinese enterprises and international capital market.
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Mr. DUAN Dong, aged 50, a Vice President of the Company, joined the Group
since November 2015. He held executive position in listed company. He has years of
experience in business operations and human resources management.
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Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 52, a vice general manager of Tobacco Products Division of
the Group, joined the Group since August 2006, responsible for marketing and sales
of tobacco flavours. Mr. Choy is also a director of the company’s principal subsidiaries
marked “FC1"” as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. He
holds a diploma of applied chemical technology of Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager in a number of world renowned flavours
and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy has over 20 years of experience in flavours and
fragrances marketing and management.
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Mr. SONG Jun He, aged 47, a vice general manager of Tobacco Products Division of
the Group, joined the Group since August 2006. Mr. Song is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “SJ1” and the legal representative of
those companies marked with “SJ2” as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Song graduated from Anhui University and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in analytical chemistry, later he studied at Zhejiang University and obtained
a Master’s degree in management. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song was a board
member of a large domestic chemical enterprise. He has comprehensive management
experience in R&D and production in the field of chemical industry.
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Ms. YUAN Xiao Qin, aged 47, an assistant to the president and vice general manager
to Tobacco Products Division of the Group, joined the Group since August 2006. Ms.
Yuan is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “YX1"
and the legal representative of those companies marked with “YX2" as set out in the
Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree and
is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yuan served as executive in a
Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise. She has around 20 years of experience in
senior management position. Ms. Yuan is currently the representative of the People’s
Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province, a member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang District, Shantou
City and the vice president of the Federation of Industry and Commerce in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City.
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Mr. CHEN Hu, aged 41, a general manager of Food Products Division of the Group,
joined the Group since August 2006. Mr. Chen is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “CH1” and the legal representative of those
companies marked “CH2" as set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics from Central South
University of Technology (now known as Central South University) and an MBA degree
from Nanyang Technological University, Singapore. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen
worked for several companies and has extensive experience in investment, merger and
acquisition, marketing and corporate management. Mr. Chen is currently the deputy
director of China Association of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, the vice president of
The Specialized Committee for Nuts and Roasted Seeds of China National Food Industry
Association and the chairman of the Shanghai Food Additive and Batching Association.
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Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 68, the chief technical officer of tobacco flavours and general
manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany, joined the Group since
February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with “AD1" as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Mr. Davies holds a Higher National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of
Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of
creation and applications in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances
companies and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and
Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years of experience in tobacco flavours.
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Mr. ZHAO De Xu, aged 39, a general manager of Innovative Tobacco Products
Division of the Group, joined the Group since February 2015. Mr. Zhao is also a
director of the Company’s subsidiaries marked with “DX1" as set out in the Note 35
to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Zhao graduated from The Brandenburg
University of Technology in Germany and holds a Master degree in information
technology. He worked in Germany for more than 10 years. Mr. Zhao was selected as
a member of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan” of Xinjiang Project and as an overseas
high-level talent of Jiangsu Province. He was named the “2012 China’s most valuable
CIO" and one project he participated was awarded the “First Class Award of Nanjing
Enterprise Management Modernization Innovation Achievements”. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Zhao held executive position in a large diversified holding group. He has
extensive experiences in the fields of corporate management, strategic and information
management.
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Mr. CHEN Cong, aged 34, head of the CEO’s Office of the Group, joined the Group
since January 2013. Mr. Chen graduated from Tsinghua University with a Master's degree
in finance. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked in a leading domestic investment
bank for several years. He has extensive experiences in the field of capital operation.
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Mr. ZHANG Zi Heng, aged 38, a vice general manager of Tobacco Products Division
of the Group, joined the Group since July 1999. Mr. Zhang is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “ZH1"” and the legal representative of
those companies marked with “ZH2"” as set out in the Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Zhang graduated from East China University of Science
and Technology and holds a Bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry (industry of fine
chemistry). Mr. Zhang joined the Group after graduation, and he has served in the
production, management and purchasing departments of the Group. He has extensive
experiences in the field of corporate management.
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Note: Information contained in this section was up to 31 March 2016
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize the
profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders while
taking into account the interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK
Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognizes the importance and
benefits of good corporate governance practices and has adopted
certain corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at
a high level of transparency and accountability. The Company is
committed to continuously improving its corporate governance
practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the financial year, the Company had complied with the
code provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate, adopted the
recommended best practice as set out in the code provisions, except
for code provisions A.2.1, A.4.1 and E.1.2:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Chairwoman of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company, took up the position of CEO
starting from 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider
matters relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of
the view that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the executive management.
The effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of
corporate strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The INEDs
of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as they are
subject to retirement by rotation no later than the third AGM of the
Company since their last appointment or re-election and are eligible
for re-election in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those set out in the CG Code.
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Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board who
should also invite chairmen of sub-board committees to attend the
annual general meeting. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, the Chairwoman of the
Board and chairwoman of Nomination Committee of the Company,
due to attendance of another business commitment of the Company,
had been unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 6 August 2015 (the “2015 AGM"). In order to
ensure smooth holding of the 2015 AGM, the Chairwoman of the
Board authorized and the Directors attended the meeting elected Mr.
POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director of the Company, to chair
the meeting on behalf of the Chairwoman of the Board. Respective
chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and members
of Nomination Committee of the Company were present and
answered relevant questions at the 2015 AGM.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Directors
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve the current
practices of the Company on the basis of the experience and
regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of shareholders of
the Company, and to safeguard shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.

Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information required to be disclosed by directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) subsequent to the date
of the Interim Report as of 30 September 2015 of the Company are
set out below:

1. Mr. LEE Luk Shiu was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Yee Hop Holdings Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange on 18 December 2015) with effect from 25
November 2015.

2. Mr. POON Chiu Kwok was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Sany Heavy Equipment International
Holdings Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange) with
effect from 18 December 2015.

3. Mr. LAM Ka Yu was re-designated as Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 4 March 2016.

4. Mr. WU Chi Keung was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Huajin International Holdings Limited
(listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 April 2016) with effect
from 23 March 2016.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition
The Company has a well-balanced Board. The Board comprises four

Executive Directors and four INEDs. The members of the Board are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu

Mr. XIA Li Qun (MNote D

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok
Mr. LAM Ka Yuy (Note 2)

(Chairwoman and CEQO)
(Vice Chairman and CFO)
(Company Secretary)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. DING Ningning
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Notes:
1. Re-designated as Vice Chairman on 18 November 2015
2. Re-designated as Executive Director on 4 March 2016

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board,
except for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the
Executive Director of the Company). Biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 42 to 50 of this annual report. The present
Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects
of production, management, accounting and finance, legal and
regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. Two out of four INEDs
possess recognized professional qualification in accounting. The
INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board’s deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enables the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advices for the development of
the Group’s businesses.

53

2015-2016 Annual Report

Corporate Governance Report
EERERRE

EEg

354

ARBE—H2ELENERZE - EFGHWUEANT
BEERMEBIIFPTESEAN -EZEXNEN
™

HITEF

RMFEL L (ERREFEHTTE)
BB A (BIEEREEIFE)
BME LA (ZAwZE)

RIS 4 A (M)

BUAHTEE
THEFHL
Tk e
WEML L
W S

GEE

WZE-—RF+—- A+t \BRBETRREE
2. RIZE-RE-ANRRERATES

EEeR BB ETINBER (BEVE - ¥/ -
REBRHMERBR) BRTEAMEL LT RMREFE
E(RRBEIMITES) B THE EZFEFEEHR
REWRFRES0E - BRZESERNEE B -
T RER  ERURBESNTFRAE A BHAGL
B BERERLER - NEBVIINTESEPMEAHE
ERANGTEEER - BUFRTESAEEY
SBEREEEEEENNE  CBRRBIHE - BT
EEMEEXBBENERRBER  TERTHREA
BERTNNE EFENLZ LB RKE SR
FARIFGEBARARIZE  WAXESEEBEE
HREEEMETEES



54 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEEEEZRERAT

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the board, with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate qualification,
financial management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules). The Company has received, from each of the
INEDs, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the INEDs are considered to be independent

or accounting or related

pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the Chairwoman of the Board (responsible for
the management of Board operation and development of the Group’s
strategic planning) and Executive Director of the Company. She took
up the position of CEO (responsible for important management and
business decisions making of the Group) since 9 April 2013. Ms.
Chu has extensive experience in business operation and strategic
planning. The Board believes that Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles of
the Chairwoman and CEO concurrently, is beneficial to the business
development and management of the Group.

Mr. XIA Li Qun as Vice Chairman,
operational management of the Group and report to the CEO
directly.

is responsible for the daily

There are guidelines setting out the authority and duties of the
Chairwoman and the CEO, details of which were set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s annual report from
year 2007/2008 to year 2012/2013. With the support of Mr. XIA Li
Qun as the Vice Chairman (being re-designated on 18 November
2015), the Company Secretary and the Qualified Accountant, the
Chairwoman shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and receive adequate, complete,
reliable and timely information for making decisions. Apart from the
above, the Chairwoman is also responsible for the duties as specified
in code provisions A.2.4 to A.2.9 of the CG Code.
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Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability
of the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of
the Company for the shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required from Directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairwoman, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings
with senior management of the Group at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

The bye-laws of the Company set out the responsibilities and
proceedings of the Board. Significant operational policies have to
be discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to
meet their obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in
place with clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect of legal
action against them in the course of execution of their duties in
good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly basis to
discuss strategies and business issues, including financial performance
of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at the physical
meetings are set out on page 71 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the
relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least 3
days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.
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Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of these minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of
the Company Secretary/Legal Department of the Company with a
view to ensuing that board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. Directors are able to seek independent
professional advice as and when required at the Company’s expense.
INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in board meetings and
serve on the sub-board committees.

During the financial year, the Chairwoman has held a meeting with
the INEDs without the presence of Executive Directors.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third AGM of the
Company since their last appointment or re-election and are eligible
for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
financial year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares are
set out on page 86 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which
are Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
LEE Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee), Ms. MA
Yun Yan, Mr. WU Chi Keung, and an Executive Director, Mr. XIA Li
Qun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to
matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and
senior management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was published on the Company’'s website at
www.huabao.com.hk and on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company’s Share Option Scheme.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the year ended 31 March 2016,
the Remuneration Committee met once regarding the emolument
packages of the Directors and senior management and the
remuneration packages for Mr. LAM Ka Yu (being re-designated
as Executive Director). The individual attendance of Remuneration
Committee members at meetings is set out on page 71 of this annual
report. Details of the emolument of the Directors are set out in Note
25 to the consolidated financial statements while details of the Share
Option Scheme and the share options granted to the Directors and
senior management are set out on pages 81 to 84 of this annual
report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
(the chairman of Audit Committee), Dr. DING Ningning, Ms. MA Yun
Yan and Mr. WU Chi Keung.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
operational, compliance and risk
to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board.
performed the following work:

controls, including financial,

management controls and,

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has

o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems,

staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting,

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources,

internal audit and financial
reporting functions;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;
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o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. During the year
ended 31 March 2016, the Audit Committee met twice for reviewing
the financial reports for 2014/2015 audited annual results and
2015/2016 interim results (including the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal controls system. The individual attendance
of Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on page 71 of
this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee were satisfied
with the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
and the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group's
audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director, Ms.
CHU Lam Yiu (the chairwoman of Nomination Committee) and two
INEDs, namely Dr. DING Ningning and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration and
implementing the Board's approved nomination policy, considering
the development targets and strategies of the Company and the skills
mix needed in respect of the Board, and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
was published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk
and on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. In
discharging its responsibilities, the Nomination Committee has
performed the following work:

o To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes
to the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board,
and make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o To review the time required from a Director to perform his/her
responsibilities; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range
and balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the
Board. Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy; review the Policy from
time to time, as appropriate; report to the Board on their decisions
or propose recommendations on any amendments for the Board'’s
review and approval, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Nomination Committee
met twice for reviewing the board structure, the diversity of
Board members and the commitment of Directors, including
considering the re-designation of Mr. XIA Li Qun as Vice Chairman
and re-designation of Mr. LAM Ka Yu as Executive Director of
the Company, and making recommendations to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considered that the composition of the Board
is well balanced and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational
background, professional skills and experience. It meets with the
needs of the business operations and development of the Group.
The Board is of the view that every Director has dedicated sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Each Director had
disclosed to the Company at the time of his/her appointment of
the directorships held in other listed companies or nature of offices
held in public organizations and other significant commitments.
The Company has also requested Directors to provide in a timely
manner any change in such information. The individual attendance
of Nomination Committee members at meetings is set out on page
71 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control system (embedded in the
operations of the Company and forms part of the Company’s culture)

includes:
o effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business

arising from factors within the company and to the change in
business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and

o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures have
been established to assess, review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures, and regular review and comparison between
operating results and the budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.

Risk Management

The Group has Legal and Compliance Departments which is led by
experienced professional legal staff, together with other business
functions (including Internal Audit Department) to monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. The Company has engaged a reputable law firm,
Herbert Smith Freehills as its annual retainer counsel for provision of
legal advice relating to compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory
requirements.

Internal Audit

The Company has set out internal audit team with scope of works
advised by the Audit Committee.
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Internal Control Review

During the reporting period, the internal audit team had carried out
an annual review on the internal control system including financial,
operational and compliance control, and risk management functions.
The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and review the
effectiveness of an internal control system and includes the following
works:

(i)  To follow up the enhancement progress in response to the
previous recommendations from an external independent
expert in respect of internal control system;

(i) To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group under the principles
set out by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Committee ("COSQ") covering major control aspects;
and

(iii) To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on a
selective basis pursuant to the principles of COSO.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company received
the information about local, market and the competitors’ dynamic
movements each week and their understanding of the risk
assessment is enhanced through the on-the-job training and regular
senior management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the
potential risk management.

Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department and the Board of the
Company will inform and report to the relevant Directors
regarding the factors that have impact on the profit and price
based on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned project teams of
the Company will handle relevant documents and report to the
relevant personnel (including the Directors).
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- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
will inform relevant members of the project team that dealing
in the shares of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the price sensitive information forms regarding the
daily operation and connected transactions of the Company
will be circulated to relevant departments at the beginning
of every month by the Finance Department, and the Finance
Department combine and submit the forms to the Compliance
Department for general review in the middle of each month,
ensuring that there are no any material omissions.

During the financial year, internal audit team has presented its review
report and make recommendations to the Audit Committee and the
Audit Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings, particularly
those related to new members of the Group to the Board at board
meeting.

Internal Control System and Corporate Governance
enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control system,
the Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system
for employees to raise concerns, in confidence, with the Audit
Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and system
regularly.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance practices,
including formalization of the reporting practice throughout the
Group in monitoring the operation and business developments of the
Company so as to capture potentially price-sensitive information on
an on-going basis, monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation.
The Board has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In addition,
the annual retainer counsel of the Company has provided the
Directors (existing and new board members) and the relevant senior
executives with training on Listing Rules, regulatory requirements and
cases of enforcement at least twice a year.
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As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are effective and adequate
(including the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions are adequate) and have complied
with the CG Code provisions on risk management and internal
control throughout the financial year and up to the date of this
annual report.

Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records of
training they received for the period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March
2016. Directors participated in the training which included reading
regulatory updates, attending seminars or conducting training
sessions and exchanging views.

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu KB+
Mr. XIA Li Qun ERNEEE
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok EA B S A
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE

Mr. WANG Guang Yu ®ete F RS A (i)

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. DING Ningning TEEHL+
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FrRIRFEE
Ms. MA Yun Yan iiE 2T
Mr. WU Chi Keung AR

Note: ceased to act on 18 November 2015.
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Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, Mr. Poon has obtained over
15 hours of relevant professional training.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Statement and Remuneration

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements and the Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 93 to 94 of this annual report.

During the financial year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the
Group are as follows:

Nature of Services REHE
Audit services ZEAR S
— for the audit of the Group — &BE

— for the statutory and other audits of the major
PRC subsidiaries

Please also refer to Note 24 to consolidated financial statement
set out on page 177 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares.
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 March 2016 was
3,106,657,961. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 17 of Notes to the consolidated financial statements on
page 166 of this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary
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shares of the Company were set out below:

Full details can
be found on
the following

Total number

Percentage

page of of issued of the issued

this report Shares held share capital

HRAFR AHEFE HERT

Category/Name L)t LUTEE CRITROHE e N=R e

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mete D RIRIE 27 £ (st Page 86 5586 H 1,279,262,415 41.18%

Directors of the Company ViN/NET =3 Page 86 %868 8,350,000 0.26%

Substantial Shareholders Mot 2 F EARER W=D Page 88 F88H 340,091,660 10.95%

1,627,704,075 52.39%

Public NRATL 1,478,953,886 47.61%

Total &art 3,106,657,961 100.00%

Notes: M5E -

1. As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of 1. RETHAES  EEEREARARARRKRE 17

depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of
depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time be
specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of
the voting power at general meeting of the Company; and

2. Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, corporations and/or persons hold
interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share capital of
the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary
of the Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.
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The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws of
Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the

said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit
to the Company a written request stating the resolution intended
to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a director

Shareholders shall have right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to
the detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website
www.huabao.com.hk.
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Making enquires

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (e-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
to mention in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the shareholders. The Company uses a range of
communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars, to ensure its shareholders are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.hk which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required under
the Listing Rules are displayed and can be achieved (for documents
published in the previous 7 years) on the Company’s website and
there is established procedure to ensure timely update in compliance
with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The shareholders’ communication policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk.
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Shareholders’ Meetings held during the reporting period

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election
of individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during
reporting period are summarized as follows:

Meeting Date Venue

=f =p:] i B

AGM 6 August 2015 Falcon Room,

REREF K —E—FFE Gloucester Luk Kwok,
J\A/NH 72 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong
BEEETELITBTI2%
NEVEEERE

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

Details of the mergers and acquisitions of the Company carried out
during the reporting period can be found on page 76 of this annual
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company can
be found on pages 89 to 91 of this annual report.

RBEHRBTHRRAS
RRRELAESFSERRIER —EEEBHRE - B
BEERRERRAEG LITEEN  E2FEEHREE
RBERRBRAE LEE  BREEZREEMES
Bf - RNEMEHARTZRRASEENT ¢

Resolutions

RER

1. To receive and consider the audited financial
statements and the reports of the directors
and of the auditors for the year ended 31
March 2015;
EEHE-_T - AF=-A=TALFELE
AR EEYRELRBEAENRE

2. To re-elect Directors and to authorize the
Board to fix their remunerations;

EREE URBREFSTEERIFZMNE

3. To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize
the Board to fix their remunerations; and
BREZHM  TREEESSETAME &

4. To grant general mandates to buy back
shares, to issue shares and to exercise the
buy-back mandate.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through
telephone/video conferences) at board regular meetings, meetings of
board committees and general meetings during the reporting period
are set out below:

Board

Regular

Meeting(s)

EZEEHER

No. of meeting held SERY 7
Executive Directors BIES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CEQ)  RMELL (ZEREEHITE) 11

Mr. XIA Li Qun (Vice Chairman and CFO)  ERB%4 (FFEFEEHFE) n

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary) — BREXEA (A F#Z) 17

Mr. WANG Guang Yu "¢ FARELE R 33

Mr. LAM Ka Yu WEFEE i

Independent Non-executive Directors By #¥#1TES

Dr. DING Ningning TEERET 1
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FkxE i
Ms. MA Yun Yan REfRL 11
Mr. WU Chi Keung pikg bt mn

Note: ceased to act on 18 November 2015.

MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS

During the financial year, the Company did not make any
amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws.
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MR ERIIT

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)

ERZEEeE YMZEES8E REZEEEE RREFAE

2 1 2 1

N/A TR N/A T8 22 on
N/A TR 1 N/A T iE A 17
N/A RER N/A TER N/A MR 11
N/A R ER N/A MER N/A R iE 11
N/A TR N/A TE A N/A R 1
22 N/A T 212 17

2/2 11 22 11

2/2 11 N/A AER 11

22 11 N/A RE 1
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The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company’s corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils
the above-mentioned through a designated Investor Relations
Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

Investor Relations Review

In order to develop continuously and maintain investor relations
communications to ensure that the most updated information would
be transmitted to investors in an accurate and fair manner, the
Company organized various activities proactively and aggressively
through different channels, conducted effective and satisfactory
communications under reasonable circumstances. Details of these
activities during the reporting period are as follows:

Details of the activities EBFERE
Non-deal roadshows IR SR
Investment conferences WEEGH

One-on-ones and group meetings —$—REEE
=T Ay 2

Teleconferences EiEra=

W28 &R AR

Plant visits and reverse roadshows

RRBBNHFAFREBHREEBERE - 5
EEMSRERBANBRERABARRZEER
g MBS BRERE  XABEFARRLLEMS G
KRB NBREAREABRENREFELABR
E o ARRIBE B RHORE B B ERAPIARGEE -

BREEMEFPI/ARRRBRERZNBR - AR
BB AFHRBENERNRA - UREFRARR - &5
ENBEREZERBA-ERFITAET  RLEAE
BUERREAENALTRREERIEARES -

REEBETFEE

EABEAN  AARARERRIERREEH
FBR  UHEREHASEERATIBEESRE
E ADRAEHAEBIEBTRRBETERE
B BREABOBRTRESFNENRTE
B - ARERANEBAENT

Number of participations (approximately)

ZERY (K)

2 (including China, Hong Kong, etc.)
(BIERE - HESH)

6

40

36

3



General Meetings

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions to
be considered at the AGM and SGM. The Company’s Audit
Committee’s Chairman were present and available to answer
questions raised at the AGM during the year.

Interim Results Presentation

Interim results presentation was held after the interim results
announcement in November 2015, at which the management
availed them to answer questions such as the Group’s
operational and financial performances.

Investment Conferences

The Company treasures every opportunity to communicate
with and explain its strategies to investors and Shareholders
through active participation in investors’ conferences hosted
by reputable investment banks, securities houses and research
institutes.

Ongoing Communication with the Investment Community

Regular face-to-face meetings and an ongoing schedule
of teleconferencing calls with institutional investors and
research analysts were held throughout the year. Questions
and comments on the Company raised at the meetings were
summarized and reported to the senior management team after
the meetings. Regular meetings with research analysts were
organized which provided a different channel for the analysts
to communicate with the members of the Board. All these
serve the multi-purposes of maintaining market surveillance and
close contact with investors as well as gathering constructive
suggestions from the capital market.

Company'’s Site Visits and Reverse Roadshows

Site visits to the Company’s major customers, R&D centres
and production bases had been arranged for investors and
analysts during the year which provided them on one hand the
opportunities to have better understanding of the Company’s
businesses, technology and daily operations, and independent
market surveillance on the other.
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E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations

The Company's website at www.hbglobal.com contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases,
while interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars
are published on a professional investor relations page on
the aforementioned website, which enables the Company’s
Shareholders and members of the investor community to have
timely access to the most updated information about the
Company.

Media Communications

During the announcement of its interim and annual results, the
Group held results presentations to facilitate the access of the
most updated information of the Company by investors and
the public in a fair, open and timely manner. In addition, to
strengthen the interactions between the Group and the media
it also proactively issued press releases on a timely basis.

Investor Relations Contacts

For inquiries, please contact:
Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited

Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

BERATMUEREEREERARFLETEF
BB

AN F 48U Bwww.huabao.com.hk » E{H &=
BEEE EERERE - AMERE - A7
HEEE MLl HEEENREEH
FEE HBFHEFERS  AERBRE
F8  BARBIREMEEMLEENRIEE
KRR ZEHEE ©

HRRE

AEBRT RN EFEERHERNREES
GIAIRIREE RRZRAF - RFA R R
BB TESRRNRIER « I - RNEE
TERETHMEBBELFTEBAMBBER

ik
REEBEBRGS
BTN EHE
E
i L3
B IEE 185
"RIRE S
3008%=
ERERZERERDA
BEEREE
B & 1 (852) 2877 8999

e

=7 7=

T

1 (852) 2511 8229
ir@huabao.com.hk



Information for investors (as at 31 March 2016)

Board Lot Size

Number of shares issued

Market capitalization (based on
the closing price of HKD2.92
on 31 March 2016)

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited stock code

Reuters ticker

Bloomberg ticker

Financial Calendar

Announcement of 2015-16
Interim Results

Announcement of 2015-16
Annual Results

Closing date for transfer of shares
for Annual General Meeting
(both days inclusive)

Annual General Meeting

Fiscal year-end date

1,000 shares

3,106,657,961 shares

HKD9.07 billion

00336

336.HK

336HK

18 November 2015 (Wednesday)

22 June 2016 (Wednesday)

From 5 August 2016
(Friday) to 9 August 2016
(Tuesday)

9 August 2015 (Tuesday)

31 March
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016.

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

In August and December 2015, the Group’s wholly owned
subsidiary acquired 60% equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu from
an independent third party for a cash consideration amounted
to approximately HKD204,228,000. Yancheng Chunzhu was
incorporated in the PRC, which is principally engaged in R&D, sale
and production of aroma raw materials. Following completion of
the acquisition, Yancheng Chunzhu becomes an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial statements will be
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

In September 2015, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary
acquired 25.1% equity interest in Hongta Blue Eagle from an
independent third party for a cash consideration of approximately
HKD121,342,000. Hongta Blue Eagle was incorporated in the PRC,
which is principally engaged in production and sale of its own
cigarette paper and auxiliary products.

In December 2015, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary acquired
an effective interest of 51% of VMR’'s issued share capital at a
total consideration of approximately HKD177,884,000 (equivalent
to approximately USD22.95 million). VMR was incorporated in the
U.S., which is engaged in the design, production and distribution of
e-cigarettes. VMR becomes an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company and its financial statements will be consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production and sales of
flavours and fragrances, aroma raw materials, RTL, and new tobacco
materials. The activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
Further discussion and analysis of the operating activities of the
Group during the financial year, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, as required by Schedule 5 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairwoman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” as set out on pages 12 to 13 and pages 14 to 41 of
this annual report respectively. Such discussion forms part of this
directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following
are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the
date of this report.

The development and policy of tobacco industry

Tobacco industry in China is strictly regulated, STMA and China
National Tobacco Corporation is responsible for the centralized
management of the tobacco industry. Any strengthening of tobacco
control measures or industry integration may affect the results of
operations and business prospects of the Group to a certain extent.
With the slowdown of China’s economy and under the impact of
national policy adjustments, the traditional tobacco industry had a
general decline in both production and sales volumes in 2015. Given
that the production of cigarettes for the first quarter of 2016 still
needs to be reduced to cope with STMA's overall inventory planning,
the sales revenue of the Group will be affected to a certain extent by
the decline of purchasing volume of the tobacco industry.

Regulation of E-cigarettes

As the development of global regulatory policies in respect of
e-cigarettes are becoming more stringent, which would affect the
manufacturers to a certain extent. Therefore, the Group must take
every necessary step to make sure the development and operation of
e-cigarettes are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

2015-2016 Annual Report 4 ## 77

Directors’ Report
EEaRE

¥ ERE

RAABIZEBEBKARERR MAKEFEHE
ERER BRA - EEERMEZEHM AT
B EEMMEE ARARZEEMBRARIMESR
RiF A M SRR M 5135 o 12EF B D & FIff K52
o AEERAMRFELETENE—FiTwm
DT AREAEEEBAIERRERNEZR o
FIEAARFRENREZIZELRFL4ZMEN [EH®
EIMEBETRBESN] ZETmEKRAES

BHREH B -

FTERBRTABRRE

REE 2 WIEAN  BLARBEMER AR AL AT
ZRBMAAAEZEZRLR BT E RN EEE
%o MESEMALAE  REAKREEEARRSE
HEIM = ZRBRAMAHPAEZRMOT -

BETERERREE
TENEETEXIEBRE BHERKTEER
BARBREHTRETSTR—EE - ERMEE
ERbIERRITEBRAAEGHAKRBEXE LA RE
E—EFE - BEPELESERRE  UREXEX
BRBBYE BERBETER_Z-—RFHAT
EHERRFTENEE X _T-RFE-—FE
DERELEEBENRSRERNERETRE
AEBNHEERAZEETENRBER K/
—ERENTE -

ETENRE
HRERNEFERERRERBBEZE - Sk
SHEEREN —EXE - NEEARIUE AR
REFENHENLEITREROERIER -



78 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEEERIZERER AT

Directors’ Report
EETRE

Regulation Enhancement over Food Safety

The China Food and Drug Administration was established in 2013,
with a view to regulating the food safety issues in a stringent
manner. In October 2015, the Chinese government had officially
implemented Food Safety Law, which set higher requirements
on food safety management This will, to some extent, affect the
industry’s cost of production and profit, the Group shall take
measures to ensure our products and operation complies with food
safety standards.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. We have installed equipment and procedures
designs to comply with business operation. Among all, Guangdong
Jinye engaged an international sizeable water management company
to conduct Technological Improvement Project of the Sewage
Treatment Station attached to the RTL Production Line, and was
granted the Pollutant Discharge Permit of Guangdong Province,
which provided a basic security for the company’s continuing
operations.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so
as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees. It implements green office practices such as
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server, minimizes documents printing and copying and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognizes that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
implemented a remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retains key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made to the remuneration packages to align with
the market standards. Further details on the Group's staff are set
out in the “Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction”
section of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first”
to maximise client values,

for years
maintains good relationship with its
customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the
customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone,
electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions. Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements
to promote probity and environmental protection with respective
suppliers and conducts an appraisal of its suppliers, with a view to
maintaining business relationships with suppliers and customers
based on principle of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company complies with the requirements under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the Listing Rules and the SFO
for, among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate
governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the financial year by
business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 96 of the annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company which is scheduled to be held on
9 August 2016 (the “2016 AGM"), the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 5 August 2016 to 9 August 2016, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares will be effected.
All properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 4 August 2016. Shareholders whose names are
recorded in the register of members of the Company on 9 August
2016 are entitled to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the financial year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 98 and in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2016, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD3,080,411,000 (2015: HKD1,303,947,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
financial year amounted to approximately HKD321,000 (2015:
HKD806,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 208.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As per a resolution passed at the SGM held on 22 September
2006, the Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”). As at 31 March 2016, the number of share options
granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme which
are valid and outstanding amounted to 19,599,717, representing
approximately 0.63% of the issued share capital of the Company
upon full exercise of the aforesaid share options. The following is a
summary of the Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the participants
to make contributions to and promote benefits of the Group
and developing and maintaining business relationships with
participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

The Board has absolute discretion to grant share option to any
participant.

() Maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme

The total number of share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 22 September 2006. Upon
approval by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the
Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not
exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval
by the Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed
renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to
the Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing
the matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued)
upon exercise of options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any participants in any 12-month
period under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. Any excess over 1%
requires the formal approval by Shareholders through an
ordinary resolution at a general meeting at which the relevant
participant and his close associates shall abstain from voting
and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to relevant
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Time for exercise of options

The grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as
may be determined by the Board (the said period shall not in
whatever case be later than the last day of the 10-year period
after the day on which the offer relating to the option is duly
approved by the Board in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the
offer of the grant of option to the grantee, the Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Time for acceptance of option offer and payment

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within 21
days from the date of the offer letter issued by the Company.
The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration for accepting the
offer of the share option granted.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of offer, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Shares.
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The life of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years
starting from 22 September 2006.

Details of share options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed
during the financial year under the Share Option Scheme are set out

83

2015-2016 Annual Report &3

Directors’ Report
EEaRE

&I AR
BREAINR _ZTRFAA T - AEF+
FABM °

(@

REBREREAR - RIBBIEBIHE - 1768
KRB BB

A

as follows:
Number of Share Options
BREHA
Granted Exercised  Cancelled/ Balance
Balance during during lapsed as at
as at the the  during the 31 March
1 April financial financial financial 2016
Exercise 2015 year year year RZE-RF
Grantee Grant Date Price Exercisable Period R=F-1f HHEE BBEE  HMBEER ZA=t-H
ERA REAH e TTFAE WA-A&H bt RTE  EH &R 33
HKD
et
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 200,000 - (100,000 - 100,000
Bkt ZEERETRAZTRA
Ms. MA Yun Yan 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 800,000 - - - 800,000
iZFkat ZEERETAZTRA
Other Participants 10 October 2006 3.09 10/10/2006-9/10/2016 7,600,000 - (1,500,000) - 6,100,000
RsEE “EENETATA
17 October 2007 6.65 17/4/2008-16/10/2017 8,990,000 - (740,000) - 8,250,000
ZETEETATA
30 December 2015 2.75 112/2016-31/12/2016 - 4,349,717%3;)) - - 4,349,717
ZZ-RETZAZTH
Total
ait 17,590,000 4,349,717 (2,340,000) - 19,599,717
Note: On 30 December 2015, the Company granted share options of not BizF: R-_Z—HAF+-_A=+H AAFKRLETHBB

more than 4,349,717 to a consultant (“the Consultant”). The validity
period of the share options is from 30 December 2015 to 31 December
2016 and the share options shall automatically lapse at the expiry of
the validity period. The exercise price of the share options is HKD2.75
per share. According to the services contract signed between the
Consultant and Future Dragon International Limited (”Future Dragon”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Future Dragon will pay a
lump sum of RMB10,000,000 (approximately HKD11,960,000) to the
Consultant on full completion of the services. The payment is subject
to retention without interest by Future Dragon and shall only be used
as the payment of subscription price for the share options granted to
the Consultant.
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According to the HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, this consultancy
services together with the grant of share options and its terms are
considered as an equity-settled share-based payment and accounted
for a restricted share award. Details of the accounting treatment are
set out in Note 18 of the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CEQO)

Mr. XIA Li Qun (Vice Chairman and CFO) (Nete 1)
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)
Mr. LAM Ka Yuy (Note 2)

Mr. WANG Guang Yu Mote 3

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. DING Ningning
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Mr. WU Chi Keung

Notes:

1. Re-designated as Vice Chairman on 18 November 2015
2. Re-designated as Executive Director on 4 March 2016
3. Ceased to act on 18 November 2015

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Company’s bye-laws,
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Messrs. LAM Ka Yu and LEE Luk Shiu shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF

SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the financial
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of directors and senior management as at 31
March 2016 are set out on pages 42 to 50 of the annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the financial year are set out in Note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures

of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

were as follows:

EERRG - HERORES 2R

RIBE-—RF=ZA=+—H EFR&ESTRAE
RARBIREEEEE (EEREFLAEGRIIE
XVER) 2Bty - MM REHTHEE AR EIRE
& 77 R R RIS 3521 e Prfr B 2 B iC it Prac i
ZREmMAR  EAERBRETRREMANE
AR R s FORRIAT ¢

(a) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company (a) ALQAZEBEREE
Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held share capital
Name of Directors Capacity BEERT BT
BEEnE g4 RGEE RABDLE
CHU Lam Yiu (Note2) Held through controlled corporations MNote D 1,279,262,415 41.18%
SR A3 12 BB HI AT Wi
XIA Li Qun Beneficial Owner 5,250,000 0.17%
BN B BB A
POON Chiu Kwok Beneficial Owner 3,000,000 0.10%
& A Y EalAA
LEE Luk Shiu Beneficial Owner 100,000 0.003%
K EmEBA
Notes: i%E -

1,279,262,415 ordinary shares of the Company were held by
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited,
Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise
Sino Investments Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited,
respectively. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole beneficial owner of the
aforesaid six companies.

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu settled all derivatives under a derivative
transaction (“Derivative”) by cash in October 2015 and January
2016 respectively (“Settlement”) and Settlement of such
Derivative related to a long position of a monetary value of
equivalent to 99,937,000 shares of the Company, details of
which were set out in the Company’s announcements published
on 14 October 2015 and 25 January 2016, respectively.

1. AR A Z1,279,262,4150 & i@ ik Ty 5 Bl
B Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful
Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited,
Raise Sino Investments Limited #1 Real Elite
Investments Limited #5748 ° kgL + A £
WA RAFE—ERERA ©

2. EMELZEHBIR=_ZT—AF+AR=ZT—
ANE—R B-ETEERRS ([HTEE
wl) BTHTEERBEUARSEREE ([4
) ZOEERZEESEMSSERRAA
99,937,000i8 47 & * FHIEBLH AT DA
RZE—RAF+A+HAR=ZT—AF—A
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(b) Interests in share options of the Company

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are detailed in the “Share Option Scheme” section
stated above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, none of the Directors
nor their close associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies as defined in the SFO.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the financial year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable

RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty
as a director of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors
and senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 17 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company for the year ended 31
March 2016.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2016, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the
following person(s)/corporation(s) held interests or short positions in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Substantial Shareholders

TERREE

Capacity
g
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager
RERE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the percentage of revenue from
sales of goods or rendering services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined accounted for approximately 48.96%
and the largest customer contributed approximately 17.81% to
the revenue from sales of goods or rendering services of the Group
(Yunnan Tobacco Materials (Group) Company Limited being the
largest customer), and the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined accounted for
approximately 18.77% and the largest supplier contributed
approximately 6.4% to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

FERRZES

RZZE—RF=ZA=1+—8 BRIESHABRD
AERO RESZER] —HATEE 2RI 0 &K
NEMREEAE B EENFE36IEFECEEREE
RMER - THAL/EZEEBEARAREEHITHRA
5% A FREER SRR ©

ARRZEBRER
Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held share capital

FAERTROBE GHERTRIEIL

340,091,660 10.95%
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group

The Group through its wholly owned subsidiary entered into a
framework agreement with Hongta Tobacco on 31 March 2015,
pursuant to which the Group shall continually provide tobacco
flavours and fragrances products, RTL, stem powder, auxiliary
materials and related services to Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and associates (collectively, “Hongta Tobacco Group”) for a
period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2018 (“Hongta Framework
Agreement”). Yunnan Tianhong is a 60% indirect subsidiary of the
Company. The remaining 40% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong
is held by Yunnan Hongta. Yunnan Hongta is wholly owned by
Hongta Tobacco. By virtue of such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong,
Hongta Tobacco Group are regarded as connected persons at
subsidiary level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the Listing Rules, all the transactions conducted between the
Group and Hongta Tobacco Group under the Hongta Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Group and are subject to compliance with the relevant disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Hongta
Framework Agreement, prices of the products will be by reference to
the bidding price (if applicable); or the prevailing market price. Such
prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no less favourable
than those terms offered by independent third party customers for
provision of similar products and services in its ordinary and usual
course of business. Payments of the transactions will be settled
in arrears by cash transfer, or such other manners as agreed by
the parties in accordance with the agreed timing and manners as
specified in the separate implementation agreements to be entered
into between the parties from time to time. The annual caps of the
continuing connected transactions for each of the three financial
years ending 31 March 2018 contemplated under the Hongta
Framework Agreement are RMB347,000,000, RMB365,000,000 and
RMB384,000,000, respectively.
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Continuing connected transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Group through its wholly owned subsidiary entered into a
framework agreement with Guangdong Tobacco on 3 February
2015, pursuant to which the Group shall continually provide
tobacco flavours and fragrances products, RTL, stem powder,
auxiliary materials and related services to Guangdong Tobacco and
its subsidiaries and associates (collectively, “Guangdong Tobacco
Company”) for a period from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 (“GD
Framework Agreement”).
owned subsidiary of the Company. Guangdong Jinke is a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Guangdong lJinye. Guangdong Tobacco holds
more than 10% equity interest in Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong
Tobacco Company are regarded as connected persons at the
subsidiary level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant

Guangdong Jinye is an indirect wholly

to the Listing Rules, all the transactions conducted between the
Group and Guangdong Tobacco Company under the GD Framework
Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Group and are subject to compliance with the relevant disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the GD Framework
Agreement, prices of the products will be by reference to the bidding
price; or the prevailing market price. Such prices and terms payable
to the Group shall be no less favourable than those terms offered by
independent third party customers for provision of similar products
and services in its ordinary and usual course of business. Payments
of the transactions will be settled in arrears by cash transfer, or such
other manners as agreed by the parties in accordance with the agreed
timing and manners as specified in the separate implementation
agreements to be entered into between the parties from time to
time. The annual cap of the continuing connected transactions for
the financial year ended 31 March 2016 contemplated under the GD
Framework Agreement is RMB427,180,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

For the financial year ended 31 March 2016, the transactions
between the Group and Hongta Tobacco Group under the Hongta
Framework Agreement and the transactions between the Group and
Guangdong Tobacco Company under the GD Framework Agreement
amounted to approximately RMB97,496,376 and RMB228,952,094
respectively.
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The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirm that the aforesaid
connected transactions have been entered into:

it

) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group's above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 'Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ and
with reference to Practice Note 740 ‘Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules’
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the above-
mentioned continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has
been provided to the Stock Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2016 are set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these related
party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2016, neither the Company nor

any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group's corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 51 to 71 of the annual
report.
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LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2016, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the year ended 31 March
2016 and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2016 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman and CEO

Hong Kong, 22 June 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HUABAO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huabao
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 95 to 207, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, and of their financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 June 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= b )
mEMBMRRE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBHEEBEEIN  FTESBHINEE T TIIR)
As at 31 March
MR=A=+—H
Notg 2016 2015
BT —E—RE —T—hF
ASSETS =
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B RERE 6 1,307,819 1,405,495
Land use rights iiﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬂé 7 185,688 194,060
Intangible assets mEE 8 3,261,635 2,897,367
Investments in associates REENR 2 & 9 337,616 227,795
Investment in a jointly controlled entity REREHEE 2 KE 10 - 6,987
Available-for-sale financial assets A HESREE 11 222,488 225,217
Deferred income tax assets FLFM%%RQF 12 79,788 65,194
5,395,034 5,022,115
Current assets ﬁ@?ﬁé
Inventories FE 13 834,024 818,433
Trade and other receivables ‘é’%&ﬁ{’@lﬂ& 14 1,440,690 1,309,693
Financial assets at fair value through Qﬁf"i@ﬁiﬂ,\ """"" £ 5
profit or loss FABENESREE 15 229,149 124,535
Available-for-sale financial assets HHECREE 11 165,617 -
Restricted bank deposit PR HI3R & 16 117,130 =
Short-term time deposits SRR lVES 16 220,527 951,802
Cash and cash equivalents B RESESEY 16 3,184,051 2,674,289
6,191,188 5,878,752
Total assets HWEE 11,586,222 10,900,867
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to RATEEFEAEN
the Company’s equity holders B @S
Share capital &N 17 310,666 310,432
Reserves fﬁﬁ 19 813,203 1,188,606
Retained earnings 1R EF| 20 9,063,371 7,670,008
10,187,240 9,169,046
Non-controlling interests JEEHI R = 343,178 234,796
Total equity R 10,530,418 9,403,842
LIABILITIES 8E&
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSFAE 12 85,329 72,607
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERMFRIE 22 38,441 =
123,770 72,607
Current liabilities ,ﬁ@bﬁ{i
Borrowings =% 21 18,002 750,278
Trade and other payables f\%&,ﬁ\ﬁﬂfﬁ QL] 22 794,679 562,030
Current income tax liabilities EHFREHRAaE 119,353 112,110
932,034 1,424,418
Total liabilities G- R 1,055,804 1,497,025
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 11,586,222 10,900,867
The notes on pages 100 to 207 are an integral part of these Z5100E207E KM it AR 4R A B 7§ 3R & 1) 2242 26
consolidated financial statements. e
On behalf of the Board RREZE
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mr. XIA Li Qun
RAMEELZL BERFEEE
Chairwoman Director

S
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Consolidated Income Statement

e W 3R

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

(= BHEBEHI

B EHAEETTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

Note 2016 2015

Bt 5E —E-REF —T—hHF
Sales ] 5 3,928,217 4,326,486
Cost of goods sold B EE Ak AN 24 (1,223,041) (1,301,169)
Gross profit ER 2,705,176 3,025,317
Other income and other gains — net Hi g A R Efn e zs — 558 23 197,427 263,205
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHEERX 24 (253,346) (204,650)
Administrative expenses THER 24 (901,154) (763,727)
Operating profit EEZER 1,748,103 2,320,145
Finance income b ON 85,973 83,095
Finance costs Bh & Ak X (12,558) (13,988)
Finance income — net BIFEUW A — F58 26 73,415 69,107
Share of profit/(loss) of associates and FE(HE: N 7] N2 TR 2 )

a jointly controlled entity B2 AN (FE) 9,10 11,397 (3,005)
Profit before income tax BRB AT B 1,832,915 2,386,247
Income tax expense FTi5 % 27 (365,380) (391,054)
Profit for the year REFZREF 1,467,535 1,995,193
Attributable to: FE4L
Equity holders of the Company KANGEZEEA 1,450,250 1,986,584
Non-controlling interests FEPE I MR 2 17,285 8,609

1,467,535 1,995,193
Earnings per share for profit FARQABERTEABIER

attributable to the Company’s BRER

equity holders for the year
— Basic (HK cents) — 2R (B() 28(a) 46.69 64.02
— Diluted (HK cents) — #58 (B() 28(b) 46.66 63.93

The notes on pages 100 to 207 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mEEZEBER

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBHEEBEEIN  FTESBHINEE T TIIR)
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1t—-HLHEE
2016 2015
—E—AE T —hF
Profit for the year AEERER 1,467,535 1,995,193
Other comprehensive income: Hip 2 mEUkE :
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A B R E B iy H H
Fair value changes on available-for-sale AEHESRHEEY
financial assets, net of tax KRB D N EES (9.451) 13,461
Transfer of reserves to income statement upon BHERHREESREE
sale of available —for-sale financial assets, meEEEL kSR
net of tax RTRE Scak=:] (8,392) =
Currency translation differences on foreign operations BN v SisihE =58 (472,346) 6,341
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax AEERBEEMSEE (490,189) 19,802
Total comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax AEERBEZHKNEEE 977,346 2,014,995
Total comprehensive income attributable to: EiEE2ERSEAREE
Equity holders of the Company RAalE=FAA 971,149 2,006,322
Non-controlling interests FEPE S MR 2 6,197 8,673
977,346 2,014,995

The notes on pages 100 to 207 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

,T/\ ®
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

e Em B ER

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEMRIZERER AT

(= BHEBEHI

Attributable to equity holders

B EHAEETTIIR)

of the Company
ROAREEAARE
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves  earings Total interests equity
Izt k& fi  RBEWN &t FENLEE 8RR
Balance at 1 April 2014 H-g-BERA-R 30130 111033 7265105 ] 8685571 314658 9000229
Fair value changes on avallable-for-sale financial assets, net of tax AHELRAE /BRENALEED - 13410 - 13461 - 13,461
Currency translation differences ghagze - 6w -6 64 6,341
Profit for the year KEREA - - 1986,584 | 1,986,584 8609 1,995,193
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 HE-Z-RE-f=t-RLEENRANGEE - 19738 1,986,584 | 2,006,322 8673 201499
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: EALREEANRS
Appropriations from net profit BAFIRG 19,20 - ST (54251) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling inferests M ERE RS = = - - (45 (45
Acquisition of additional interest in Sino Investment High-Tech Ltd. M S B R B R AR
("Sino Investment") from non-controling interest (T |) Eahieess - (98 - (984) (30,176 (40,000
Acquistion of additional interest in Huabao Korea Co,, Ltd M BRI E B RS gt
("Huabao Korea") from non-controlling interest ({2288 ) #hEs - 5,137 - 5137 (23806 (18,669
Employee share option scheme EEEREE:
- Isse of shares upon exercise of share options - TR EREmE TR 00 8970 - %20 = 9210
Final and special dividend for the year ended 31 March 2014 HECE-ME-A=t-HILERZERR
ERIRE 20 - - (A2,78)|  (542,741) - (4274)
Interim and special dividend for the 6 months ended 30 Septerber 2014 HE T-MEAR=THINEAZHER
ERRe 0 - - (oBA6R9)| (984689 - (98689
Total transactions with owners BERARSER 300 58534 (1581681)[ (1522847)  (88535) (1,611,382
Balance at 31 March 2015 R=Z-1E=A=1-H 310432 1188606 7,670,008 | 9169046  23479% 9403842
Balance at 1 April 2015 A-Z-1%MmA-A 310432 1,188,606 7,670,008 | 9,169,046 234796 9,403,842
Fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax A ESREE RRENAL EES - (9451) -1 (9451 - (9.451)
Reversal of fair value change on disposal of avallable-for-sale financal asses, SETHENESHAENARRENNER
net of tax RIS - (839 -l (839) - (839
Currency trandlation differences g EE - (461,258) - (461.258)  (11,088)  (472,346)
Profit for the year FERRA - - 1450250 | 1450250 1785 1467535
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2016 BE-E-AEZR=t-ALEENZENGAE - (479,101) 1450250 | 971,149 6197 977,346
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: RENAEEANRS
Appropriations from net profit BRI 19,20 - 56981 (56981) - - -
Dividends payable to non-controlling interests MR ESRAARE - - - - (8,947) (8,947)
Dividends paic to non-controling interests R3EERIERE RS - - - - @) e
Acquistion of equity nterest in Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma CoLtd YEESTENERERAR (S5 ViR
("Yancheng Chunzhu") 30() - - - - 84,647 84,647
Acquisiion of equity interest in VMR Products LLC and ts subsidiaries ("VMR") ~ JAEBVMR Products LLCREFAR ([VWR]) 285 300) - - - - 118883 118883
Acquisition of additional equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu from EERaEg sl YR
non-controlling interest 31(a) - 39764 -1 39764 (39,764) -
Repurchase of shares in VR WENHRFEEWMRZ R 31(b) - (50m0) - GO0 () (12.213)
Non-controling interest from newly-ncorporated subsidiaies RE e 22 - - - - 3,40 3,40
Employee share option scheme [ESERE:
- Issue of shares upon exercise of share options - TEEREMRTHIR B4 9631 - 9,865 - 9,865
Share-based payment Ry AR
- Value of consultant service e -3 - 239 - 2392
Unclaimed dividend for forfeited shares TR REIRE - - 9% 9% - 9%
Total transactions with owners EFEARSEE B4 103698 (56887)[ 47045 102185 149,230
Balance at 31 March 2016 RZZ-REZB=1-H 310666 813203 9,063,371 (10,187,240 343,178 10,530,418

SE100E207E MM it R A A M IS MR M BB AD

,T/'\ o

The notes on pages 100 to 207 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEERER
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBHEEBEEIN  FTESBHINEE T TIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=t-HLEE

Note 2016 2015
PiisE “E-RE “E-h%F

Cash flows from operating activities BEFH2RERE
Cash generated from operations BEELVRS 32 1,835,973 2,582,464
Income tax paid BRFMER (363,744) (440,569)
Net cash generated from operating activities EETHELRSTE 1,472,229 2,141,895
Cash flows from investing activities RETHNEEHRE
Acquisitions of subsidiaries Wi B AR 30 (294,497) =
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets WEARHESRERE 11 (228,833) (52,558)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets ~ H &R ftHES R EEMGHE 38,384 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of available-for-sale WEAHEESRHEET M

financial assets BER (43,204) =
Acquisition of an associate WekBE N A (5,196) =
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly controlled HERFIEHER HEAR

entity/an associate P E 6,338 10,952
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through BARRABESIRTERREEN

profit or loss SREE - (95,877)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, land use right ~ FEAEE « HBLRE - HiEERE

and intangible asset REVEE (137,262) (154,179)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME BB REBEMEHE 32 302 375
Short-term time deposits released/(placed) R/ (FA) EHEHSHEFR 684,259 (144,425)
Increase in restricted bank deposit HEZRIRS (117,130) =
Dividend received BHARS 20,495 3,089
Interest received 2 UFIE 90,192 83,088
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities ~ REFIEHEL /(FTH) 2HEEE 13,848 (349,535)
Cash flows from financing activities RETBHNREESRE
Dividends paid to shareholders and non-controlling interests  [AIAR 52 F2 FE422 ) M A 45 S (AR, (48,731) (1,565,695)
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from IR R B A )

non-controlling interests FIMES - (58,669)
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests R ER A NTE 2R 3,240 -
Proceeds from issue of shares in connection with exercise 1T R M BT RFT AR

of share options FT{S %8 9,865 9,271
New short-term bank borrowings LR BETER - 290,150
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings BRRARTER (756,649) (65,150)
Repayment to a shareholder BRRRFE - (93,985)
Interest paid BERFE (14,231) (13,489)
Repurchase of shares from non-controlling interests [ FEE ] M B AR (254) =
Net cash used in financing activities REFBFAZRSTE (806,760) (1,497,567)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BeRBEESEYEMTE 679,317 294,793
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RUA—RZzBRE kAL EEY 2,674,289 2,375,345
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents E¥IMEHIES KRS SBYHNFE (169,555) 4,151
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March REA=+-HzRERBEZEY 16 3,184,051 2,674,289

The notes on pages 100 to 207 are an integral part of these Z100E207.8 KMt A A 4R & B 15 3 3% B 22 42 26
consolidated financial statements. 7
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEMRIZERER AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours, reconstituted tobacco leaves,
aroma raw materials, fragrances and new materials in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu,
who is the Chairwoman of the Board of Directors, holds
approximately 41% beneficial equity interest in the Company
as at 31 March 2016, and is the single largest shareholder of
the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of HK dollars (“HKD'000") unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 June 2016.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by remeasurement of available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

(= BHEBEHI
1.

B EHAEETTIIR)

—RER

ZEFRERERAR ([ARAF]) RERE
AR AERRER AR - Hifit=E
b #iF ZClarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 April 2015:

Amendment to HKAS 19 on contributions from
employees or third parties to defined benefit
plans. The amendment distinguishes between
contributions that are linked to service only in
the period in which they arise and those linked to
service in more than one period. The amendment
allows contributions that are linked to service, and
do not vary with the length of employee service, to
be deducted from the cost of benefits earned in the
period that the service is provided. Contributions
that are linked to service, and vary according to
the length of employee service, must be spread
over the service period using the same attribution
method that is applied to the benefits.

Amendments from annual improvements to HKFRSs
— 2010 - 2012 Cycle, on HKFRS 8, ‘Operating
segments’, HKAS 16, 'Property, plant and
equipment’ and HKAS 38, ‘Intangible assets’ and
HKAS 24, 'Related party disclosures’.

Amendments from annual improvements to HKFRSs
— 2011 - 2013 Cycle, on HKFRS 3, ‘Business
combinations’, HKFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’
and HKAS 40, ‘Investment property’.

e P HRAR M
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEMRIZERER AT

e U TS R R P RE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The Group has early adopted amendments to
HKAS16 and HKAS41, “Agriculture: bearer plants”.
As at 31 March 2016, the Group recognised its
newly acquired bearer plants as property, plant
and equipment amounting to approximately
HKD3,396,000 (2015: None).

The impact of adoption of the improvements and
amendments are not material to the Group.

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts
and Audit” of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation during
the financial year, as a result, there are changes to
presentation and disclosures of certain information
in the consolidated financial statements.

(RRAEBESN - A SFEINEETTIIR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P HRAR M

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBAEHRBEI  TESBEABETILIIR)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

() The following new standards and amendments to
standards are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group:

FREHBERBE (&)

21 RREE (H)

(@ TIMDRERMAZETFERE
BRANHDZERI e 3R AR RIRE DL :

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
ZEBBRN
FEHBRBEN
HKFRS 14 “Regulatory deferral accounts” BETERELERE 1458 1 January 2016
[EEBIRERRE | —T—%—A—A
HKFRS 11 (Amendment) on accounting for  EBMERELERE115% (1&82) 1 January 2016
acquisitions of interests in joint operations [ AR E SN RE] —ET—RF¥—HA—H
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 (Amendment) on BAGFIERSE 1658 & 55385 1 January 2016
clarification of acceptable methods of () [TEREEMAESHE —E—RF—H—H
depreciation and amortisation B%05 |
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendment) BEVBRELE 10K RBEEGS 1 January 2016
on the sale or contribution of assets ARIE285 (Bk) [1EEEFERE —T—RE—H—H
between an investor and its associate BEAENECHMEEL G
or joint venture FE
HKAS 27 (Amendment) “Equity method in BB ELFE275% (B2 1 January 2016
separate financial statements” [BS sk 2 i m K —ZE—RF—HA—H
Annual improvements 2014 on changes 2014%F [ 2E R 752012-201438 51 1 January 2016
from the 2012-2014 cycle of the annual FERETEE R E —E—RF—H—H
improvements project
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 BBV ELRE 1058 - BAENE 1 January 2016
(Amendment) on investment entities: WEEAF 125 N EBetEH —T—XRF—H—H
applying the consolidation exception 52858 ({82h) BN E T EEE -
FER & B e ISR E
HKAS 1 for the disclosure initiative ERGFTERZE 1R (B 1 January 2016
[ ERET 2l NG
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with BB ELEAFE 1558 1 January 2018
customers” [BFPERKA —ZE-N\F—H—H
HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” BRI REERESR &R T A 1 January 2018
- N\F—AF—H
HKFRS 16 “Leases” ARV B EERE 1698 [1HE ] 1 January 2019
—E-hnF—H—H

Management is currently assessing the impact of
the above new and amended standards to the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

B IR B LAV % AR 2R RIS AR S B Ay
RAMBEwREZE
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEMRIZERER AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

()

Business combinations

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying amount
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an
asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(RRAEBESN - A SFEINEETTIIR)
2. IESHRREE (&)

2.2 #AKRAE (H#)

(@)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

()

(if)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions -
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequent accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. It means
the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group's investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognises the amount adjacent to
share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor's interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

()

Jointly controlled entity

The Group has applied HKFRS 11
arrangements” to all joint arrangements. According

“Joint

to HKFRS 11, Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
each investor has. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that make

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD"),
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group's presentation currency.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “finance income or costs”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “other

income and other gains — net”.

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analysed between currency
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the securities and other changes
in the carrying amount of the securities. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities
classified as available for sale, are included in other
comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group’s
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of

construction of property, plant and equipment incurred

plus interest capitalised less any impairment losses. No

provision for depreciation is made on construction in

progress until such time the relevant assets are completed

and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at

historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 years
Leasehold improvements 2-5 years or

over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and other gains —
net”, in the consolidated income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Land use rights

2.8

Land use rights are up-front payments to acquire long-
term interests in the usage of land. They are stated at
cost and charged to the consolidated income statement
over the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line
basis, net of any impairment losses.

Intangible assets

(a)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to
the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs to sell.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5
years.

Patents

Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (Continued)
(f)  Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly include product
design and domain name. They are initially
recognised and measured at cost or estimated fair
value of intangible assets acquired through business
combinations. They have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit

or loss,

loans and receivables and available-for-

sale. The classification depends on the purposes
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges. Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to
be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they
are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
The
Group and Company’s loans and receivables

are classified as non-current assets.
comprise “trade and other receivables”,
“cash and cash equivalents”,
deposits”, “amounts due from subsidiaries”
“short-term time deposits” in the
statements of financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

210 £REE (&)

2.10.1 Classification (Continued) 2.10.1 248 (&)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” category are presented in the income
statement within “other income and other gains
— net” in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income statement
as part of other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10

2.11

2.12

Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in
the income statement as “other income and other
gains — net”.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment
on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12

2.13

2.14

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its costs is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based
on normal operating capacity).
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

It excludes borrowing

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method,
impairment.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15

2.16

2.17

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18

2.19

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on
foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the
entity’s functional currency.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

(= BHEBEHI
2.

B EHAEETTIIR)

ITREHBRBE (&)

2.18

2.19

BRI A

ERGEREE HERsLERERE
EHELARL - BRERHEHEEUELR
ERAENHEENEE) N —REEEE
B - MAZFEENKARN > BEE
BEABLBHXHABEREKHEES
1k o

HREEENR AAFREREENIH
MERRRERDORERA - BEBEAE
RE RN E R AR

AR ERR AR LR AE
EEENEA SR

ERERBRENEEBMEESEHE
ERANRBOIINEERELZRE - ER
MEBRMNBEREWELNSMBRXR
BREIBUANEEREATRSAEEE
Y8 R B R B SN R SR B R B A O i K
ERZHANMEEZRE ZESBREE
B BB B LUE AR5 -

e AN
BHRNEASEARKLEIHTEER
78 am 3 AR 7% T 8 ST AN RO (B 7% © AnFE A 3R
BT B —F AR (MIDELES
REERD - AITTRERR) - R0 8
RRBEE TN BAIFRDEE -

BHRNFONTNRAABERER - Hig
MABERNSIEIRBHERAGTE -



125

2015-2016 Annual Report ¥

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is recognised,
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not

using the

recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income

tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHHEHEE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits 221 BEREF

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“"MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover,
all the employees of the Group’s entities incorporated
in Mainland China of the PRC (the “Mainland China”)
participate in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare benefits,
organised and administered by the local governments.
The Group also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules for the
employees of the subsidiary located in Germany. The
Group has no further payment obligations once these
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are
due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction
in the future payments is available. No pension obligation
is required under the Botswana laws and regulation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment

(a)

Share option scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration
for equity instruments (options) of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

3 excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

(RRAEBESN - A SFEINEETTIIR)
IESHRRAE (&)

2.

222 URBXNZHME

(a)

B EaT 2

ARARE —BBEREN N
Bfn S Bl 2 9 5T 81 - RIRZ A
g TRRIEEBNRBERRK
SEHETA (BhE) nHE-
BEREIRERTRBREMNREMH
RBOXABERIARER - E
RERNBSE  DH2RBRERE
WEBRE 2 AR EBEEE

o BREMMHEE (PIWNE
BHE)

o T EREEMETSRBIRMT
(Blan@ A - HEERBE
MMEBERFERAANEE

o  BIREMIFHEEEMSE (FIA
RERBRE) L -

FMIZRBMRBIERTRHEESR
FATRMA TITREBRESE MR
R BANBSHEERBHHE
NHER - BEARERTARE
B TE AT ATRE AR AT RO HAR LS -
ERLBRT BEAIEERH
BHIZ AR AR TS - ULt A
HIEY R fo B (B 70 #E 52 AR 7% R 46 1
HEEH AR BEARREXEL
st - EEEREHR - FEK
RIFTIHRIE MR GRIFERT &
HEHATENERESRE MG
e TBEMRSERERYRGEE
B5] (A MEE  UHERE
HARE R -



129

2015-2016 Annual Report ¥

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Share option scheme (Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Share award scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled plan, under
which the entity receives services as consideration
for equity instruments (share award) of the
Group. For equity-settled share-based payment
transactions, the Group measures the goods or
services received, and the corresponding increase
in equity, directly, at the fair value of the goods or
services received, unless that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably. If the Group cannot estimate
reliably the fair value of the goods or services
received, the Group shall measure their value, and
the corresponding increase in equity, indirectly, by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value of the services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is charged
to the income statement when the services are
received.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of shares
that are expected to vest based on the service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and
value-added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when

it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to

the entity; and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably
assumed.

Delivery does not occur until the products have
been delivered to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b)  the management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(c)  there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets
and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for
use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not exceeding
five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as
an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25

2.26

2.27

Operating lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow interest rate risk, and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any
significant price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.

(a)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
financial instruments that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional
currency in which they are measured. The
functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is
RMB, and the functional currency of the HK
subsidiaries is HKD. The foreign exchange risk
of the Group primarily arises from dividend
receivables which are denominated in RMB
and borrowings which are denominated in
Euro (“EUR"). The exchange rate of HKD
against RMB and cash repatriation from the
PRC are subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government. The majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operate in
the PRC and most of their transactions are
denominated in RMB. The Group did not
have other significant exposure to foreign
exchange risk.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If HKD had strengthened/weakened by

5% against RMB during the year ended 31

March 2016, with all other factors remaining

unchanged, the profit after income tax for

the year and equity as at year end date would

have been affected as follows:
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group's
performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, if interest rates
on borrowings had been 1 percentage points
higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, there would have been no material
impact to the profit after income tax for the
year.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which
are classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at
the end of each reporting period. If the fair
values of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss held by the Group
had been 5% higher/lower, profit after tax
for the year would have been approximately
HKD9,739,000 and HKD5,293,000 higher/
lower, for the years ended 31 March 2016
and 2015, respectively.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with
banks and financial institutions, credit exposure
to customers and related parties arising from
outstanding receivables.

As at the reporting dates, all the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits and
short-term time deposits are placed in high quality
financial institutions without significant exposure to
credit risk.

The Group currently sells substantially all its
products namely flavours, reconstituted tobacco
leaves, aroma raw materials, fragrances and new
materials in the PRC domestic market. Credit
is granted for a period up to 6 months to the
major customers. The credit period is determined
according to an assessment made on the financial
conditions and past payment history of these
customers with the approval obtained from senior
management. As at 31 March 2016, the 5 largest
debtors accounted for approximately 40% (2015:
39%) of total trade receivables balance of the
Group.

The Directors are of the view that most customers
with outstanding balances as at 31 March 2016
are either existing customers with a long business
relationship with the Group and/or reputable
companies in the industry. The risk of credit default
is considered to be low and accordingly, the
provision for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2016
amounting to approximately HKD 13,763,000 (2015:
HKD7,044,000) is considered adequate to cover any
significant potential credit risk.

As at 31 March 2016, the Company had certain
balances due from subsidiaries. The Directors do not
consider that there is significant credit risk arising
from these balances in light of the past repayment
history and operations of these subsidiaries.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

(BRABHAEIN -

3.

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

MEmBEE (&)

Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMEEKBEZR (&)
(c)  Liquidity risk © HEEEE
Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating RenesRAREERNKE X
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling BT - ESEEFEENRESE
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to CHERKOEEHEAE  BREEH
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational EeRNEETFE  BRKRER
needs and that the Group does not breach SETEREERGR - LEE
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities. BERTEBEBMENE - K
Such forecasting takes into consideration the FER - FERNBABRAKE
Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance, EBIR - RINELH) ESE A Bl R
compliance with internal statement of financial E — Pl E RSl (@) -
position ratio targets and if applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.
The table below analyses the Group’'s and the TRETAEERARRNF
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity EERBEANIIHAR  RE
groupings based on the remaining period at the HEERBERAEZAREIHAMN
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. FIABBETHONT - ERAEE
The amounts disclosed in the table are based on WEBEARCUHBRNERRER
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances 2 oBE—FRIHADNESERN
due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, HEREAEEBARNMENTETE
as the impact of discounting is not significant. X
Between Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and 3 and
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years
—FU0T —FEWF WMEE=ZF ZFENF
Group £E
At 31 March 2016 REZB—RF
=A=+—8
Borrowings (including B (BIEERT
interest) FE) 18,276 - - -
Trade and other payables % 5 & Hfth fE (S
excluding statutory HIE (T BE
liabilities and advances EERER
from customers AR 664,270 17,326 13,678 3,192
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF
=A=+—8
Borrowings (including B (BEERT
interest) 2D 761,469 - - -
Trade and other payables 85 & HthEf
excluding statutory HIE (T BIE
liabilities and advances ETERE R
from customers SEENEY) 449,584 = = =

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s net current assets
is HKD5,259,154,000 (2015: HKD4,454,334,000).

R—ZB—-—XRNE=HA=+H"
AEBZRBEEFEABE
5,259,154,0007C (=& — A & :
FB 4 454,334,0007T) °
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing the net
debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group’s net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents.
Therefore, the Group’s debt-to-equity ratio is zero as at
31 March 2016 and 2015.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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3.3

EXEBER
AEENEAEERRENRRERS
BELSE  UARFIRMEHRMAEM
RSB ARENZD - RESERSRED
BARBBAREESRA

BTHEFRARELRERE  ~AKERB
EHEBEXMNTRENBRSEE - MR
DIKHERRE  BITHRILEEE
PURRAETS

AEBRKEEHELNRSRAEHA
KRB L BIERERER -

REBUEARBBELRERAEARE
b o bbb R THIRIRE TS H R AR E R
AE - AEENEBFERRER (2
ERBIEERBER) RERE LIRS
EEY - Bt AEER-_ZE-RFR
—E-RE=A=T—HNEABEL
KT -

DN ARBEME

UTFE AR BENENSBT AR
D8 DRBEEAABEERRDEAML
BERTHARBIETE - TR ERNEE L
T~

- HRBEEXRABEEEDHGNHR
B (RERE) (F—B) :

- BRTHEIERBRNREN  ZE
EMAENAHRENEMEA
ATEE (APl ER) s (A
REBR) (F=E) :

— BEMNMBGBEWEKRETEHERMS
KA (ATAEREA) (8
=)o



139

2015-2016 Annual Report ¥

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3

3.4

8.5

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 March 2016 was the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of this
financial instrument traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price.

The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were the
available-for-sale financial assets, of which the changes
for the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015 are
presented in Note 11. In addition, the remeasurements
mentioned in Note 9(c) during the financial year were of
level 3.There were no transfers into or out of level 3.

Other than available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, there are no
financial instruments that were measured at fair value as
at 31 March 2016 and 2015.

Market approach is adopted in valuation of available-for-
sale financial assets. There were no changes in valuation
techniques during the year.

Group'’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuations of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer (“CFO"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation team
at least once every six months, in line with the Group'’s
reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.
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e P HRAR M
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.9.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates
(Note 8).

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast and terminal growth rate
used in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
flavours segment had been 16.6 percentage points
lower, 4.7 percentage points higher or 3% lower
than management’s estimates at 31 March 2016
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate or forecast and terminal growth
rate used in the value-in-use calculation for the
CGUs of reconstituted tobacco leaves segment had
been 2.6 percentage points lower, 0.9 percentage
points higher or 1 percentage points lower than
March 2016
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would have recognised an
impairment of goodwill amounting to approximately
HKD522,000, HKD826,000 or HKD1,062,000,
respectively.

management’s estimates at 31
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4.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of Yancheng
Chunzhu under aroma raw materials segment had
been 2.8 percentage points lower, 3.3 percentage
points higher or 6.9 percentage points lower
than management’s estimates at 31 March 2016
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would have recognised an
impairment of goodwill amounting to approximately
HKD340,000, HKD364,000 or HKD126,000,
respectively.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast and terminal growth rate
used in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
fragrances segment had been 1 percentage point
lower, 1 percentage point higher or 1 percentage
point lower than management’s estimates at 31
March 2016 respectively, with all other assumptions
remaining unchanged, the Group would have
recognised an impairment of goodwill amounted to
approximately HKD3,854,000, HKD13,190,000 or
HKD9,798,000, respectively.

If the budgeted gross margin or estimated pre-tax
discount rate used in the value-in-use calculation
for the CGUs of VMR under flavour segment had
been 1.8 percentage points lower or 2.7 percentage
points higher than management’s estimates at 31
March 2016 respectively, with all other assumptions
remaining unchanged, the Group would have
recognised an impairment of goodwill amounting
to approximately HKD386,000 or HKD6,000. If
no terminal growth was expected, with all other
assumptions remaining unchanged, the Group
would not have recognised an impairment of
goodwill.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax and Deferred Taxation

The Group’s subsidiary that operates in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognized when
management considers it's probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilized.
The outcome of their actual utilization may be
different.

Dividends policy of subsidiaries

According to the relevant regulations of the
Corporate Income Tax Laws, when a foreign
investment enterprise distributes dividends out of
the profits earned from 1 January 2008 onwards
to its overseas investors, it will be subject to
withholding income tax. The applicable withholding
income tax rate varies with the origin of the
overseas investors.

The Directors estimated that a portion of profits
generated by the PRC subsidiaries would be
distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent
companies and the approval on the treaty rate
will be obtained. Therefore, deferred income tax
liabilities had been provided based on 5% or 10%
of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

()

(d)

Dividends policy of subsidiaries (Continued)

As at 31 March 2016, deferred income tax
liabilities of HKD343,470,000 (31 March 2015:
HKD358,457,000) had not been recognised for
the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted profits of certain PRC subsidiaries.
The Directors have decided not to distribute these
earnings.

The Directors will regularly review the funding
requirements of the Group and thus revise the
dividend distribution policy of its subsidiaries as
appropriate.

Business combination

Accounting for acquisitions requires the Group to
allocate the cost of acquisition to specific assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. In
connection with the acquisition of the subsidiaries
(Note 30), the Group has undertaken a process
to identify all assets and liabilities acquired.
Judgements made in identifying all acquired assets
and liabilities, determining the estimated fair value
assigned to each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset’s useful lives,
could materially impact the calculation of goodwill
and depreciation and amortisation charges in
subsequent periods. Estimated fair values are based
on information available at the acquisition date and
on expectations and assumptions that have been
deemed reasonable by management. Determining
the estimated useful lives of tangible and intangible
assets acquired also requires judgement.
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5.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organized its operations into five main
operating segments:

(1) Flavours;

(2)  Reconstituted tobacco leaves;
(3) Aroma raw materials;

(4)  Fragrances; and

(5)  New materials.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as
the Company’s executive directors (the ‘Executive Directors’).
The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments based
on these reports. Due to the change in the structure of
the internal organisation, the newly acquired subsidiary,
Yancheng Chunzhu together with existing entities with similar
products which were included in the flavour segment previously
are now presented as a new operating segment, aroma raw
materials segment. Accordingly, the comparative figures of
last year has been reclassified. In addition, the newly acquired
subsidiary VMR was included in the flavours segment currently
as it is so treated in the Group’s internal reporting
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O

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of flavours,
reconstituted tobacco leaves, aroma raw materials, fragrances
and new materials segments:

(1

2)

(3)

4)

(5)

Flavours segment includes research and development,
production and sale of flavours products.

Reconstituted tobacco leaves segment includes research
and development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves.

Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
material or generated from chemical process.

Fragrances segment includes research and development,
production and sale of fragrances products.

The new materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of new materials
products that are innovative, functional, and applicable
to tobacco industry.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of operating profit.
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5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. #XERSIEE (&)

(CONTINUED)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2016 is HE-_Z—AEF-A=1+—HLEFEEZHHE
presented below: BI250T
Year ended 31 March 2016
BE-Z-AEZA=t-ALEFE
Reconstituted Aroma
tobacco raw New Total

Flavours leaves  materials Fragrances  materials  segments  Corporate Total

=AER EEER EFN  BRER we APE &% @3t
Total turnover BEEE 2,809,731 699,794 351,583 82,033 74,750 4,017,891 - 4,017,891
Inter-segment sales AEHREHEE (84,110) (1,544) (4,018 @ - (89,674) - (89,674)
Segment turnover - net PAELLEE-TE 272560 698250 347565 82,031 74750 3,028217 - 3,08217
Segment result PHEE 1,463,848 229,729 57,327 1,231 13,580 1,771,721 (23,618) 1,748,103
Finance income BIFIMA 85,973
Finance costs BERA (12,558)
Finance income - net BB — 58 73,415
Share of profit of associates and ~ JEfEBEE AR R LR

a jointly controlled entity mHEE 7 BA 11,397

Profit before income tax BHAIRF 1,832,915
Income tax expense it (365,380)
Profit for the year KEERA 1,467,535
Depreciation bl 47,49 86,890 9,853 1,669 13,937 159,845 7 159,852
Amortisation Bk 45,222 7,588 7338 826 2 60,976 - 60,976

As at 31 March 2016

R=B-RE=ZA=1-A
Reconstituted Aroma
tobacco raw New Total
Flavours leaves  materials Fragrances  materials  segments  Corporate Total

RABE EEEh BRM  RARER MR DA &% &t

Segment assets AHEE 6,861,856 3,315,418 807,058 153,430 222,692 11,360,454 225,768 11,586,222
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BrBEHBEI - FTESBEABET THIR)
5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. #XBERIHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2015 is BE T HF=A=t—BILFEZHHE
presented below: K270
Year ended 31 March 2015
HE-Z-RF=A=1-ALEE
Reconstituted Aroma
tobacco raw New Total

Flavours leaves  materials  Fragrances  materials  segments  Corporate Total

REER EEER FR#  BRER g S ) &5 @t
Total turnover matE 2,954,577 974,301 275,219 85,075 86,769 4,375,941 - 4,375,941
Inter-segment sales AHBHE (16,273) (28,727) (4,424) (31) = (49,455) = (49,455)
Segment turnover - net PUEEE-FE 293830 5574 270795 85044 86769 4326486 - 4306486
Segment result iR E 1,852,235 417,891 45,930 10,654 15311 2,342,021 (21,876) 2,320,145
Finance income BIEUA 83,095
Finance costs BEKK (13,988)
Finance income - net BEMA - 58 69,107
Share of loss of associates and EEBENFR

a jointly controlled entity HAEHERZER (3,005)

Profit before income tax B A 2 A 2,386,247
Income tax expense s (391,054)
Profit for the year TEERF 1,995,193
Depreciation e 44,322 83,619 8,110 1,682 13,403 151,136 8 151,144
Amortisation B 30,739 12,063 1,546 842 - 45,190 - 45,190

As at 31 March 2015

RZZ-RF=A=1-R
Reconstituted Aroma
tobacco raw New Total
Flavours leaves  materials  Fragrances  materials  segments  Corporate Total

RAER EEER ERE  RAER s A k] it

Segment assets AHEE 6,705,890 3,353,107 499,051 164,299 161,573 10,883,920 16,947.-10,900,867
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5.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without inclusion of unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs, finance income and share of results of associates and
a jointly controlled entity. This is the measure reported to
chief operating decision makers for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

The total of non-current assets, other than financial instruments
and deferred tax assets, of the Group as at 31 March 2016 and
2015 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales
of flavours, reconstituted tobacco leaves, aroma raw materials,
fragrances, and new materials to customers mainly located in
the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer amounted to 18% (2015: 19%) of the Group’s total
revenue. These revenues are attributable to flavours segment.

(= BHEBEHI
5.

A& EH BB TILIIR)
EXRERIBER (H)

DHEERRRBEN BN EPALEE
BARDEXL - BEKA - MHKRA K EIEE
BRRRARENER S - WO REETE
ERR/DEERMFHEDE 2 RIR A EE
RERREZDIHTT -

BRem TAMRERSREENIN RF—
NER—Z-—HF=A=+—HBAKENIER

PEELBRTIZMANEA -

KEIFEFHRATERFEEHERAR
B EBEER  BRE - BRERRAMHT
BARRF -

RIFRRRAINBE R RA L EBE AU A 18%
“E—RF:19%)c BEENRARHRASE
TEDEBEE LA o
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HmRME

PR S EABETITIIR)

6. M- HEBERRHE

Furniture,
Plant and Motor  fixtures and Leasehold Construction
Note Buildings  machinery vehicles  equipment improvements in progress  Others Total
fl > %8
ifs: BF HERRE RE EL ] HERE  REIE 0] @t

At 1 April 2014 R=B-MEMA-A
Cost R 766,269 825,529 87,170 186,960 25,006 117,953 - 2,008,887
Accumulated depreciation  ZH47E (184.256)  (44,649) (49,045  (92,480) (12,960) - - (583390)
Net book amount FEFE 582,013 580,880 38,125 94,480 12,046 117,953 - 1425497
Year ended 31 March 2015 HZ-F-FF=A=1-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April ~ A—REEEE 582,013 580,880 38,125 94,480 12,06 117,953 - 1425497
Additions AE 2,968 16,451 4,036 11,674 3,520 95,670 - 134,319
Transfers g 24,165 41,004 10 7,609 - (72,788) - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HENBAF (654) - = = = (2,548) - (3,202)
Disposals HeE 32 - (1,213) (15) (143) (100) - - (1,471)
Depreciation hE 2 (37,713) (82,040) (9,614) (19,356) (2,421) - - (151,144)
Currency translation differences §%#E 2% 415 (1.240) (10) (270) (32) 2,633 - 1,49
Net book amount at 31 March R=A=T-BEEZE 571,194 553,842 32,532 93,994 13,013 140,920 - 140549
At 31 March 2015 R-E-RE=F=1-A
Cost A 793,107 878,032 90,702 204,467 27,489 140,920 - 1347
Accumulated depreciation  ZFHE @1913)  (324,190) (58,170)  (110,473) (14,476) - - (12922
Net book amount SHFE 571,194 553,842 32,532 93,994 13,013 140,920 - 1,4054%
Yearended 31 March 2016 BZ=F-~E=A=t-RLEE
Net book amount at 1 April ~ REA-BEEFE 571,194 553,842 32,532 93,994 13,013 140,920 - 140549
Additions E 5,852 7,292 4,238 12,310 10,261 56,130 3,544 99,627
Transfers &h 53,125 61,481 15 3,155 34,861 (152,637) - -
Acquisition of equity interest

in Yancheng Chunzhu WA e 30(a) 11,449 17,718 564 1,698 - 3,716 - 35,145
Acquisition of equity interest

in VMR VMR fRE 30(b) - - 107 3128 4,689 - - 7924
Disposals e 3 - (1,914) (235) (340) 10 (437) - (2,916)
Provisions for impaiment AR % - (15,058) - - - - - (15,058
Depreciation i 24 (39,650) (83,335) (9.737) (19,962) (7.017) - (151)  (159,852)
Currency translation differences §¥#E =% (27,075) (24,995) (1,400) (4.220) (496) (4.363) 3 (62,546)
Net book amount at 31 March W= B=T—REmEE 574,895 515,031 26,084 89,763 55,321 43,329 339 1,307,819
At 31 March 2016 R=B-~E=A=t-H
Cost A 829,232 914,211 91,213 218,935 80,884 43,329 3544 2,181,348
Accumulated depreciation ESEiE (254,337)  (399,180) (65129) (129,172 (25,563) - (148)  (873,529)
Net book amount FEFE 574,895 515,031 26,084 89,763 55,321 43,329 33% 1,307,819
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6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories:

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

6. W= #ERRE (H)

PERAT DRI

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2016 2015

Mok —E-RE —T—hEF
Manufacturing overheads REBH 80,646 69,896
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RERER 2,415 2,510
Administrative expenses 1T & A 76,791 78,738
Total depreciation weEBx 24 159,852 151,144
LAND USE RIGHTS 7. TiEARE

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are

analysed as follows:

AEBRNTHERENERSANEEHS
HREFESTWT :

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2016 2015
—E-RF —ET—hEF
Outside Hong Kong, held on: EBRBRINEATFEHFR ¢
Leases between 10 and 50 years 102 50F ML) 185,688 194,060
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HILEE
Note 2016 2015
5T —E—RE 0T
At 1 April »WEA—H 194,060 200,247
Additions INE 760 -
Acquisition of equity interest in s B B 3 AT 2 RRiEE
Yancheng Chunzhu 30(a) 5,690 -
Amortisation g 24 (6,347) (6,323)
Currency translation differences B E =58 (8,475) 136
At 31 March R=B=+—H 185,688 194,060
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. EFEEE
Non-
Trademarks  Customer competition ~ Computer Product ~ Domain
Goodwill and licenses relationships agreement  software  Patents  design  name Total
BE BERNTE  EFRE  ERFHE  ghEM B ERt gLYA &t
Note
i3 (a) (b)
At1 April 2014 H-§-MERA-A
Cost A 2,732,367 136,209 276,098 4,893 3204 23258 - - 3,176,029
Accumulated amortisation Z:d - (34209  (184,758) (3,239) 2,141 (20,253) - - (244599
Net book amount BEFE 2,732,367 102,000 91,340 1,655 1,063 3,005 - - 2931430
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE-3-1E=R
Zt-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 Apri RUA-BEEFE 2,732,367 102,000 91,340 1,655 1,063 3,005 - - 2931430
Addtions E - - - - 703 16 - - 719
Amortisation ] U - (7,.920) (29,551) (537) (753) (106) - - (38,867)
Currency translation differences FUAEEE 3,101 114 866 1 - 3 - - 4,085
Net book amount at 31 March R=A=-AEEEE 2IBAB 1% euess 19 103 2918 - - 289736
At 31 March 2015 R=E-1%=H
Sr=k
Cost i 2,735,468 136,374 277,202 4,899 3886 23301 - - 3,181,130
Accumulated amortisation Zita - (42.180)  (214,547) (3,780) (2873)  (20,383) - - (283783
Net book amount EEFE 2,735,468 94,194 62,655 1,119 1,013 2918 - - 2897367
Year ended 31 March 2016 HE-E-REZP
St-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April ROA-BEEFE 2,735,468 94,194 62,655 1,119 1013 2918 - - 2,897,367
Additions RE - - - - 112 6,100 - - 1.2
Acquisition of equity interest WA 2 i
in Yancheng Chunzhu 30(a) 79,651 83,554 32,28 - - 29244 - - 24,671
Acquisition of equity interest in VMR~ AEVMRZ RiE 30(0) 54,148 120,140 - - 2,365 - 85261 50381 312205
Amortisation B U - (11,409) (29,859) (270) (1362)  (2463) (5,845  (3.421) (54,629)
Currency translation differences ElaEzE (125,791) (420) (25) (49) (18) n 593 342 (125,296)
Net book amount at 31 March W=A=t-REmFE 2,743,476 286,059 64,999 800 3119 358711 80,009 47302 3,261,635
At 31 March 2016 R=E-A§=R
=t-A
Cost B 2,783 476 334,439 298,145 4,657 11013 57,656 85724 52366 3587476
Accumulated amortisation ZitEE - (48,380)  (233,146) (3857) (1804) (21,785  (5715)  (5.064)  (325,841)
Net book amount FEFE 2,743,476 286,059 64,999 800 3119 35871 80,009 47302 3,261,635

Amortisation is included in administrative expenses in the

consolidated income statement.

BHERAESARAERNTRERAA,
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 8. E|IEE (&)

(@) Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated (a) HEBZZHLETIHEHZFAMR
profitability of operations, the anticipated future T8 HA ) 2R 2R 45 & 167 [B) R0 FE N4 K A T 45
operating synergies and enlarged market share. Goodwill MERTE - REBECHBEEREBEARE
arising from prior year is allocated to the Group's CGUs BoHoREZEBESELHET - IR
identified mainly according to the operating segments. BRI RVMRMEE ZEEE DA
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Yancheng ZHEEZHKER TS -

Chunzhu and VMR are allocated to the respective entities
acquired.
The goodwill is allocated as follows: PESENBEZINAT
As at 31 March
RZA=t-A
2016 2015
Z3-5~F —F-0f
Reconstituted Reconstituted
tobacco  Yancheng tobacco
Flavours leaves  Chunzhu Fragrances VMR Total ~ Flavours leaves Fragrances Total

RRER BEEh  HEEM  AREE VMR &t RAER BEEh HRER fagt

Goodwil HE 1,424,827 1,131,272 80,084 52,850 54,443 2,743,476 1,489,845 1,190,058 55,565 2,735,468
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based BERGEEEMA AT E S EE T AR
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre- REBHE LClMERAFEERETEE
tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets EHERN A F M BTEE MIE T 2 Al
approved by management covering a five-year period. AR EREHNE - HATFHNERE S
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated mMEFANBEKEFERES RN
using the estimated terminal growth rates below. The T o ZKBFRERETGBARSES
terminal growth rate does not exceed the long-term Bz ¥ BEENRATIERE -

average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates.
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations
are as follows:

2016

e

Reconstituted

Tobacco  Yancheng
Flavours leaves  Chunzhu

RRAER BEEER  HEEN

e P HRAR M

(BRBEHAEIN - ELBEABETFTIIR)
8. #|IEEE (H)

(a)

As at 31 March
R=EA=1-A

Fragrances

RRER

(&)

EREEFENTIERRMOT :

2015
“Z2-1f
Reconstituted
Tobacco
VMR Flavours leaves  Fragrances
VR  REER  EEEF  ORER

Gross margin Eilp: 75% 56%~57%  27%~28%
Revenue growth rate  FEIHEEZRXR

in forecast period 3% 25%~3%  11%~63%
Terminal growth rate  XEBEFIERE 3% 3% 3%
Discount rate B % 13.5% 15% 17%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of
each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and their expectations for the
market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments
or entities.

Based on the assessment of the cash flow projections of
the various CGUs, the Directors considered that there
is no impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2016 and
2015.

Trademarks represent Peacock, Xinghu, Samshiang,
Chunzhu, V2 ~ V2PRO - Vapour2 trademarks.

42%
5%~10%

5%
13.5%

(b)

52.6%~53% 76%  57%-59% 42%
5%~33% 3% 3%~5%  5%~15%
3% 3% 3% 5%

17.5% 13.5% 15% 13.5%

HRZ2EAAREED BN EERE
ELBEMNDONA -

EEERBBENEEREHHEER
MTBHARERA EME - FTAMMEARER
ATRATI R BR A Bl 3 B eV TE R o

FEHEZER & E A B MRS RIEA
® AEEZEERAN_FT—R"FR
“E-AF=A=t—HEELERE -

EETIIEIE - BN MELE &
4~ V2 ~ V2PRO ~ Vapour2 f#2 i1 o
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9.

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 9. RBEQNFAZKRE
The Group has interests in two and one individually immaterial RIEB-—RERZZE-—HF=A=+—H K
associates as at 31 March 2016 and 2015 respectively. The S35 Bl P M E 2 — B3 3E (& Bl K A9 5t = A
following table analyses, in aggregate, the movements of the AEEEZ - TRANSERZEHENFA
carrying amount of the Group’s investments in these associates, BERERZERE A RBEEENSTRE
and its share of results of these associates. BEM DT
An analysis of the movements of equity investments in REE AR ERREZS AT -
associates is as follows:
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=1+—-BLFE
Note 2016 2015
B —EoAE —T—hEF

At 1 April R A—H 227,795 239,044
Share of profit/(loss) of associates fE{GEEE AT &EF] (E18) 11,462 (3,208)
Disposal of Henan Jinrui Flavours

Co., Ltd. HENEehaea AR - (8,305)
Acquisition of Yunnan Hongta Blue

Eagle Paper Co. Ltd W E AL B AR

(“Hongta Blue Eagle”) BRAR ([AEERE]) (b) 121,342 =
Dividends received or receivable RS (10,802) =
Acquisition of Yancheng Chunzhu U B B8 35 47 2 A A (c) 101,890 -
Transfer to investments in EEZE | 4 14

subsidiaries upon gaining R AEMHREE A AREA

control over Yancheng Chunzhu IE2EHT B AT (c) (101,907) =
Currency translation differences EHHRE =R (12,164) 264
At 31 March R=A=+—H 337,616 227,795

(@) As at 31 March 2016, the Group had interests in the
following associates:

Country of
Name incorporation
£ Rl AETER

(@ R-B—AFEZA=+—H AEER
AT 8 S M

% of
ownership
Interests  Principal activities

R FEXEHR

Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology PRC
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf”) A
EMNERGSERBERAR ( [ZERE2E] )

Hongta Blue Eagle PRC
HEEE HE

(b) In December 2015, the Group purchased 25.1% of the
equity interest in Hongta Blue Eagle for a consideration
of HKD121,342,000 (equivalent to RMB101,658,000).

40%  Pre-operating
SERART

25.1%  Manufacture and sales of cigarette
paper and auxiliary products

EEMHEBERAREYAm

(b) EEER2015512 A B 49121,342,000
7T (#) A R #:101,658,0007T) U B 4T 5
EE[E25.1% 2 ARHE -
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9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(@)

In August 2015, the Group acquired 30% equity
interest in Yancheng Chunzhu, and provided a five-
year loan amounting to RMB84,000,000 (equivalent
to HKD101,890,000) to one of the shareholders. The
loan was secured over pledge of the shareholder's 69%
share in Yancheng Chunzhu. There was also a call option
attached to the loan which gave the Group the right to
acquire an additional 30% equity interest in Yancheng
Chunzhu. As the contract contained an embedded
derivative, management designated the entire hybrid
contract as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss. Based on the term of the option, it could only
be exercised from 22 November 2015 onward and the
original largest shareholder still controlled Yancheng
Chunzhu during that period. Given the Group did not
have substantive control over Yancheng Chunzhu at the
date it acquired the 30% equity interest, the investment
was initially accounted for as investment in an associate
by the Group until the option became effective.
Subsequently, the Group obtained control and acquired
the additional 30% equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu.
Upon obtaining control over Yancheng Chunzhu, the
previously held 30% equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu
was re-measured to fair value with the resulting gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss and transferred
the re-measured carrying amount from investment in an
associate to investment in a subsidiary. Please refer to
Note 30(a) for more details.

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

9. REBEQRTZRE (&)

(@

EER201558 A i B F1T30% .2
f&#E - FRERE T AK%S84,000,000
7t (7#%%101,890,0007T) AFHE R T
B AN —NRE - ZERUAZKR
HIFHEM69% B FMRDEHR IR - 3%
B T 5 B B B I AT 2B N30 % A%
EHERE  BREEHNESTHRALT
EEBMTAE BEEERTUHERABUA
AEBEEFEEEZIHTABENSHE
E o BIEBIREM G - BIRE RN
2015F11 A22B 18RI 171 - B R KA
B % B B R AR I B I FAT o R
EENE S BEIREM30%BERITIRE
HEBEE TGRSR - Bt 5 B AR
EBRARZIREAREEBREAR - &
E 2 1% BX 5 2 I N B A 9k A BB A
30% 2 B 1D - B ERIS B AT R A
FEH30% 5 Bk FET R D EFE =
HAARBEMEE ZIBREEBEKRTE
R HRBERNRZRENENTEN
AABEEEHBRARZEE - 415
NBE2EMFE30@) ©
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10.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED 10.

ENTITY

The following table analyses the movements of the carrying
amount of the Group’s investment in a jointly controlled entity.

This entity had been deregistered in June 2015.

(= BHEBEHI

A& EH BB TILIIR)
RARZHERZRE

TRAREER—
&I E S BB
DT o &k RIHEH

HAREZEFHERNRERER
HEANSREAEZ K
EROR =T AF~ A

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2016 2015

—E—KRF —E—RF

At 1 April REA—H 6,987 7,442

Share of (loss)/profit of the jointly FE(L R EE 2

controlled entity (E518), &F (65) 203
Deregistration of Yunnan Qing Tian Xiang FHERG AR REE

Keji Fazhan Co. Ltd. BRAA (6,950) =

Dividend from the jointly controlled entity RS - (666)

Currency translation differences B E AR 28 8

At 31 March R=A=+—~8 - 6,987
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11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 11. IHHEESRMEE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

Note 2016 2015

B 5T —E-RE —T—hHEF
At 1 April R A—H 225,217 154,504
Additions for the year REF AN 228,833 52,558
Disposal for the year REZHD (44,079) =
Fair value change NABEEE 19(a) (12,474) 17,968
Currency translation differences Bk E =5 (9,392) 187
At 31 March R=A=+—H 388,105 225,217
Additions for the year represents investments in wealth AE KL IRTTIE B A R B %6 165,617,0007T
management products amounting to HKD165,617,000 and EERH el £ £ MR & B%63,216,0007T °
investments in technology innovation sector amounting to
HKD63,216,000.
Available-for-sale financial assets include: AHHESREERRE

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
Note 2016 2015
B 5T —E-RE —T—hF
Non-current assets: IERBEE :
Unlisted equity investments RABERIE EmERKRE
in the PRC: at fair value NAE (a) 119,339 185,284
Unlisted equity investments RIABHIHIE ETRERIRE
in Israel: at fair value NI E (a) 103,149 39,933
222,488 225,217
Current assets: MENEE :

Wealth management products HEEEER (b) 165,617 -
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11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(CONTINUED)

11.

(@) The fair value of unlisted equity investments are based
on market comparable companies with the following
unobservable inputs used.

Fair value as at

IHEEEREE (8)

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

(@) FLMEBREZAREBENREDSE
LB Z AR A B RE A BERETE -

31 March Average
Unlisted R3A31BZARE Valuation Unobservable FHE
equity interest 2016 2015 techniques inputs 2016 2015
F LR ZB-AF ZB-0F FHE A TABERAE “E-RE —Z-1%
Tobacco, flavours and Market comparable
fragrances industry companies  Price to sales ratio
BERERTE 107,338 172,659 % EAILLER 2 A7) REZ WL 29 2.6
Discount for lack
of marketability
R RBITE 20% 20%
Price to book ratio
mix 2.9 28
Private equity fund
investment Net asset value n/a n/a n/a
MEES 115,150 52,558 BERE NER NEm ~am
(b) Wealth management products represents financial (b) RITEHMERABTEAUMBITEL

products issued by commercial banks in PRC. These
products are principal protected and with non-guaranteed
return, the terms ranging from one day to one month.
The carrying amount approximated the fair value. The
fair values are based on cash flow discounted using the
excepted return based on management judgment and are
of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the
following currencies:

MEETEEM SLEMRRAFBKR
sEM AREERELRS  TRE

Blas - B EIRNS R —RE—E
A RITEVERN A BERREE
BE - AR BERBEERE ZHE AR
HmB s FTRBERAE  XERDA
BEEBRZE=E -

AHHESREEATIINESERIIT -

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2016 2015
—E—RE —ZE—hE
RMB AR 284,956 185,284
UsD =7 103,149 39,933
388,105 225,217

None of these financial assets is impaired.

BRETHEECRE -
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12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 12. BEFBHBEE &F
The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows: BIEMGHEBMT -
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
BLFEHERE BEFERER
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Valuation  expected to
Unrealised surplus of  be remitted
profits assetsand  from group
arising from recognition entities
intra-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
Note sales tax loss  Others Total assets in the PRC Total

SERf
SER R EIE AR
AAMHE BEIME ARRBELN
FEANSER BHREY REFEEZ

i AEREBR  URRER Hfb ft  HENER  ERAREH it

At 1 April 2014 RIZ-TEMA-H 66,208 - - 66,208 70117 22,559 92,676
Recognised in other comprehensive  REM2ENERED

income 19 - - - - 4,507 - 4,507
Recognised in the income statement  WEZZHER 2 (1,094) - - [ (1,09) (8,781) (15829) | (24,610)
Currency translation differences EEBEER 80 - - 80 34 - 34
At 31 March 2015 RZE-1F=A=t-A 65,194 - - 65,194 65,877 6,730 72,607
Acquisition of equity interest e AT 2 R

in Yancheng Chunzhu - - - - 2,517 - | 251
Recognised in other comprehensive  RE# 2 AR

income 19 - - - - (3.789) - (3,789)
Recognised in the income statement  IMERRIER 21 8,806 7,150 2,264 | 18,220 2,384 (6,730) | (4,346)
Currency translation differences BMAEES (3.417) (159) (50) | (3,626) (1,660) - | (1,660)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-"EZA=t-A 70,583 6,991 2,214 79,788 85,329 - 85,329
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for temporary SEARRIFEHEEMELNEENRER BT
differences arising from unrealised profits from intra-group ERRELMEREE - HSBURERRE
sales, and calculated under the liability method using the tax HABARSREEEE RN A E TR =
rate which are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance BT -

sheet date.
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12.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities arose from the valuation surplus
of property, plant and equipment, land use rights, intangible
assets, available-for-sale financial assets; recognition of
intangible assets as a result of acquisition of subsidiaries;
changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and withholding income tax on dividends
expected to be remitted abroad by group entities incorporated
in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC
approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends remitted from the
PRC entities to overseas investors with effect from 1 January
2008. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied to Hong
Kong investors as there is a tax treaty between the PRC and
Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is not automatically
granted. The taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors estimated that
a portion of profits generated by the PRC subsidiaries would
be distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent companies
and the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained. Therefore,
deferred income tax liabilities had been provided based on
5% or 10% of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong. The Directors of the Company will review the funding
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend distribution
policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2016, deferred income tax liabilities of
HKD343,470,000 (2015: HKD358,457,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would otherwise
be payable on the undistributed profits approximately
HKD6,858,315,000 (2015: HKD7,303,736,000) retained by
certain PRC subsidiaries.

(BBBEBEN - FELBLNBETTIIT)
12. BEFRBHEE A (&)

BEREPSHABTIARAR BB A HHHB
RAIMBHZYE  HBERRE THER
B EBEPEEMNAHRIESHEENFGHAR
# BIVEENER NAAEFEREEH
AABSENEREENAIABESMES - &
SE AR B 2 B T8 HARE 3R M
IR B FTEL 2 RIRFIISH ©

REZEARKKAER_FTLF=A+X
HEBNTREEEMFNE A -—TENF—
A—RiE PECXAINERELED KK
B BRIODZHEBWAER - ERH
REBERHNREHE  HPEEEREFER
BREDKKE  IZAREINHES%E
Yo BES%MEFRIIFEEES - BB A
FRAERIEVRPRLEZTERBWME - &
RABEFEEAERRETEAENBARZA
MERERETERBENERES AR - At
BREFBHRABNREHELEEZAEFIA
5%H10%HH KR H - KARBEZH TR
A AR 2 B S B E T B AR 2
BHE e

R-ZE—RF=A=+—HB xEFBLK
HETHFRAEMNBRABIZARD RAFL
75 #6,858,315,0000C (ZF — A F: B
7,303,736,0007T) 7B T X I TE IR FT 15 B i
RIEEFTS i B &5 %343,470,0007T (=&
— R4 : B¥358,457,0007T) °
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12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 12. EEFEBEE &6 (&)
(CONTINUED)

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income BLEAMSHEERBENITAT
tax liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 March

M=ZA=+—H
2016 2015
—E-RE —T-REF
Deferred income tax assets: EEREHERE
- 10 be recovered after more than 12 months — E+ =@ A B E D 6,991 -
- 10 be recovered within 12 months — E+ @A R E =D 72,797 65,194
79,788 65,194
Deferred income tax liabilities: BLEFEHREE
- to become payable after more than 12 months  — Z#BiE+ =i B 48 AR 50D 75,747 58,842
- to become payable within 12 months — &t - EAREAENED 9,582 13,765
85,329 72,607
13. INVENTORIES 13. 78
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2016 2015
—E—RE —T—RF
At cost: AN
Raw materials R 652,639 667,012
Work in progress el 13,624 6,037
Finished goods BURK 167,761 145,384
834,024 818,433
For the year ended 31 March 2016, the cost of inventories HE_T—"F=-A=+t—HLEFEZHFE
recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold RABRASEALGTABEXNETNSELD
and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 578 #977,403,000c (ZZE —HF: B
2016 amounted to approximately HKD977,403,000 (2015: 1,102,762,0007¢T) °

HKD1,102,762,000).
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(B 2HEEPEI - FiESEHEETTIIR)
14. EZREMERIE

As at 31 March

N=A=+—H

Note 2016 2015

=g —E-RE —E—HF

Trade receivables 2 5 W IE (a) 994,949 936,735
Less: Provision for impairment of & : F& YR IB R E B E

receivables (13,763) (7,044)

Trade receivables — net BB REWRIE — R 981,186 929,691

Notes receivable A ES 192,647 224,940

Prepayments and other receivables FE/5 7018 & H ) i L 7008 231,930 106,060

Advances to staff BT #R 15,054 13,473

Others Hih 19,873 35,529

1,440,690 1,309,693

Except for prepayment of HKD44,028,000 (2015:
HKD28,435,000), trade and other receivables are financial
assets categorised under “loans and receivables”. All trade and
other receivables are either recoverable within one year or on
demand. Accordingly, the fair values of the trade and other
receivables approximate to their carrying amounts.

(@) The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 March 2016 and 2015,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (including
amounts due from related parties which are trade in
nature) based on invoice date was as follows:

0 - 90 days 0290H

91 — 180 days 912 180H
181 — 360 days 181£360H
Over 360 days 360H A E

M FE (< BR Z B #544,028,0000T (—ZZE—F4F ¢
75 #28,435,0007T) A+ B 5 K& E M FEBUGRK
SHEBIEZRMEKRE] - TEZHREM
FEWFIBE TR —F AR BAIRSE - WE S
R EH A EWGRIERREESEA A EEE °

(a) BTEFPWEEH—MAOE180H -
R-ZEBE—RNER_T—FRAE=A=1+—
H ES5RWFE (BEEBALTNE
SREWEIE) RIFEZ A MM IREKR DT
R

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2016 2015
—E-AF —T-RF
869,233 837,444
55,538 47,365
41,803 14,087
28,375 37,839

994,949 936,735
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2016, unbilled trade receivables
of HKD371,792,000 (2015: HKD457,111,000) was
categorised in the aging of 0-90 days.

After considering the credit period, trade receivables are
assessed for impairment. As at 31 March 2016, trade
receivables of HKD68,143,000 (2015: HKD58,904,000)
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent customers with no recent history
of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables
is as follows:

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

14. EFREMEBYWRE (&)

(a)

(%&)
RZZE—ARF=ZA=+—H XAEE
2B BRI AE371,792,000T (=&
—FRF : #B¥457,111,00070) EBIEE
0-90H fRER A ©

EREmE  BYESERFIEETR
BffH - RZE—R"F=A=+—8"
2 5 e 7 E B 68,143,000 (= F
— A4 : 7 ¥58,904,0007T) &2 %1 HA
B ERE - WERBSRZERAR
EHREFTCRENBILIRS - WEE S
R E mERRR IR D ATAO T ¢

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2016 2015
ZE-REF ZE—RF
Past due up to 90 days #HIZE90H 46,475 25,545
Past due over 90 days % EAFR @90 H 21,668 33,359
68,143 58,904

As at 31 March 2016, trade receivables of
HKD28,375,000 (2015: HKD7,044,000) were impaired
with HKD13,763,000 (2015: HKD7,044,000) provision
made. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate
to customers which had ceased business with the Group
and were not in a position to repay. These receivables are
all aged over one year.

R-TE—XRFE=ZA=+—H ZBHEK
B 128,375,000 (ZE—HF : B
#7,044,0007T) 7 % %13,763,0007T
(ZZE—FRF : B¥7,044,00070) BB
B R B o (ER1RE K FEURIE £ Z 2R
BHREEKRIFEFERRAREEREND
BE o Rl fElRFIBIRERIEBIB—F o
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
(including amounts due from related parties which
are trade in nature) are denominated in the following
currencies:

(BRBHEBEN A SBHREETTIIR)
14. EZREMEBEWKE (&)

(b)

AEENEZRUANEEE (R
BALHEZREFR) ATHERER
BS -

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2016 2015
—E-AF it
RMB AR 957,383 927,795
usD e 37,473 8,674
HKD and other ok 93 266
994,949 936,735

Movements of the provision for impairment of trade
receivables were as follows:

B o RIGORERENZEZINT

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLFE

Note 2016 2015
G S L
At 1 April KA —H 7,044 7,787
Provision for/(reversal of) B 2 ERBGRE
impairment on trade receivables B4 /(o)) 24 7,910 (507)
Trade receivables written off during R EH SR I
the year as uncollectible B 5 UK (682) (245)
Currency translation differences B mE s (509) 9
At 31 March R=BA=+—H 13,763 7,044

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do
not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.

HERERKFABENRIMNELOCE
REGERERD [TTRER] A - 5TA
BRERPHNBE -—REERDEEK
Bl FESNR S B o

B REMBRRANEMBERELE S
SEREEBE -

EHREBH  EERROZSE B HAE
AL SREKGFENERE A%5E
AT AEREEAN TR -
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15.

16.

e P HRAR M

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. UAAEEFEEESHTABEN
PROFIT OR LOSS TRMEE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
Listed equity securities, PRC, at market ETRAES - RBIRRE
value, denominated in RMB EMEAAREE 229,149 124,535
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through BRARBEBRBHIECVBEEZAR
profit or loss are recorded in “other income and other gains — ZH R AGREBmRZ [ HAUWKA R E U
net” in the consolidated income statement (Note 23). wm— FR ] A (FEE23) -
The fair values of all equity securities are based on their current FIRABHZ ARBEDZERFNERTIS
bid prices in an active market, and they are categorised within WEAEB  BEARBEERTENE—E -
level 1 of fair value hierarchy.
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 16. RITREFRE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Note 2016 2015
B EE —E-XRF ZT—hF
Restricted bank balance ZRHEE (a) 117,130 =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRAEEEY 3,184,051 2,674,289
Short-term time deposits EHEEEER (b) 220,527 951,802
3,521,708 3,626,091

(a) Restricted bank balance represents the consideration
payable for acquiring 25.1% equity interest in Hongta
Blue Eagle (Note 9), which had not been remitted out
as at 31 March 2016, due to foreign exchange control
regulations.

(b)  The original maturity of time deposits was six month
or above with average interest rate of 2.1% (2015:
3.3%). The fair values of the short-term time deposits
approximate their carrying amounts. None of the deposits
is either past due or impaired.

(@) XRHIRE/TEE25.1%AHES
Bedn < $118 (HfaE9) - HE T —RF
ZA=1+—8 AMMNEERIER &%
FFREAREDL ©

(b) FEEAE HTF R0 R EIER A T575(E A A
EREFHEFRMNEXRF21E (ZF—
R 33E) BRHEHEHRREESR
RAERE - BEFFEAIE -
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16. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 16. |BITREFRE (&
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following RITREFRESIUTININE S FEYR -
currencies:
As at 31 March
MR=BA=+—H
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hHEF
RMB AR 2,502,421 3,543,201
HKD B 423,923 67,241
usD = 589,138 10,992
Euro and others BT R H At 6,226 4,657
3,521,708 3,626,091

17.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’'s and the Company’s
maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and bank balances is

their carrying amounts.

SHARE CAPITAL

17.

REZZ-—RE=ZA=+—0 AEERFXLQFA
HHHRERITREFRENZSEERRT
HEFHEE®E -

€N

Share capital

Number of [N
Note shares HKD’000
s KRG EE BT T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: LER BEITERAR :
At 1 April 2014 R-ZZE—WFEmA—H 3,101,317,961 310,132
Issue of shares upon exercise
of share options FTE B AR A T B 1T BO BT AR 3,000,000 300
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF=HA=+—H 3,104,317,961 310,432
At 1 April 2015 R-ZZE—AFWHA—H 3,104,317,961 310,432
Issue of shares upon exercise
of share options 1TIE IR M 21T T RR 18 2,340,000 234
At 31 March 2016 —E-R"F=ZA=1+—H 3,106,657,961 310,666
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 18. RO AERMNZ
Movements in the number of shares under share-based RER » RO ABERO A T RITENRKS
payment outstanding during the year are set out below: HHZEBIIRAOT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2016 2015
—E-RF —E—RF
Number of Number of
share options share options
Note ("000) ("000)
RHEE &8
LiE=s (*000) (*000)
Share option B A A

1 April RrEA—H (ai) 17,590 23,990
Exercised [mERad (aii) (2,340) (3,000)
Lapsed B R (a iii) - (3,400)
31 March /et (aiv) 15,250 17,590

Share award A& 1 22
1 April R A—H - =
Grant B H 4,350 -
31 March /et 4,350 -

Total R=A=+—H 19,600 17,590
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Share option scheme

On 10 October 2006 and 25 October 2006, the Group
granted 97,200,000 and 30,400,000 share options with
an exercise price of HKD3.09 per share and vesting
periods of O to 3 years to employees and directors
respectively. On 17 October 2007, the Group granted
13,900,000 and 3,600,000 share options with an exercise
price of HKD6.65 per share and vesting periods of 0.5 to
3 years to employees and a director respectively. On 14
April 2008, the Group granted 10,400,000 share options
to two directors with an exercise price of HKD6.39 per
share and vesting periods of 0 to 3 years. The options
have a contractual option term of 10 years. The Group
has no legal or contractual obligation to repurchase or
settle the options in cash. The fair value of the share
options at the grant date was determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model.

(i) The weighted average exercise prices per share are
HKD4.91 and HKD4.89 as at 1 April 2015 and 2014
respectively.

(i)  The weighted average market share price
immediately before the share option exercise date
was HKD8.20 (2015: HKD5.03). The weighted
average exercise prices per share are HKD4.22 and
HKD3.09 for the share options exercised during the
year ended 31 March 2016 and 2015 respectively.

(iii)  Share options lapsed was due to resignation of a
director. The weighted average exercise price per
share is HKD6.39 for the share option lapsed during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

(iv) The weighted average exercise prices per share are
HKD5.02 and HKD4.91 as at 31 March 2016 and
2015 respectively.

(= BHEBEHI

B EHAEETTIIR)

18. ROBERNZMN (&)

(a)

B AR
RZZEERNF+A+THEHEZZEER
F+A-+tHRA A£EEHFEL
97,200,000%.30,400,0004% #& A% #E -
TEEASRBE3.09T X 5FE S A0
£3F THERBEREZ - KR ZF
T+tHF+A+ER AEESRED
13,900,000 F3,600,0000% &% & 4 - 17
EEAEREE6. 65T R iFBHAYFE
23F FTHRHERBRER—BEZ - kR
—EENFNA+IEA c AEBE TR
£ M % % £10,400,0000% B8 AL 4 - 17
FEEASRBE6 39T M EBIHA0ES
FoARATHEBRENBERATS - K
SEELEEBHNEREBRAR S
MEBRE - BREN AR EERIRLEA
FiBlack-ScholessF i E R FERR o

i) R-FE-—AFR-F-NHFWEA
—B - MEFATEES NS
B R 4.917T B 4.897T -

(i) EEBEAREITE B B Z 306 i
FH KT E R E RS ¥8.207T
—FT—FRF: BE503T) ° &
20165 201553318 L5 fE
ETEZBREZ MEFEHITE
B 5 Bl A7 42270 K 78 #3.09
-

(i) BREXAUAESHRESHR - KX
—E-—FRFE=ZA=+—H ' k&
R E 2 MEFHITERBRS
#6.397T °

(ivy RZZE—XREER=_Z—HAF=A
=+—8 - MEFHITEED R
BB 5. 027 R EE4. 91T °
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

18. ROB/ERNZMN (&)

Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRE (&)
Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2016 are R-E—RE=ZA=+—BRTEER
analysed as follows: 2T
Exercise Number of
price in HKD share options
Grantee per share ("000) Expiry date
TEESER BRESE
(BRE) (REATE) KM EH
Directors = 3.09 900 24 October 2016
20165108 24H
Employees EE 3.09 6,100 9 October 2016
2016 10A9H
Employees == 6.65 8,250 16 October 2017
20174108 16H
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE—R"F=A=+—H 15,250
All share options outstanding as at 31 March 2016 and RZE—ARFRZE—AF=A=1+—
2015 are currently exercisable. B FIAERITENERERELA] T1T
£ o
Share Award (b) MR 5ERE

In December 2015, Future Dragon International Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a service contract with a consultant (“the Consultant”).
According to the service contract, the Consultant was
granted not more than 4,349,717 shares in the Company
on full completion of the services before 30 December
2015. It is considered as an equity-settled share-
based payment and accounted for as restricted share
award. As such, the services received are measured and
accounted for at their fair values, which amounted to
RMB 10,000,000 (approximately HKD11,960,000) and
expensed over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.
The corresponding equity for the settlement of payment
is also increased by the fair value of the services received.

As at 31 March 2016 no shares outstanding are currently
exercisable.

20154128 * Future Dragon’ — 74
RRAIZEEFRAR) B—FER(TERM])
FiTREHE - BIERSEHE NER
2RI R ER T 1H%104,349,717
B B 17 o b T LA BR 1 7 B R ) S A5 3 BA
ZRRHI ARG EEARR e Bt 1 AR A
HAAREBEARE10,000,0007T (4)75H
11,960,0007T) &1 = F1 A BR 37 7 5 {ix A7
AXH MR AR ESEINERSS
B o

RZZE-—RFE=ZA=+—H " ERT
B BCAE AT T LATT A
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Share option scheme of VMR

VMR, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
operated a share option scheme before it was acquired
by the Group. Under the scheme, options over 80,000
shares were authorised to be issued. On the acquisition
date at 18 December 2015, the total number of shares
under options outstanding is 66,094 with the weighted
average exercise price of HKD219.72 (USD28.33). All
options vest over a three year period and expire five
years from the date of grant. The fair value of the share
options at the grant date was determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model.

Movements in the number of shares options outstanding
from date of acquisition to 31 March 2016 and their
related weighted average exercise prices are set out
below:

(c)

(BRBBHEAEI - FIELBHUBETFTIIR)
18. RHAERMZMN ()

VMR Z & B 5t 8

E@ 2 IEEE B D FVMR I A &
B EER 2 BARET A E T BRE R
80,000/ - HEWER T —RF+=
A+NA\R ERETHREREMAITE
R BE R RE S B 566,0048% - INETFH1T
F{E 4 B 219.727T (3£7T28.33)
FBERL 2 ERESBHA=F &
FEREBRENBRARFT - BIRED
N EBEME L B #EBlack-ScholessF A
RAETER o

RUERRE T —AR"F=ZA=1+—
B RITEMBEREKE 2 &8 K HEEE
ZMBEFHITEES RO -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2016
—E-RE

Weighted average Number of
exercise price share options
in HKD per share ("000)

INEFIITE BRESR

BB (&) (AR BATED)
18 December 2015 R-ZE—HF+=-A+N\H 219.72 66,094
Grant B - -
Lapsed B - -
Exercised B217fE - -
31 March R=A=+—H 219.72 66,094

The total amount of compensation recognised for all
options issued from 19 December 2015 to 31 March 2016
amounted to approximately HKD839,000 (USD108,000).
The remaining unrecognised compensation cost relates
to the options issued amounted to approximately
HKD4,997,000 (USD644,000) as of March 31 2016.

E-ZT—AF+_At+hBRERE_Z—
NEZA=Zt+—BzEREIHOES
#839,0007T (3£ 7£108,000) ° # = —
TE-—RNF=ZA=+—H BEREER
BB ARRAEREI LN AEEE
4,997,0007T (3%7T644,000) °
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Share option scheme of VMR (Continued)
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Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2016 are

e M ERRME
(BRBEHBEI - FTESTEUBET T R)
18. BHBRERNIA (K
() VMRZEERFESHE (&)

R-ZTBE—RE=ZA=1+—BRITEER

analysed as follows: 2T
Exercise Number of
price in HKD share options
Grantee AR A per share ('000) Expiry date
TEEET BREHE
(B (REATE) X¥BEH
Employees == 164.98 14,100 3 December 2017
Employees (= 164.98 12,100 14 September 2018
Employees =] 752.32 7,750 1 July 2019
Employees (= 164.98 5,500 5 July 2020
Employees BB 129.92 26,644 17 December 2020
At 31 March 2016 R-_ZE—XRF=A=+—H 66,094

23,685 share options out of total outstanding options as
at 31 March 2016 are currently exercisable.

BHE-_T—XR"E=A=+—8 - K7l
B ARHEE R » 23,685 B8 A #E 7] F LA

17fE
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19.

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREEHEBAEIN - FIESBEHUBETTIIR)
RESERVES 19. f#&
Capital ~ Share-based Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital ~ redemption compensation  translation Other
Note surplus reserve  premium  reserve  reserve reserve reserve  feserves Total
DY irr
it BURe  AHRE  RGEE  ERRE EAEERE OHORE HURERGE  HURE &t

At 1 April 2014 RZZ-MENA-A 288,191 (617,160) 45971 1,671 5853 41,817 705,528 28451 1,110,334
Fair value changes on available-for-sale MHEESREEY

financial assets, net of tax BHHALERS ) - = = = = = = 13461 13461
Appropriations from net profit B AR - - - - - - - 54,251 54,251
Acquistion of additional interests in [REZE:

Sino-investment from WEBRRRR

non-controlling interests EoMER - - - - - - - (9,824) (9,824)
Acquisition of additional interests in W ER

Huabao Korea from WEEEEE

non-controlling interests EOMER - - - - - - - 5137 5,137
Employee share option scheme EEERETE

- exercise of share options ~ I EREMRRAR - - 10,181 - - (1211) - - 8,970
Currency translation differences ke - - - = = = 6,277 = 6277
At 31 March 2015 R=F-RF=R=1-A 288,191 (617,160) 456,158 1,677 5853 40,606 711,805 301476 1,188,606
At 1 April 2015 RZZ-1FmA-A 288,191 (617,160) 456,158 1,677 5853 40,606 711,805 301476 1,188,606
Fair value changes on available-for-sale AL ESREEY

financial assets, net of tax BRENALERD @ - - - - - - - (9.451) (9.451)
Reversal of fair value change for disposal of ~ SHETEHESREE

avallable-for-sale financial asets, [l v

net of tax BitkeE (b) - - - - - - - (8392) (8392)
Appropriations from net profit BB - - - - - - - 56,981 56,981
Share-based payment - Value of R AERZA

consultancy services BRRBEE - - - - - 239 - - 239
Acquisition of additional equity interestin  FIZEZ A 1%

Yancheng Chunzhu from WAL

non-controling interest BMER 31a) - - - - - - - 39,764 39,764
Repurchase of shares of VMR from RIERREE

non-controlling interests VMREVRR A 31(b) - - - - - - - (5,070) (5,070)
Employee share option scheme EEERE 2

- exerdise of share options - TERREMEBTHHR - - 12,003 - - (2462) - - 9,631
Currency translation differences ElpEzE - - - - - - (461,258) - (461,258)
At 31 March 2016 R=E-r"E=h=1-H 288,191 (617,160) 468,251 1,677 5853 40,536 250,547 375,308 813,203
(@)  The amount of changes in fair value in available-for-sale financial (@ FAIHEESREEZAABEEIHANS

assets before tax is HKD12,474,000 (2015: HKD17,968,000)
(Note 11), of which HKD3,023,000 (2015: HKD4,507,000)
was recognised in other comprehensive income as deferred tax

(Note 12).

(b) The amount of HKD8,392,000 of fair value change in available-
for-sale financial assets after netting off the deferred tax
amounting to HKD766,000 (Note 12) previously recognised in
other comprehensive income was reversed due to disposal during

the year ended 31 March 2016.

A B 12,474,000 (= T — | F:
17,968,000) (Fff5E11) - H 1 % #53,023,000
T (ZF—F4F :4,507,000) 25 H#H
RAEERE (FFE12) ©

by RMR-TE—RE=ZA=1+—RHLFE BNt
EfftEEcREEMBEURNFEINRE
EF BB #766,0007T (H5E12) BHARE
(L8 #8,392,0007T © W EA 2 E IR

WK -
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20. RETAINED EARNINGS

21.

20. RE

27

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

2016 2015
—E—AE T —AhF
At 1 April RO A—H 7,670,008 7,265,105
Profit for the year NEE B 1,450,250 1,986,584
Appropriations from net profit B AR B AT (56,981) (54,251)
Unclaimed dividend forfeited YR YR SEEAR B 94 -
Final and special dividend for the year ended #HZE_-Z—NFE=F=+—H
31 March 2014 LIFFE 2 AR KRR R - (542,741)
Interim and special dividend for HE-ZT—NFNLA=1H
the six months ended 30 September 2014 1E7518 B 2 A HA K B Rl AR B - (984,689)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 9,063,371 7,670,008
BORROWINGS 21. B
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Note 2016 2015
B EE —E—RF —ZT—hF
Current M EN
— Secured bank borrowings — BIRRITER (a) 13,201 15,150
- Unsecured bank borrowings — IR ITE R (b) 4,801 735,128
Total borrowings EER 18,002 750,278
(@) As at 31 March 2016, the bank borrowing was secured (@) M2016F3A31BEERRITERIIE

by a pledge of land and buildings located in Jiangsu
Province owned by a subsidiary, Yancheng Chunzhu. The
borrowing is denominated in RMB and is repayable within
one year. During the year, the average interest rate was

6.38%.

(b)

Unsecured bank borrowings are repayable within one

(b)

year. During the year, the average interest rate was

1.90% (2015: 2.24%) per annum.

Borrowings are financial liabilities categorised under “financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost”. The fair values of the TRE
borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

MEARENENTHAELNIHEN L
WREBFIERER ZERUARER
By ¥FTR—FAIHPEE RF
N ZERTFHNERETF6.38E -

BEERRTERFR-—FAIBEE -
RER - ZERFHFNEREF1.90E

(ZZ—RF :224E) -

ERDeRBBEROER [RBHKANFTEN
Bl

5 | - EROEREERAAEERES °
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21.

22.

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 21. EX (&)
Bank borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: RITEREATEB BB
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2016 2015
—E-RE T —hF
HKD ke - 590,000
EUR &1 T - 145,128
RMB AR 18,002 15,150
18,002 750,278
Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year ended HE_T—A"F=-A=1+—HLEFENRTE
31 March 2016 amounted to HKD10,445,000 (2015: FA B FZ A RAR10,445,000T (ZT—H
HKD13,878,000). No interest expense (2015: nil) was F : 5 #13,878,000T) * RFERWE (=ZF
capitalised during the year. —hE:E\) MEBRAEREL -
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EFRHMENKIE
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
Note 2016 2015
ks —E-XRF —T—h%F
Trade payables B 5 A (a) 371,263 394,759
Dividends payable FERTARE 8,947 -
Wages payable BNTE 52,659 70,723
Other taxes payable H b S5 IR 77,004 39,378
Accruals for expenses FEETFISZ 75,452 9,454
Advances from customers BRI 7,124 2,345
Payable for acquisition of WEE—E N a2
an associate FERTFRIE 116,806 =
Payable for licence fee ENEREE 43,462 -
Other payables H th & {5 5RI8 80,403 45,371
833,120 562,030

Except for other taxes payable of HKD77,004,000 (2015:
HKD39,378,000), wages payable of HKD52,659,000
(2015: HKD70,723,000) and advances from customers of
HKD7,124,000 (2015: HKD2,345,000), trade and other
payables balances are financial liabilities categorised under
“financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”. The fair
values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying
amounts.

B E & {5 B 3K 8 #577,004,0000T (=& —
FF : B ¥39,378,0000T) 0 B T E B
52,659,0007T (=& —F4F : #%¥70,723,000
7T) REPIENFERT,124,000T (ZE—H
& 1 5 ¥2,345,00000) Sh 0 B 5 R HE M EN
ROERBER S ER REHEKNAFTENS
BeEl B REMEMNKENA A EERE
HIREEES °
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 22. ESRHMESTRE ()
(@) As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, the ageing analysis of (@ RZE—RERZZE-—AF=A=+-—

B BZRNFA (BREBALINE
SREMNFE) RIFHZ QMO RE DN

the trade payables (including amounts due to related
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice dates

was as follows: R

As at 31 March

MR=A=+—8H
2016 2015
—E—RE —T—H0F
0 — 90 days 0£90H 289,879 271,306
91 — 180 days 91£180H 56,234 88,508
181 — 360 days 181£360H 6,546 12,296
Over 360 days 360H A F 18,604 22,649
371,263 394,759

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies:

(b) AEENEZENK (BIEBEA LN
BHENFIER) NEEEATIERER

B

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2016 2015
= Ak L
RMB AR ¥ 307,009 369,833
usD EI 54,932 12,996
HKD B 1,950 3,820
EUR and other BT R H A 7,372 8,110
371,263 394,759
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23. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

23. Hib AR EAblss — F5E

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

Note 2016 2015
ihg=s —E-REF —ET—hHF
Changes in fair value of financial AR ETEBEES)
assets at fair value through AFABEENESREEDN
profit or loss NAREEE 68,045 28,658
Loss on disposal of financial assets HENAREFEBEEETA
at fair value through profit & loss B er B ERNER (9,058) -
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale H& At HE4 7
financial assets B E 2 W 3,296 -
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE QR Z ke - 3,487
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEME ARz W - 2,180
Government grants BT 7RG 191,455 229,442
Foreign exchange loss — net M S AR — F5E (40,595) (5,549)
Change in fair value of previously — BABTRBEZAREE 2
held interests in an associate upon Rz AK £ M B A T8 Y
acquisition as a subsidiary NAEEE) 30(a) (14,182) -
Others Efth, (1,534) 4,987
197,427 263,205
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24. EXPENSES BY NATURE 24, RMEIENREX
Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing ERPEREEENA  HERMSEERI R
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according to THRER - WRKREEE (BRI EGQ)EREE
their nature (with the exception of “research and development Free @5~ [TRERBEERSZ N §IEFA
expenses” which are shown as a single item and analysed XHETBEFRAMERERNEE) HTH
according to their nature in note (a) below) as follows: T

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2016 2015
B 5T —E-RE —ZT—AF

Depreciation e 6 132,111 124,596
Provision for impairment on

property, plant and equipment  [EFE & ERE 6 15,058 =
Amortisation By 7,8 60,462 44,304
Changes in inventories of finished &K M MR W@

goods and work in progress FE# 29,964 8,873
Raw materials and consumables used & R} 128 #E 5 894,333 1,026,344
Provision for/(reversal of) E 5 WK Z R E

impairment on trade receivables B (8 ) 14 7,910 (507)
Lease rentals e 40,438 38,153
Auditor's remuneration SR BN & 10,901 8,360
Travelling expenses ZEIRFE 91,649 49,443
Employee benefit expenses B8 REF A< 25 357,209 337,764
Research and development expenses #ff 3% & 2% & f 52 (a) 239,665 256,205
Delivery expenses B 2 39,212 49,621
Utilities expenses NHBHERE 82,879 84,368
Motor vehicle expenses EERRY 19,077 21,237
Maintenance expenses BT 31,644 25,217
Advertising and promotion expenses E& & EEE 91,373 43,518
Office administrative and

communication expenses WANBIE 23,205 14,167
Other surcharges EHHmiE & 13,796 12,921
Others EAth 196,655 124,962

Total of cost of goods sold, HRIHE A -
selling and marketing expenses $HE RIS HEE
and administrative expenses B X F1TIEE B 2,377,541 2,269,546
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24. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

(@) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit

expenses included in research and development expenses

are set out below:

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

24. BUHESBWAX (H)
(@) MERBEAZINREOTE #BHR
EEBFFAXIRMT :

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLFE

Note 2016 2015
fit i —g-xf  —F-EHF
Depreciation e 6 27,741 26,548
Amortisation 2 5 7.8 514 886
Employee benefit expenses (& 8 R@EHBFI 25 94,257 94,727

EEE_Z-—RFZA=T—HIEFEALE
EABERNAEEARL (ZE—HF  \) -

25. BERAFAX

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

No development cost has been capitalised for the year ended
31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).

25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Note 2016 2015

B 5T —E-XRF —T—HhF

Wages, salaries and bonus IE& - s RIEar 368,972 362,677
Defined contribution plans and E R RETE &

other employee insurances Hh 8 TRk (a) 47,272 44,415

Other benefits H b 43 A 35,222 25,399

451,466 432,491
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25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death or total
incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility to
pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.

In the United States of America (“USA"), the Group
makes defined contributions at certain percentage
of monthly salary to retirement and medical schemes
managed by the federal government of USA in
accordance with US rules and regulations. It is the federal
government’s responsibility to pay the retirement benefits
to those staff who retire.

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

25. BRERAMAX (&)

(a)

ERERFHARAEME TRE

ERBERREHEHR  BETEFE
NEAM S TRE - RIKEEHEI 2 ZHEm
T

AEERBEEMABEAERERRIRE
BFE - BB EERAEER
RrEBILDF °

BERESHE  SREEERAY
5% (F = X5 A5 %1,5000T) fEH
HER 0 WA R EH BEIMESK o BT
BIREEEZREERAHS% (RaizEAES
#1,5007T) E At R ([oR HlfE5k]) -
EBEARATRRRIK  HFMKHTEE
2K T 1ERE 7B W BUE = VB H 2 2 3P o8

K -

AEBETEANMRESERETHE
A#FHe&ETAED LA BFME
BERRAREFEEEERMERK - K
RBEREAZERNERXTRAE -

ALK B TRIEEE AR ARTER
MeEERBTRAFNETENLLRASR
BARRARELHRR - RRARBEME
AZEFRNEENERE - BREMA
MRBERTEARYBERRKFRABTX
TRAESNEE -

AEBETREXBENERERIESR A
BEBBIRAHFNETEOLAXE
BARAAEENERANE R ERRRE
EL K - ZEBARFE A R
FRHNEENRAKE -
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25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include 3 (2015: 2) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 37(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining 2 (2015:
3) individuals during the year are as follows:

(B 2HEEPEI - FiESEHEETTIIR)
25. EERANMAX (&

(b) ZEZEHFMAL
FR - EAEEZRAERSFMALE
B (ZZF—hF: W) REZ M
REZMEFBEHNKTE37(a) - &F
EXMNFTESMUAL (ZE-—HF:
=) ZBEmT :

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2016 2015

—E-AF it

Basic salaries and allowances EARHE € KER 12,476 12,251
Contributions to the retirement scheme R4Ri@FIET &I 2k 123 135
12,599 12,386

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

REZHSEN THE :

Number of employees

EEAK
2016 2015
—E-REF —T—hF
Emolument bands Pl <& 6 [
HKD2,500,001- HKD3,000,000 72,500,001 % 3,000,0007T - 1
HKD3,500,001- HKD4,000,000 713,500,001 %4,000,0007T 1 =
HKD4,500,001- HKD5,000,000 B #4,500,001%£5,000,0007T - 2

HKD8,500,001- HKD9,000,000

75%8,500,0012%9,000,0007T 1 =




(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

26.

27.
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FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 26. I A R EE KA

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hHEF
Finance income: U AN
— Interest income on bank deposits FEWA — BITFER 85,973 83,095
Finance costs: BRE R AR
— Interest expense on bank borrowings and
others MEER — RITEF L EAM (12,558) (13,988)
Finance income — net RS — F 58 73,415 69,107
PA
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 27. FiiSHi
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income ATARREKERZ BBRBIIRAT
statements represents:
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLHFE
Note 2016 2015
G —g-x¥  —T-8F
Current income tax BNEATHIE
— Hong Kong profits tax — BBMEN (a) 10,737 13,408
— PRC corporate income tax — R ERER (b) 375,870 400,000
— Germany company income tax — B EMEH (d) 142 139
— Botswana company income tax — — R LA EMER (e) 1,197 1,023
Deferred income tax RIEFTISH 12 (22,566) (23,516)
365,380 391,054
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of (@) BEMETIRAEE bt R E T LA
16.5% (2015: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit i E16.5% (ZF —HF 16.5%) &
for the year. & o
(b) PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the (b) HECEMEHEEHEEASBEERERXR

estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates

applicable to respective companies of the Group. 5E

PE( R AN FE R AR @R AR X
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27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(@)

(d)

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC stipulates
the applicable income tax rate at 25% for domestic
enterprises in the PRC.

(i)  Encouraged enterprises of western regions can
continue to enjoy tax rate of 15% until 2022.

(iii)  The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises
that are specifically supported by the State.

The Germany company income tax has been provided at
the rate of 15% (2015: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

The Botswana company income tax has been provided at
the rate of 15% (2015: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

The subsidiary in U.S. is a limited partnership and does
not chargeable to income tax at partnership level. The
corporate owners of the partnership pay tax on its share
of the partnership’s taxable income at the rate of 35%
for the year.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in
other jurisdictions during the year.

(= BHEBEHI

B EHAEETTIIR)

27. FREH (&)

(@]

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

REERPBEAEZMZ T2 EEHM
SHREARERETRAOBERMOT

(i) DCEAGPEARETEBEARDSE
RGBSR ER25% °

(i) RASEEZBBHNCEEE
ZH15%MAEEFE20224F

(i) CERSHERTETOEMSHRE
HRSTERIEBENS TR E
BEA15% MR o

EECEMEHERANEE G ERTA
FILAFLZ15% (ZF—RE : 15%) &
o

IR LA 3 AT 1S Bl R AR F i 51 1B 3R
HEFIAFE15% (ZF—HF : 15%)
s o

NREBZHBARABERAEZH I &
ERERFRT - bEZFEERKRE
I tEAFRERRTAN 2 MHBEH
35%Fr{5 %L °

AEBRBERFEEEMBIAEEY E
RBERABREA - BHE[EMEDE
RS HIELERE -
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27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(h)
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The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax (h)
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

using the standard tax rates before tax holiday applicable

to the respective companies of the Group as follows:

(BRABHAEIN -
27. FREH (&)

PR S EABETITIIR)

AEBAGAMEHAANNHE - 2
& B E T AR A B AT A AE 2 B H AT E
AHEEERNIE®RVEB TR - #H5

W

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2016 2015
—E-AF —E—HF
Profit before income tax B A5 A 28 ) 1,832,915 2,386,247
Add: Share of (profit)/loss of associates il : fE{HEFE N5 &
and a jointly controlled entity HREZEFIEE (BF)EE (11,397) 3,005
1,821,518 2,389,252
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate REAREGTENTIR 459,401 615,880
Tax incentives MUEE L E (209,084) (300,826)
Super deduction for research and
development expenditure e E BTG T E (11,889) (10,947)
Utilization of previously unrecognised
tax losses B Z B AR IS EE (540) (5,767)
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes NAI IR L 2 TG & 4,571 37,388
Income not subject to tax BARBIWANTZE (19,690) -
Withholding tax on the earnings Bt A B0 T AU AR B
from subsidiaries FREHE 2 TRIRPTIS T 98,334 30,709
Tax losses for which no deferred WiERRIELEMSHEE
income tax assets were recognised KI5 S 1R 44,277 24,617
Income tax expense FriS %t 365,380 391,054
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27.

28.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable profit
would be available in certain subsidiaries, the Group did not
recognise deferred income tax assets of HKD90,541,000
(2015: HKD50,817,000) in respect of tax losses of such
dormant subsidiaries amounting to HKD446,401,000 (2015:
HKD234,672,000). The tax loss will expire in the following
years:

(R=BEBES - AESBARBETLIITR)

27. F8® (8
ERAESEERENAREEE RHERTR
FlRmiiE  AEEWSEERAE THBAR
2 ALK H0 oK 2R E5 18 78 %6 446,401,0000T (=
— R4 : B¥234,672,0007T) HYIEIEFTISH
BEABE90,541,0007T (ZE—RF : B

50,817,0007T) ° Al EHEHE KR T3 FE 2

HY :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2016 2015
—E—-RF —E—hF
Expired on 31 March 2016 —E-ARFE=R=+—H3H - 741
Expired on 31 March 2017 —ET—+F=RA=+—H3H 15,505 17,994
Expired on 31 March 2018 - N\F=A=1+—HEIH 22,261 22,883
Expired on 31 March 2019 —E-NAF=A=1+—HEIH 24,910 25,591
Expired on 31 March 2020 —EEF=A=1+—HRH 51,585 56,451
Expired on 31 March 2021 - —#F=A=+—HEIH 122,642 =
No expiry date RABEIERH 209,498 111,012
446,401 234,672
EARNINGS PER SHARE 28. BRER
(a) Basic (a) EXF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the BREARBANTDIRERNFEARR A ER
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by BHAEARGRERN  BRUAFRAEZETESR
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue feeiniE T EFE -
during the year.
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLHFE
2016 2015
At —E—HF
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company ARRRHERA ARG ET 1,450,250 1,986,584
Weighted average number BEITZ BB i
of ordinary shares in issue (‘000) SEHE (T 3,106,435 3,103,145

Basic earnings per share

(HK cents per share) BREARZF (FBL) 46.69 64.02
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28. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding,
assuming that all dilutive potential ordinary shares
have been issued. For the year ended 31 March 2016,
the share options and awarded shares granted by the
Company have potential dilutive effect on the earnings
per share.

The weighted average number of shares on issue has
been adjusted as if all dilutive share options were
exercised and awarded shares were granted. The number
of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise
of all dilutive share options and awarded share less the
number of shares that could have been issued at fair
value (determined as the Company’s average share price
for the year) for the same total proceeds is added to the
denominator. No adjustment is made to the net profit.

e P HRAR M

(BRBEHAEIN - ELBEABETFTIIR)
. BRERN (&)
(b) 9

BREERANERRMAAE TSN EET
A ERE - RIBE BT EERAM
BIHREFE - EHEZT—RF=

=T—HLEEFEE  ARARRLBER
T N 2D M A 1 B AR R B N B E

RE P A BB EH R R B A B AR
1T & SRR IR E R H i B 31T
B fn O N P S TT I EE © DARGE P
BERTHAREERENBRERE
BIER D ITEROBRMNEE - BEETT
18 5% 5 B8 B FES RO M 2 T =t B AR D
WRARBE(BEEAARARMNDNEA
BFHTHE) IBRTHROEE - AF
HWEBMARGENDE < FEFEF
FEE o

Year ended 31 March

BEZA=1+—BLFE
2016 2015
—E-AF —TR%F
Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company RAalEm=EA ARG ET] 1,450,250 1,986,584
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FALATEE GAREAR
shares used to calculate basic PR oR=F )
earnings per share (‘000) IEETFHE (F35H) 3,106,435 3,103,145
Adjustments for: FHEE
— exercise of share options ('000) — IT{E R AE (F&T) 1,628 4,170
— grant of awarded shares ('000) — R AR D (F5T) 345 =
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for diluted earnings per sl DRyl oSl
share ('000) MHEFIHE (T5H) 3,108,408 3,107,315
Diluted earnings per share BREEART
(HK cents per share) () 46.66 63.93




dings Limited EBEEFRZERERAF
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s By
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EHEAEIN  FTESBHUNEETLITR)
29. DIVIDENDS 29. RE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2016 2015
S R
Interim dividend: nil ERPEHRKE &
(2015: HK9.52 cents) per share (ZZE—HF : #B%9.521l) - 295,531
Proposed final dividend: nil PR SRERE S - &
(2015: Nil) per share (—E—h%F &) - -
- 295,531
Special dividend: nil BREFRIRE - &
(2015: HK22.20 cents) per share —E—F4F  EE22.2010) - 689,158
- 984,689
No final dividend (2015: nil) is proposed at the meeting of the RZZE—ARFAAZTZABTHNEERER

Board held on 22 June 2016. TEBRETMHARRKE (ZZ—RF  £)
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a)

Yancheng Chunzhu

On 21 August 2015, Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd
(Guangdong) (“Guangdong Zhaoging”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an agreement with an independent third party to acquire
30% equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu, a company
incorporated in the PRC, for a cash consideration of
RMB84,000,000 (approximately HKD101,890,000). In
the meantime, the Group also provided a five-year loan
of RMB84,000,000 (approximately HKD102,338,000)
to one of the latter’s shareholders. There was also a
call option attached to the loan which gave the Group
a right to acquire an additional 30% equity interest
in Yancheng Chunzhu. As the call option can only be
exercised from 22 November 2015 onward, the 30%
investment in Yancheng Chunzhu was initially accounted
for as an associate by the Group until the option became
exercisable. When the right to exercise the option became
effective from 22 November 2015, Guangdong Zhaoging
has substantive right whereby Yancheng Chunzhu was
considered as a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group. On 6 December 2015, the Group exercised
the right to acquire an additional 30% equity interest.
Upon obtaining control over Yancheng Chunzhu, the
Group applied the acquisition method to account for the
transaction as an acquisition of a subsidiary, remeasured
its previously held 30% share in Yancheng Chunzhu to
fair value with the resulting loss being recognised in
profit or loss and transferred the remeasured carrying
amount from investment in an associate to investment in
a subsidiary.

The loss of approximately HKD14,182,000 as a result
of remeasuring at fair value its 30% equity interest in
Yangcheng Chunzhu before the business combination
was included in other income in the Group’s consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2016.
The fair value of the previously held interest in Yancheng
Chunzhu was determined by an independent appraisal
firm by applying the income approach. Furthermore,
the additional 30% equity interest also obtained by
transferring the five year loan, which was previously
recorded as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (see Note 9(c) for details), as the consideration.
The transfer resulted in a gain from the fair value change
of approximately HKD18,733,000 as determined by
an independent appraisal firm by applying the income
approach. The gain is included in other income in the
Group’s consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2016.

e P HRAR M

(BB AEHAEIN - FFELSEABETTIIR)
30. ¥B50f
(a) EHEFT

RZZE—RFNA AQFRIZHEESR
EMBARIERAEEEHAERAR
([BREE]) B—2BYFE=H ([&F
Fl) BB UESKRBREARE
84,000,0007T (%7 7% #101,890,0007T)

W —RIXHBBEKZNAR - BWENT
H30%H# s o Ry - AEBE T ERE

7 B K A% 3 A R #584,000,0007T (4978
#102,338,0007T) RHARF 2 E R o
ZERM A EREEILEERFTREIN
30%RIBERRME - B ZERERAIN =
E—RAF+—A=-t+=BRKAN FUT
- EEGEHEHFMTNI0%EREE
ARBERANEEREES % BRE
AEITE - BT —RAF+—A=+=
A8 PR SR B H Bk F AT B IN30% Y #E
wmATERE - SEREIFISENED
HZEHE - KRER =T —AF+=AX
B AT T 5% M AR #E 30 58 S K FE30% B8
WE 2 BiE - FAEUS B A 4R A
% SBERKEEERERBATMNA
BRE - EIETE 2RI A B30%
EMREZAREE  RKERFER
TEBEYEZENT = 2 REE B
ERAMREELERHB AR ZIRE -

REBEHITAEHAERNEREFN
B30% 2 = Fﬁ%izgﬂ 77
14,182,000t R &EB =T — X =H
=t IEFE e NE %%EPEE RAE
U > REHETE30% L Em 2
AR BE BB A 7AW A
FTHEY o bAN - KREFEBE 2 AT ER B

NARnEBEFZAEEZHTABREZNS
rﬂﬁﬁE’Jﬁiﬁﬂréuﬂzi‘imﬁﬁy{’ﬁﬂwaﬁfﬁ
WEMBEI0%ER ZIEE (FI5A]
FH ) - BB B A Tuuﬁzﬁ
ELET BB L ;‘%lﬁf@ﬁsza%ﬁ%
18,733,0007T Wb EE —
F=R=+— Jtiﬁz,m/\ﬂézmi%%?ﬁ
R E g
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Yancheng Chunzhu (Continued)

Yancheng Chunzhu is principally engaged in the
production and sales of aromatic raw materials. As
a result of the acquisition, the Group is expected to
increase its presence in these markets. It also expects to
reduce costs through economies of scale. The goodwill
of HKD79,651,000 arising from the acquisition is
attributable to the workforce and economies of scale
expected from combining the operations of the Group
and Yancheng Chunzhu. None of the goodwill recognised
is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

(RRAEBESN - A SFEINEETTIIR)
XBadt (&

30.

(a)

AN (&)

BREMTETENETETRMZEERH
- EEHRBERBER  AEEEH
AR EE ST IH AL o EINTEH
AEREANHERERTFPAENEE
HREBER - WBELENEESK
79,651,000k BFAfE AR AT ER
AR A B B B TR A K& 1R TEH
EEMNEERD - BRNEEBEHTA
MBRATEHL -

WRELZFEENEMEFBNOT :

Consideration HHE - At
— Financial assets at fair value through —UARBESAEREEZS A

profit or loss BammemBE (7)) 118,896
— Fair value of previously held interests — DART# A BIAETH AR 2

in Yancheng Chunzhu NAEBE 87,725
Total purchase consideration BEEHE 206,621
Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired & : WA HRFEEZ AR EE

— shown below — &I TX (126,970)

Goodwill (Note 8) 2 (MIEE8) 79,651
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)
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Yancheng Chunzhu (Continued)

The fair value of assets and liabilities as at the respective
acquisition dates arising from the acquisitions are as

follows:

e P HRAR M

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

30. XA (&)

(a) EEHEFT ()

)

REER  AkEmELEZEERARE
BEHAT :

Net assets acquired WHE 2 BEFE
Property, plant and equipment L E =Y 35,145
Land use right T 3 A 5,690
Intangible assets B EE 145,026
Inventories =8 1,573
Trade and other receivable B 5 R H M FEYGRIA 73,568
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 21,760
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M e FRIA (17,472)
Tax payables FEART TR (2,001)
Short-term loan SEEI-E (29,155)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12) BEEHRARE (FE12) (22,517)
Total identifiable net assets gz BEFE 211,617
Less: non-controlling interest W FEEE MR S (84,647)
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired WE v BEEAAEE 126,970
Outflow of cash to acquire business, WHEHB 2B

net of cash acquired ($0BR U 2 ) F 3R €)
Consideration — cash paid (out of total LAIR & BB R (B

consideration of HKD206,621) 204,228
Cash and cash equivalents in W B AR AR S &

subsidiaries acquired REZEEY (21,760)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WEMFRESRD 182,468

Non-controlling interests in Yancheng Chunzhu
are measured at the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of

Yanchen Chunzhu’s identifiable net assets.

BB 1 10 36 4 BB 25 T I LI A
.73 PRCHR L 118 48 B A 2 T 48
FaEtY -
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Yancheng Chunzhu (Continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HKD70,267,000 and net profit after tax of HKD9,860,000
to the Group for the period from date of acquisition to
31 March 2016. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April
2015, consolidated revenue and consolidated net profit
after tax would have been increased by approximately
HKD191,848,000 and HKD24,182,000, respectively.

VMR and its subsidiaries

On 9 December 2015, High Praise Enterprises Limited
(“High Praise Enterprises”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and VMR entered into
the Subscription Agreement pursuant to which High
Praise Enterprises agreed to subscribe for an effective
interest of 51% of the issued share capital of VMR
for a consideration of USD22.95 million (equivalent to
approximately HKD177,884,000).

VMR is a company engaged in the design, manufacturing
and distribution of electronic cigarettes which owns
a number of technology and design patents. The
Management believes that electronic cigarette is an
emerging area in cigarette industry with promising
growth prospects in the PRC. It is expected that the
market position of the Group in this industry will be
strengthened through merger and acquisition. VMR had
become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of our Group
on 18 December 2015. The goodwill of HKD54,148,000
arising from the acquisition is attributable to the
workforce and the synergy expected from combining the
operations of the Group and VMR. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

(= BHEBEHI

B EHAEETTIIR)

30. XA/ (&)

(a)

(b)

AN (&)
ZEKAURBBEE_T— X E=A
=+ —HiE BEASEBEH RO B
70,267,000 TTHYSHE WA R BAE BT
7R 497 #9,860,0007T H) Bk Fi 18 B F)
MZWER =T —RFNMA —BEL -
REBZIRAHE WAL INL S
191,848,0007T & 47 & i 1& &2 ) 1% 38 4N
#7545 24,182,000 °

VMREEFAF]

R-_ZE—RE+-_ANIB  ARAAME
BHENR2EWEB R RS2 EHEVYMRET
YREHE Bt SRCERBNUE
7C22,950,000 (47 7% #177,884,0007T)
REREVMRE /TR AR 51 % EHE#E

N3
Zs o
iy

VMREZHEEZEH K ERT BEES
HEFE  WHEEE THERMNERETE
Fle EEERBETEABIETEN—
ExrEEE, - EHFBEERTAS - BB
Ue g - AEBETEHR N EE W EMIS
2 E & {7 - VMRE R2015F12818
B AARSBERIIEEZEWB AR - JiE
E AR EB54,148,0007T 5k B B A
HANBERAREG KL ETBIEED
e o MER AT ETE ANl HBR
B -
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 30. ¥BE6 ()
(b) VMR and its subsidiaries (Continued) (b) VMRERHEFAT (&)

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: WEEE 2 FEERMEFBET ¢
Consideration — cash paid WHERE - R 177,884
Less: fair value of identifiable net WHERHRFEEZ AR EBE

assets acquired — shown below — &5 TX (123,736)
Goodwill (Note 8) e (fTEES) 54,148
The fair value of assets and liabilities as at the respective RUEER  AUBmMELEZEENRAR
acquisition dates arising from the acquisitions are as MARBEAT
follows:
Net assets acquired WiE 2 BEFE
Property, plant and equipment HEES R A 7,924
Intangible assets mILEE 258,147
Inventories 78 29,783
Trade and other receivable B 5 Rk E M EYGRIA 23,820
Cash and cash equivalents RekIREEEY 65,855
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EMEMNFKIB (142,910)
Total identifiable net assets WiE 2 BEFE 242,619
Less: non-controlling interest B FEREESI MR R (118,883)
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired WigE v BEEAREE 123,736
Outflow of cash to acquire business, g E4- it

net of cash acquired ($0BR Ui 2 F R &)
Consideration — cash paid RS TR E 177,884
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries W EEB B A RIAAIR S K

acquired ReFEY (65,855)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHER)F RS R 112,029
Acquisition-related costs of HKD3,930,000 have been L B A8 B8 K 7N 36 7T.3,930,0002 R & &
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated —E-REZA=T-HIEFENGA
income statement for the year ended 31 March 2016. Wz gk AT 2 R 0Bk ©
Non-controlling interests in VMR are measured at the VMRAIFEIE fll #Eax IR L EB AMIR B
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the [& 4 Lb AR #RVMR 2 7] fE % 38 5 & EE At

recognised amounts of VMR's identifiable net assets. Ho
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

31. CHANGES

VMR and its subsidiaries (Continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HKD85,789,000 and net loss after tax of HKD19,782,000
to the Group for the period from date of acquisition to
31 March 2016. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April
2015, consolidated revenue and consolidated net loss
after tax would have been increased by approximately
HKD297,788,000 and HKD 112,763,000, respectively.

IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN

SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL

(a)

Acquisition of additional equity interest in Yancheng
Chunzhu:

After the acquisition of 60% equity interest in Yancheng
Chunzhu as mentioned in Note 30(a), the Group acquired
additional 23.59% equity interest in Yancheng Chunzhu
from the non-controlling interests in Yancheng Chunzhu
by a share swap with 16.41% equity interest in the
subsidiary Guangdong Zhaoging. After completion of
the transaction, the Group’s shareholding in Yancheng
Chunzhu increased from 60% to 83.59%. As the
acquisition of the additional 23.59% equity interest in
Yancheng Chunzhu was not a linked transaction with the
exercise of option on acquiring additional 30% equity
interest, it was accounted for separately. The effect of
change in the ownership interest in Yancheng Chunzhu
on the equity attributable to owners of the Company
during the year is summarised as follows:

(= BHEBEHI

B EHAEETTIIR)

30. XA/ (&)

(b)

VMREHEF AR (&)

ZEKBUWEBBE_ZT—ANF=ZA=
+—HIE AASETRHEERAL
85,789,000/ Tt &k & N &£ B & R 4
75 119,782,000 Y Br i 1% S 18 o
mzWER_ZT—HFMA— A
£ AEBEZEAGHEERALIND
297,788,000 & 4R & Ft 18 & F 45 8 2 49
#1£112,763,0007T °

31. MBARMBEREZNED (FXE

ZHE)
(a) WRHEHRETHEIMPER

BB 5E30(a)FT 32 K+ £ B R SE AR UK BE
HE E 0% ER - BRREEIR
R A16.41%ERER 2 IRAEHRE
23.59% M F 2 R - Z U E T
% AEEFEEBEN ZRERRRK
H160%1% 1 Z£83.59% - & B & i HF 17
BE HN23.59% ik i B 1T {5 i A% 4 2l 35 B
BEINB0% R ESFAAR  BAEMATE
HERS - FRSLEREMATE B DS
HEBE AR B ERIFE ABEERRR
FERENT

Amount
-}
Net assets attributable to non-controlling 5B I I MR R Y
interest acquired FEEE 50,192
Net assets attributable to non-controlling
interest given as consideration ST IR i A (B (10,428)
Excess of net assets attributable to
non-controlling interest acquired over
non-controlling interest given as A B A IR S 2
consideration, recognised in equity FEEBERER T HER 39,764

The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling
interests of HKD39,764,000 and an increase in
equity attributable to owners of the Company of
HKD39,764,000.

AEBBEAIIEZEFIEERI R L BE
39,764,000 C A A RIS A A E(L
EZRIE N ¥E39,764,0007T °
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREEHBEIN - A REUBETTIR)
31. CHANGES IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN 31. B AGMEERRNEE (FThE
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL ) (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Repurchase of shares in VMR from non-controlling (b) ME/NEARRE VMR AR5
interests:
After the acquisition of 51% equity interest in VMR as % B R 58 K UK BEVMRS 1% % #E 18 (K
mentioned in Note 30(b), VMR repurchased 0.96% of its #F30(b)) , VMRA—R R EIEHFF
shares from one of its shareholders. After completion of 0.96% 2kt - SEAKEIfER - SEFE
the share repurchase, the Group’s shareholding in VMR VMRZ B% % F51%35 11 2£51.50% ° F
increased from 51% to 51.50%. The effect of change in A BLVMRET A &  H & E) ¥ K 1 R
the ownership interest in VMR on the equity attributable HEAEABGERNTZERENT
to owners of the Company during the year is summarised
as follows:
Amount
x|
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interest acquired (B IEIEH 1 iEm R EEEME 7,143
Consideration paid to non-controlling interest ST IEEG R A EE (12,213)
Consideration paid in excess of non-controlling interest XNEESRIEEHIE R
acquired recognised in equity FEREERNERTPER (5,070)
The Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests TN E2 B RE R IEIE I 1 fE w R A B 67,143,000
of HKD7,143,000 and an decrease in equity attributable to THARAEEHEARGEDZ RO BE

owners of the Company of HKD5,070,000. 5,070,0007T °
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32.

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(BRRBEEAESN
32. REEFHELNRE

B EHAEETTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2016 2015
B 5E —E—XF —ZE—RF
Profit before income tax B 756 1T 22 A1) 1,832,915 2,386,247
Adjustments for: HEE
— Depreciation — e 6 159,852 151,144
— Provision for impairment on — BEEERBERE
property, plant and equipment 6 15,058 -
— Amortisation — By 7,8 60,976 45,190
— Interest expense —FEEA 26 12,558 13,988
— Interest income — FBHA 26 (85,973) (83,095)
— Share-based payment — BRih RERO A 2,392 -
— Share of (profit)/loss of associates — FE(REE A A R R
and a jointly controlled entity B2 B8 9,10 (11,397) 3,005
— Provision for/(reversal of) — B S RBGRIERERE,
impairment on trade receivables (##[) 14,24 7,910 (507)
— Loss on disposal of property, plant — HEME - HEEKEE
and equipment [E518 1,929 1,145
— Gain on disposal of an associate — HEBE ARz e 23 - (3,487)
— Gain on disposal of a subsidiary — HENB ARz ke 23 - (2,180)
— Gain on disposal of available-for-sale —HERHHESHEEZ
assets & 23 (3,296) -
- Investment income of available-for- —AftHEsREE Y
sale assets ‘EWA (152) =
— Loss on disposal of financial assets —HEUNRAEENER
at fair value through profit or loss HE i AB=a
TRIEEZEE 23 9,058 =
— Changes in fair value of financial —AanBEAEHHZE
assets at fair value through FTABENERMEEZ
profit or loss N EZE) 30(a), 23 (18,733) (28,658)
— Change in fair value of previously — ARIREtE R RFEZ
held interests in an associate K AME A B
upon acquisition as a subsidiary AR EEE 23 14,182 -
— Foreign exchange loss — net — BN EE — F58 23 40,595 5,549
Changes in working capital: BEESEE
— Inventories - FE (59,545) 40,293
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R H A EWGRIE (241,618) 165,671
— Trade and other payables — B 5 Kk H A fEA T8 99,262 (111,841)
Net cash generated from operations BEEBEIREFE 1,835,973 2,582,464
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32.

33.
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CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 32.
(CONTINUED)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

e P HRAR M

(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

RETHEENRE (B

RFERERERA - HEWE - BSEINRE
ZFTSR ek

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLFE

Note 2016 2015
B E —E—XRF —T—hfF
Net book amount BRE A 6 2,916 1,471
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - AR
and equipment E518 (1,929) (1,145)
Currency translation differences Bl e =%g (685) 49
Proceeds from disposal of property, & « #2 R & EH
plant and equipment FriS sk 302 375

As mentioned in Note 31(a), the acquisition of additional equity
interest in Yancheng Chunzhu was a non-cash transaction.

AT EE31(a)FT iR & - B BB FAT 2 BRSO M
DmRIFRERS e

COMMITMENTS 33. &g
(a) Capital commitments (a) EREE
Capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for, REZBEIEBRENREZLED
and contracted for but not yet incurred at the end of the REAMNEARFZOT :
year are as follows:
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—8”
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZT—FRF
Authorised but not contracted for EHUEEREL - W13 - HER
property, plant and equipment B 11,031 11,604
Contracted for but not provided for: BERABRBE
— Property, plant and equipment M I ERIE 36,594 80,655
— Available-for-sale financial assets HEESHEE 130,120 193,520

177,745 285,779
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Operating lease commitments

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases at the closing date are

as follows:

(BRBBHEAEI - FIELBHUBETFTIIR)
33. Aif (&)
(b) EEAERE

REEARBTARELERE - KK
REBENKEENT :

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2016 2015
—E—XE —E—NF

Land and buildings: T RIEF :
Not later than 1 year THEBE1F 30,946 25,394
Later than 1 year and not later BB FE B

than 5 years 56,805 57,792
Later than 5 years HBiB5F 10,474 12,360
98,225 95,546

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Name and relationship with related parties

Name

=L

Huangguoshu Golden Leaf
HEREEE

34. BHBALRS
(a) BEEEAL+EBEEBIE

Relationship

S

An associate indirectly held by the Company
/NG| keSS R ko) = NG|
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)
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Key management compensation

(b)

Key management includes directors (executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive) and senior
management. The amounts of compensation paid and

payable to directors is disclosed in Note 37(a).

The

amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior
management for employee services is shown below:

e P HRAR M
(B RAHPEI - AL BABETFTIIT)
34. BBALIRS ()

TEEEAEHE
TEEEABCRREEE (MTEF ¥
WOTESERBIUINTES) MERE
BEAE EBNRENTEENMEEE
MiFE37(a) i 55 - MmREEABXNIE
REERBHEN REMMEMT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEE

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—F4F

Fees, salaries and bonus TE& - M RIEA 22,880 18,217
Employer’s contributions to retirement 1B EFhRIRETEI R

benefit scheme 477 393

23,357 18,610

The compensation of senior management fell within the

following bands:

SREBABZMESEATEHE

Number of employees

EEAH
2016 2015
—B-RE —E—AF
Below HKD500,000 B H500,0004 - 1
HKD500,001 — HKD 1,000,000 500,001 % 1,000,000 2 3
HKD1,000,001 — HKD 1,500,000 71,000,001 % 1,500,0007T 4 1
HKD2,000,001 — HKD2,500,000 72,000,001 %2,500,0007T 2 1
HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000 72,500,001 % 3,000,0007T - 1
HKD3,500,001 — HKD4,000,000 73,500,001 %4,000,0007T 1 -
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000 74,500,001 %5,000,0007T - 2
HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000 7B #£8,500,001%9,000,0007T -
Balances with related parties (c) PREEEAL&ER
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—T1E
Balances due from related parties: JE Y A A A B4
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EREEE
— other receivables — Hith UK 17 15
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIRRAEIN - FTESEHABE T THIR)
35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. TEMBRATZFE
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital  the Company interests place of operation
E320 Lk
SRA LR BRTEAER KAREMR ERES
ARER EETRER HAMEREE RA#ER BAgs FTEEFREEHY
Direct Indirect
ER BE
Aromascape Development Germany, Limited liability EUR25,000 = 100 - Research and development
Centre GmbH ! A1 company B(7£25,000 of flavours & fragrances in
&8 BREMFAR Germany
PREESR - ZH
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, BWP100 - 100 - Production and sales of
Limited liability company EH1007T natural extracts in Botswana
R AR EETHERARRY
BREERT EREAENE
Guangdong Golden leaf PRC*, Limited liability RMB100,000,000 - 100 - Research & development,
Technology Development company AR #100,000,0007T manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. hElx ERAAAT reconstituted tobacco leaves
EREERHRE in the PRC
AR AR 12 e HEREEREER -
i
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted ~ PRC*, Limited liability RMB40,000,000 - 55375 44.625 Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. company AK#40,000,0007T reconstituted tobacco
ERENBEEE HEx FREAAT leaves in the PRC
ARARIN R EERHEBEAN -
Guangzhou Huabao Food PRC*, Limited liability RMB10,000,000 = 100 - Research, development,
Co., Ltd. company AR#10,000,0007T manufacturing & sales of
EMNEERGBERAROW®N dE EREFEAT] flavours & fragrances
in the PRC
e AERBERR  THE
Guizhou Province Huashuo PRC*, Limited liability RMB 10,000,000 - 100 - Manufacturing & sales of
Biological Technology Co., Ltd.  company ARE#10,000,0007T natural extracts in the PRC

EMEEREDRR
BB AR Mz

E* - BREEAF

EEMBFERRERY - PE



199

2015-2016 Annual Report

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A I HRRMEE

(BRBAHRBAEI  FTAESHEABE T TLIIR)

35. TEMBEATZHE (&

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital the Company interests place of operation
FEm
MR BHER BRTZER/ K AEELR BHES
R EEERER AMEAEE RA L RAg: FTEXERELHE
Direct Indirect
B  BE
Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd.  PRC*, Limited liability UsD4,000,000 - 51 49 Manufacturing & sales of
EFERAANBRARC company 714,000,000 tobacco flavours &
BB BREAAH fragrances in the PRC
EERHERRER o
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances  Hong Kong, Limited liability HKD3,000,000 - 100 - Research, development,
(HK) Limited company 713,000,000 manufacturing & sales of
EERREN (BR) &2 BRAMELA flavours & fragrances
BARAFC in Hong Kong
e EEREERR BE
Huabao Food Flavour & PRC*, Limited liability USD10,000,000 - 100 - Manufacturing & sales of
Fragrance (Shanghai) Co, Ltd. ~ company %7110,000,000 tobacco flavours &
FERAEREH (L8) hEx - BREMEAT fragrances in the PRC
Egﬁ@\ﬂvxw,vxz,mzm EE&%%@%%% ! EP
Huabao Korea Company Limited ~ Korea, Limited liability WON16,320,000,000 - 100 - Manufacture and sale of
EERRAKA s company #[816,320,000,000 Filter materials in Korea
B AREMRA e AERHERERA
Em - EE
Huabao Qianqi Leasing PRC*, Limited liability RMB300,000,000 - 100 - Equipment leasing, office
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. company AK%300,000,0007T stationery leasing, assets

EZETHEAE OFI)
BB A 7K1 xe2

mE BREEAH

management, investment
management, investment
and leasing consulting
in the PRC

KEZERE  BORG
HE - BEEE RA
BR  REZHMES

R il
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Ak s S E

(BRBEIRBREEI  FrELBEEE T TIIR)
35. TEMBATZHE (H)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital  the Company interests place of operation
FEm
TR L B R BRTZER/ KAEEL BHER
IR EEERER AMEXEE RA L hAgs: FTEXERELHE
Direct Indirect
ER BE
Huashun Flavours (Shanghai) PRC*, Limited liability UsD1,000,000 - 100 - Manufacture and sale of fine
Co., Ltd. company %711,000,000 chemicals in the PRC
ZIREH (L8) hEx - BREMAT Bt IEREER
*ﬁ’}ﬁ@\ﬂxw,zm,zm %ﬁ% ) gp
Owada Flavours Technology PRC*, Limited liability HKD60,000,000 - 100 - Research, development,
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd., company 75160,000,000 production and sale of
BEEAHNE (BM) HEr BREARR tobacco flavours &
BRAT » shxxe fragrances in the PRC
B £E MIREE
ZFRANEHRERER
i
Qingdao Huabao Flavors & PRC*, Limited liability HKD3,673,500 - 70 30 Manufacture and sale of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company AR#3,673,5007C flavors & fragrances
EREEEREHERDACH  HE FREARA in the PRC
EERHERR T E
Qingdao Qingda Product PRC*, Limited liability RMB41,640,000 - 100 - Manufacturing & sales of
Co., Ltd. company AR#41,640,0007T natural extracts in the PRC
BEEENMERD e BREAAT EERFERAERY  HE
ﬁl}E/L\\ECHW,CHZ,DXW,ZM
Shanghai Danhua Xianghua Keji -~ PRC*, Limited liability RMB10,000,000 - 72 28 Research, development and
Co., Ltd. company AR#10,000,0007T sale of flavours & fragrances

LEAERCHEERAR

PE* - BREAAF

in the PRC
REREESRE T8
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(BRBAHRBAEI  FTAESHEABE T TLIIR)

35. TEMBEATZHE (&

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital the Company interests place of operation
FEm
TR LR BRTZER/ K AEELR BHER
R EEERER AMEAEE RA L RAg: FTEXERELHE
Direct Indirect
B  BE
Shanghai H&K Flavors & PRC*, Limited liability RMB 100,000,000 - 100 - Manufacturing & sales of food
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company AK#100,000,0007T flavours & fragrances
LEEEHERRER hEx - BREMAT in the PRC
BIR R FH. chz.xi EERHERMAR  PHE
Smart Sino International Limited  Hong Kong, Limited HKD10,000 - 100 - Investment holding, trading of
ERERARARCX liability company #110,0007T fine chemicals in Hong Kong
B EREMERHA REER B IER
g5 &8
Standpoint Electronic Technology PRC*, Limited liability HKD10,000,000 - 100 - Research, development
Development (Shanghai) company #%%10,000,0007C and sales of electronic
Co., Ltd. HEx EREEAR products, daily commodities,
UHBFRRER (£8) fragrances and business
ARAF 2 X management services
MERHETFER
BAG  BRRkEE
EREN
Taicang Wenhua Industrial PRC*, Limited liability UsD1,200,000 - 100 - Production and sale of
co., Ltd. company 371,200,000 tobacco flavours &
ABNEEXBERAR M2 Bl BREFAR fragrances in the PRC
EERFERR  TH
Wuxi Huahai Flavors Ltd. PRC*, Limited liability UsD650,000 = 100 - Production and sale of
EHEFAHERAF 20 company %71650,000 tobacco flavours &

Ex - BREEAF

fragrances in the PRC
EERHEER  TE
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(BRBBHEAEI - FIELBHUBETFTIIR)
35. FEMBARZHE (H)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital  the Company interests place of operation
FEm
TR L B R BRTZER/ KAEEL BHER
IR EEERER AMEXEE RA L hAgs: FTEXERELHE
Direct Indirect
ER BE
Wuxi Huaxin Flavors & PRC*, Limited liability UsD1,000,000 - 100 - Production and sale of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company %711,000,000 tobacco flavours &
EHEEZRRER HE - BREAAH fragrances in the PRC
E’;E/L\\ijw,zm,zm EE&#}%@%%% ! EF
Wuxi Jiahua Flavour & PRC*, Limited liability RMB60,000,000 - 100 - Production and sale of
Fragrance Co., Ltd. company AE#60,000,0007T tobacco flavours &
EHEERRER hElx ERAAAT fragrances in the PRC
R A gz iﬁ&fﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ ’ ‘:F
Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical ~ PRC*, Limited liability RMB30,000,000 - 51 49 Research, development,
Technology Co., Ltd. company AE#30,000,0007T distribution and retail of
EFRBBRERR HE - BREAAAH fragrances in the PRC
Eﬁﬁﬁﬂcm(m,xm ﬁﬂ%‘ * EE * Tft%&g%
BRIER &
Xinjiang Huabao Natural PRC*, Limited liability RMB15,000,000 - 7429 25.71 Production and sale of
Biological Technology Co., Ltd. ~ company ARH15,000,0007T food flavours and
NEEEAAEDRERR HEx  RPBRARF fragrances in the PRC
ﬁgﬁ@ﬂcm,w ’E‘EE&%%@%%% ! CF
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma ~ PRC*, Limited liability RMB6,000,000 - 8359 16.41 Production and sales of
Co. Ltd company A& %6,000,0007C aromatic raw materials
HRTENENARAR S FE FREEDF in the PRC
EERFERRH  E
Yingtan Huabao Flavours & PRC*, Limited liability RMB100,000,000 - 100 - Production and sale of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company AK#100,000,0007T tobacco flavours &

BEEEERREEH
BB A R]FC. Feazt

RE BREEAR

fragrances in the PRC
EERHERRE  HH
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(BRABHAEIN - IESRABET LIIR)

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

35. FEMBARZHE (&

(CONTINUED)
Percentage
of equity
Nominal interest
value of  Percentage of attributable
Place of issued/  equity interest to non-
incorporation and registered  attributable to controlling Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital the Company interests place of operation
FEm
TR LR BRTZER/ K AEELR BHES
R EEERER AMEAEE RA L RAg: FTEXERELHE
Direct Indirect
B  BE
Yongzhou Shan Xiang Flavour ~ PRC¥, Limited liability RMB35,000,000 - 79.14 20.86  Production and sale of flavours
Co., Ltd. company AK#35,000,0007T & fragrances in the PRC
HMUEFRR R R FH. 2 hEx - BREMAT EERHERE - PE
Yunnan Tianhong Flavor & PRC*, Limited liability UsD2,550,000 - 60 40 Production and sale of
Fragrance Co., Ltd. company %712,550,000 tobacco flavours &
ERRRERER el EREAAT fragrances in the PRC
ﬁg&@ﬁ]cw,sm,sn i@&fﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ ! ‘:F
VMR Products, LLC'PX1 USA, Limited partnership - - 5150 48.50 Design, manufacturing and
XH* FREEAELE sale of electronic cigarettes
in USA
Ret RERDHETE
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. PRC*, Limited liability RMB 11,000,000 - 8359 16.41 Manufacturing & sales of food

(Guangdong) company ARH#11,000,0007T flavours & fragrances
EREERARBERARY  FEFRELAF in the PRC

As at 31 March 2016 and 2015, there was no non-controlling
interests material to the Group,

* All entities incorporated in PRC are identified as “limited liability

company”.

RZE—RER=ZT

TERHERAER  PE

—hFE=A=+—H"

B85 B AT HIILIES -

* FAERGTEEMRINAREREREER

Gl
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. AATRMNBBRRAREEESE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company RN B W9 B A AR R &
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Note 2016 2015
ih=s —E-XRF —ET—RF
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZEZE 1,245,085 1,245,085
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A fEUFRIE 1,134,002 498
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURH B A 7 FIE 1,695,577 1,804,735
Cash and cash equivalents He LIRS ZEEBY 224,460 15,705
3,054,039 1,820,938
Total assets HmEE 4,299,124 3,066,023
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves PN
attributable to the FEAERL
Company'’s equity holders BRAR #E
Share capital N 310,666 310,432
Reserves G (a) 804,508 792,485
Retained earnings 1REB B H 2,792,250 1,015,756
Total equity AREE 3,907,424 2,118,673
LIABILITIES 8E&
Current liabilities REBAE
Borrowings B - 735,128
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEfHH B A = FIE 390,440 209,192
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A e~ FE 1,260 3,030
391,700 947,350
Total liabilities BmeE 391,700 947,350
Total equity and liabilities HEZRAE 4,299,124 3,066,023
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board RRBZEEBBRERZZE—"FAAZ+
of Directors on 22 June 2016 and was signed on its behalf “HBEZRIETESE o
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mr. XIA Li Qun
KMELZLT BERBELEE
Chairwoman Director

E EZE
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEHBEI - FTESREBET TS R)

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36. ZATRMNBMBERARREBESE (&)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company FizE(a) DEIFEZE
Capital  Share-based
Contributed Share Capital redemption compensation
surplus  premium reserve reserve reserve Total
BAEE RGAER
EREY ROBE ERRE 1] [k HY
At 1 April 2014 RZE-NEMA—R 288,191 445,977 1,677 5,853 41,817 783,515
Employee share option scheme BB B2
— Issue of shares upon — I ERMmET
exercise of share options EOp e - 10,181 - - (1,211) 8,970
At 31 March 2015 W-E-hE=A=1+-H 288,191 456,158 1,677 5,853 40,606 792,485
At 1 April 2015 RZZ-RFNA—A 288,191 456,158 1,677 5,853 40,606 792,485
Share-based payment R BERNST R - - - - 2,392 2,392
Employee share option scheme (£ BBk iEE 2
— Issue of shares upon — TR Em T
exercise of share options HHTAR - 12,093 - - (2,462) 9,631

At 31 March 2016 RZB—"F=A=1+—H 288,191 468,251 1,677 5,853 40,536 804,508
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIRRAEIN - FTESEHABE T THIR)
37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 37. EENFEMER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEBERTHAZM:
The remuneration of each director and chief executive BEZFRTHAENEBE_Z—X~F R
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2016 and —T-hAF=A=t+—RHLFEZ#HE
2015 are set out below: mE
2016 2015
“E-5F Z5-1f
Employer's Employer's
contribution contribution
to pension to pension
Name of directors Note Fees Salaries  Bonus scheme  Total Fees  Salaries  Bonus scheme Total
BEREHR EEHER
EEfY Mg ke He R4 HEfR &% 0 B FE 0 BH GEME

Executive directors: HITEE !

Ms. Chu Lam Yiu KMEZE (2 10,290 - - - 10290 10,290 - 4,000 - 14,29
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok BRELE - 2,628 - 390 3,018 - 2449 = 26 2,665
Mr. Wang Guang Yu THREE O 845 362 - 5 1262 1335 556 = 79 1,970
Mr. Xia Li Qun EMBEEE - 6000 4,000 18 10,018 - 4600 - 18 4618
Mr. Lam Ka Yu EERE (0 448 - - -8 = = - = =

Non-executive directors: ¥EH{TES :

Mr. Lam Ka Yu HETEE - - - - - M = - - M0
Independent non- BUFHT
executive directors: EEN

Dr. Ding Ningning ZEfL 240 - - - U0 M - - - M0

Mr. Lee Luk Shiu Rk 240 - - - 240 240 - - = 240

Ms. Ma Yun Yan REZLTT 240 - - - 240 240 - - - 240

Mr. Wu Chi Keung il bk 240 - - - 240 240 = = = 240
12,543 8990 4,000 463 25996 12,825 7,605 4,000 313 24,743

(@) Ms. Chu Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer (@) FSMEZEITFRIAEENERERITE °

of the Company.

(b)  Ceased to act on 18 November 2015. (b) RZF—AF+—AT+N\BBEE-
() Re-designated as Executive Director on 4 March (0 RZEBE-—R"E=ZAWNBAREAHTES -
2016.

No directors waived any emoluments during the years HE-Z—REFR-E-—HF=A=+—8H1k
ended 31 March 2016 and 2015. FE  BESWEEAMNS -

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, no HEZT—ARFER-T—HF=A=+—8H1k
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors FE - AFENERNESINMESERMAR
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SEEREN S ERBERAEE -

a compensation for loss of office.
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37. BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the Company
by a defined benefit pension plan operated by the
Group in respect of the director’s services as a director
of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015,
no payments to the directors of the Company as
compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, the
Company did not provide to any third party for making
available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

During the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

(BRABHAEIN -

e P HRAR M

PR S EABETITIIR)

37. EENNENES (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

EERAKEAN
BE_Z—RFR-_ZT—HFE=ZA=1
—HIEFE  AEETEREET A5
HEBARRREFARIESZRERA
i & B &8 M T RS R s &l A
HY R RIRET -

EEERERN
BHE-_Z—RNERN-_ZT—RF=ZA=1+
—BHLFE AEBVERESI N0
MR HBRT 2 B E -

AE=AXNRHESHEE2RE

BEZZ—R"ERZT—RF=A=+
—RALFE  ARELEREHESR
BimmE =R EE -

FHUES - EEZ22EHEERBE
BERAZHAZER  EERREMER
72 E#

BE-_Z-—XR"ER-_ZT-A4=A=+
—HILEE  AREYENESR B
FEERHHEABRBRZEZNRE
ITREHERMESK -

EENRS RSN ZEARES

RERANRFER  NAFWERTE
MY RAKREZEZBMARRZIESTE
BERRAEREETRAEARDIEER
5~ RHHRAR °
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIRRAEIN - FTESEHABE T THIR)
RESULTS
ES
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—E—— —E-=fF —ZZT-NF —T-RF ZEB-RE
Turnover [ 3,311,304 3,645,940 4,237,425 4,326,486 3,928,217
Gross Profit EH 2,335,996 2,518,909 2,998,119 3,025,317 2,705,176
Profit before income tax B 5 Al &L 2,080,989 2,047,404 2,417,245 2,386,247 1,832,915
Income tax expenses FriS i (314,250)  (314,804)  (420,381)  (391,054)  (365,380)
Profit for the year REEZEEF 1,766,739 1,732,600 1,996,864 1,995,193 1,467,535
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEEREE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—E——fF ZT-—=F ZT-NF —T-RF ZB-RE
Total assets BEE 8,351,919 8,882,793 10,408,406 10,900,867 11,586,222
Total liabilities wEE (1,701,670) (1,257,117) (1,408,177) (1,497,025) 1,055,804
Shareholders’ funds FEE 6,650,249 7,625,676 9,000,229 9,403,842 10,530,418
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
H it B i B &
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
—T——F ZE—=F ZTNF —T-—HF ZE-REF
Earnings per share, basic SRAEF - EAR (BL)

(HK cents) 55.48 54.53 63.76 64.02 46.69
Earnings per share, diluted FREN - #E (B)

(HK cents) 55.31 54.49 63.72 63.93 46.66
Aggregated dividend per share  B2F 258 (B(L)

(HK cents) 16.68 16.88 19.17 9.52 -
Aggregated special dividend B2 F 25455

per share (HK cents) B2 (&) 5.18 5.28 9.88 22.20 -
Fiscal year-end share prices VREEZEZARE (BT)

(HKD) 5.05 3.37 3.56 5.77 2.92
EBIT ratio EBITX 62.3% 55.5% 56.1% 53.6% 44.5%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAX 65.7% 59.4% 60.7% 58.2% 50.1%
ROE ROE 30.8% 25.2% 24.8% 22.3% 15.0%



AGM
Board
Bye-laws
CAGR
Case

CEO
CFO
CG Code

China, Mainland or PRC
Yunnan Tobacco
Company or Huabao
Director(s)

EPS

e-cigarette(s)

Executive Director(s)
F&G

FCCA

FCIS

FCPA

FCS

Annual general meeting

The board of directors of the Company

Bye-laws of the Company

Compound annual growth rate

Each case contains 50,000 sticks of
cigarette

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

China Tobacco Yunnan Industrial Co., Ltd.

Huabao International Holdings Limited

The director(s) of the Company

Earnings per share

electronic cigarettes

Executive director(s) of the Company

F&G (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited

Fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants

Fellow member of The Institute of

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators

Fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries

BRAFAE
E5e
DA
FOEA RS
#

BRHTE
BRMBEE
tERERTR

FEIKER
EHTE
ARRIHER
B
SRAM
ETE
RNITEER
F&G

FCCA

FCIS

FCPA

FCS
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F&G (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited
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BRGEHE
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210

Glossary

=
Akl =

Group or Huabao Group
Guangdong Jinke

Guangdong Jinye
Guangdong Tobacco
Guangdong Tobacco
Company
Guangdong Zhaoging
Guangzhou Huabao
HKD
HKICPA
Hong Kong or HKSAR
Hongta Blue Eagle
Hongta Tobacco

Hongta Tobacco Group

Huabao Kongque

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEMRIZERER AT

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Co., Ltd.
Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.
China Tobacco Guangdong Industrial
Co., Ltd.
Guangdong Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. (Guangdong)
Guangzhou Huabao Food Co., Ltd.
(Formerly known as “Guangzhou
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co Ltd.")
Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency
of Hong Kong
Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China
Yunnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd.
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Co., Ltd.
Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries and
related companies
Shanghai H&K Flavours & Fragrances
Co., Ltd.
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BREH

EREE

BRTE

BRTERT

EREE

BINEE
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B
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ARy C
AEESEE
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INED(s)

Listing Rules

M&A(s)
Model Code

Owada

R&D

RMB

RTL

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

SGM
Shareholder(s)
Share(s) or ordinary
share(s)
Standpoint or SPV

STMA
Stock Exchange

Independent Non-executive Director(s) of
the Company

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Merger and Acquisition

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Owada Flavours Technology (Guangzhou)
Limited

Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves

The Maximum number of Shares in respect
of which share options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

Special general meeting

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKD0.10 each in
the capital of the Company

Standpoint Electronic Technology
Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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U.s.
usb

VMR
Xiamen Amber

Yancheng Chunzhu
Yunnan Tianhong

United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

VMR Products, LLC

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology
Co., Ltd.

Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance
Co., Ltd.

dings Limited EBEEFRZERERAF

xE
e

VMR
EFI3RA

BAE
EHRE

ENBARE
X7 XBETEE%

VMR Products, LLC
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BRMENENBRAF
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